
Licensing Sub-Committee
Date: Thursday, 19 December 2019
Time: 10.00 am
Venue: South Walks House, South Walks Road, 

Dorchester, DT1 1UZ (DT1 1EE for sat nav)
Membership: (Quorum 3 ) 
Councillors Brian Heatley, Emma Parker and Bill Pipe

Chief Executive: Matt Prosser, South Walks House, South Walks Road, 
Dorchester, Dorset DT1 1UZ (Sat Nav DT1 1EE)

For more information about this agenda please telephone Democratic Service   01305 
252234 kate.critchel@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk

For easy access to the Council agendas and minutes download the free 
public app Mod.gov for use on your iPad, Android and Windows tablet. Once 
downloaded select Dorset Council.

 
Members of the public are welcome to attend this meeting with the exception of any items 
listed in the exempt part of this agenda. Please note that if you attend a committee 
meeting and are invited to make oral representations your name, together with a summary 
of your comments will be recorded in the minutes of the meeting.  Please refer to the 
guide to public participation at committee meetings for more information about speaking at 
meetings. 

There is a Hearing Loop Induction System available for public use on request.  Please 
speak to a Democratic Services Officer for assistance in using this facility.

Recording, photographing and using social media at meetings

Dorset Council is committed to being open and transparent in the way it carries out its 
business whenever possible.  Anyone can film, audio-record, take photographs, and use 
social media such as tweeting and blogging to report the meeting when it is open to the 
public, so long as they conform to the Protocol for filming and audio recording of public 
council meetings.

Public Document Pack



A G E N D A

Page No.

1  ELECTION OF CHAIRMAN AND STATEMENT FOR THE 
PROCEDURE OF THE MEETING

3 - 6

To elect a Chairman and for the Chairman to present and explain the 
procedure for the meeting. 

2  APOLOGIES

To receive any apologies for absence.

3  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

To receive any declarations of interest. 

4  APPLICATION FOR THE REVIEW OF A PREMISES LICENCE - 
ANGOLA '76, MUSTONS LANE, SHAFTESBURY, DORSET

7 - 210

To consider a report of the Licensing Officer.

5  URGENT ITEMS

To consider any items of business which the Chairman has had prior 
notification and considers to be urgent pursuant to section 100B (4) b) 
of the Local Government Act 1972. The reason for the urgency shall 
be recorded in the minutes.

6  EXEMPT BUSINESS

There is no exempt business to report.



THE LICENSING ACT 2003 (HEARINGS) REGULATIONS 2005

Rights of a Party

1. A party has the right to attend the hearing and may be represented by any 
person. 
2. A party is entitled to give further information where the authority has asked 
for clarification.
3. A party can question another party, and/or address the authority, with 
consent of the authority.  

Failure to Attend

4. If the authority is informed a party does not wish to attend, the hearing may 
proceed in their absence. 
5. If a party has not indicated their attendance and fails to attend the hearing 
may be adjourned if considered in the public interest, or hold the hearing 
ensuring the party’s representation is considered. 
6. Where the authority adjourns the hearing it shall notify the parties of the 
date, time and place. 

Procedural Information

7. At the start of the hearing, the authority shall explain the procedure which 
it proposes to follow and shall consider any request for permission for another 
person to appear at the hearing.
8. A hearing shall take the form of a discussion led by the authority and 
cross-examination shall not be permitted unless the authority considers that it is 
required. 
9. The authority will allow the parties an equal maximum period of time in 
which to speak. 
10. The authority may require any person behaving disruptively to leave, and 
may refuse that person to return, but such a person may, before the end of the 
hearing, submit in writing information they would have been entitled to give 
orally had they not been required to leave.

FOOTNOTE:

In relation to all other matters governed by the Licensing Act 2003 (Hearings) 
Regulations 2005 any party or their representative may contact the Licensing 
Department at West Dorset District Council and they will be provided with a full 
copy of the regulations on request.

Page 3

Agenda Item 1



LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE PROCEDURE

1. At the start of the meeting the Chairman will introduce:
 the members of the sub-committee
 the council officers present
 the parties and their representatives

2. The Chairman will then deal with any appropriate agenda items.

3. The Licensing Officer will be asked to outline the details of the application, 
including details of any withdrawn representations. 

4. The applicant or their representative is then invited to present their case.

5. Committee members will be invited to ask questions.

6. Where appropriate the Responsible Bodies e.g. representatives of Police, 
Fire Services, Environmental Services or Trading Standards will be invited 
to address the sub-committee on any relevant representations they may 
have.

7. The Chairman may then allow an opportunity for questions.

8. The Chairman will ask any person who has made representations, who 
have already expressed a wish to do so, to address the sub-committee.  
The sub-committee will have read all the papers before them, including 
any letters of representation.  Members of the public are asked to keep 
their comments concise and to the point.

9. The Local Ward Member, if present, will be given an opportunity to 
address the sub-committee.

10. All parties will be given the opportunity to “sum up” their case.

11. The Chairman will ask the Legal Advisor if all relevant points have been 
addressed before advising all parties present that the sub-committee will 
withdraw from the meeting to consider its decision in private.  The sub-
committee will be accompanied by the Democratic Services Officer and 
the Legal Advisor can be called upon to offer legal guidance.

12. On returning the Chairman will:

 Notify all those present of the sub-committee’s decision (or indicate when
 it will be made)

Page 4



 Give brief details of any conditions attached to the licence approval;

Or

 Outline the reasons for the refusal
 Inform that detailed reasons will follow in writing (unless given on the day)
 Inform those present of their right to appeal to the Magistrates’ Court

NOTE

The Chairman may vary this procedure, as circumstances require but will have 
regard to the rules of natural justice and the Licensing Act 2003 (Hearings) 
Regulations 2005.

The meeting will take place in public.  However, the public can be excluded 
from all or part of the meeting where the sub-committee considers that the 
public interest in so doing outweighs the public interest in the meeting or that 
part of the meeting, taking place in public.

Under no circumstances must the parties or their witnesses offer the sub-
committee information in the absence of the other parties.

The Chairman and the Sub-Committee have discretion whether to allow new 
information or documents to be submitted and read at the meeting.

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



Date of Meeting: 24 September 2019

Portfolio Holder: Cllr A Alford, Customer, Community and Regulatory Services

Local Member(s): Cllr Derek Beer and Cllr Tim Cook

Executive Director: John Sellgren, Executive Director of Place

Executive Summary: 
An application for the review of a premises licence has been made by Dorset 
Council as the Licensing Authority.
Representations have been received and remain unresolved therefore a hearing by 
the licensing Sub-Committee must be held to determine the application.

Equalities Impact Assessment:
N/A

Budget: 
N/A

Risk Assessment: 
N/A

Climate implications:
N/A 

Other Implications:
Members will need to consider the application in light of the Council’s published 
Statement of Licensing Policy.

Recommendation:
The Sub-Committee determines the application in the light of written and oral 
evidence and resolves to take such steps as described below as it considers 
appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives:

 Modify the conditions of the licence;
 Exclude a licensable activity from the scope of the licence;
 Remove the designated premises supervisor;
 Suspend the licence for a period not exceeding three months;
 Revoke the licence;
 Issue a written warning to the licence holder
 Dismiss the application

Licensing Sub-Committee

Licensing Act 2003 – Application for the 
review of a premises licence – Angola ’76, 
Mustons Lane, Shaftesbury, SP7 8AD 

Page 7

Agenda Item 4



and give reasons for the decision.

Reason for Recommendation:
 Dorset Council Scheme of Delegation. 

Appendices:
1 – Application form & Supporting Documents 
2 – Representations 
3 – Responsible Authority Representations   
4 – Statement from the Licence Holder

Background Papers:
None

Officer Contact:
Name: Ian Carter
Tel: 01929 557220
Email: ian.carter@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk

1. Further Information

1.1 Angola ’76 is a single storey café/bar and music venue with a beer 
garden located within an area of mixed commercial and residential use 
in Shaftesbury.  It currently benefits from premises licence NDPL0473 
a copy of which is included within the supporting documentation 
attached as appendix 1 to this report.

1.2 Following the receipt of complaints, the service of a warning letter and 
noise abatement notice by the council’s environmental health service 
and a refusal of planning permission for the use of the premises the 
council as the licensing authority has made an application for a review 
of the premises licence.  

1.3 The ground for the review is the failure to promote the licensing 
objective of the prevention of public nuisance.  Specifically the noise of 
music escaping from the premises.

1.4 Representations have been received from 10 interested parties and 
copies of these representations are attached at Appendix 2.  Six of the 
representations relate to three of the four licensing objectives, the 
prevention of crime and disorder, the prevention of public nuisance and 
public safety.  Three other representations has been made in support 
of the venue along with a petition organised by the premises 
management. 

Page 8



1.5 Representations have also been received from the council’s planning 
service and the council’s environmental health service.  Copies of 
these representations are attached at Appendix 3.

1.6 The licence holder has submitted a statement in response to the 
application and this is attached at Appendix 4.

1.6 In determining the application with a view to promoting the licensing 
objectives in the interests of the local community, the Licensing Sub-
Committee must give appropriate weight to:
(a) the steps that are appropriate to promote the licensing objectives 
(b) the representations (including supporting information) presented by 
all parties
(c) the statutory guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing 
Act 2003; and
(d) The Council’s statement of licensing policy.

1.7 All parties, the applicant or the person making the relevant 
representation, may appeal the decision made by the Licensing Sub-
Committee to the Magistrates Court.

1.8 The current statutory guidance published by the Home Office and the 
Council’s Statement of Licensing Policy are available in full for 
Members to view.  The attention of Members is however specifically 
requested to the following provisions.

2. Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003

2.1 Alongside the promotion of the four licensing objectives the current 
statutory guidance published by the Home Office identifies that the 
legislation also supports a number of key aims and purposes that 
include;
(a) Protecting the public and local residents from crime, anti-social 
behaviour and noise nuisance caused by irresponsible licensed 
premises.
(b) Recognising the important role which pubs and other licensed 
premises play in our local communities by minimising the regulatory 
burden on business, encouraging innovation and supporting 
responsible premises.

2.2 At paragraph 2.21 the statutory guidance states in respect of the public 
nuisance objective “Beyond the immediate area surrounding the 
premises, these are matters for the personal responsibility of 
individuals under the law. An individual who engages in anti-social 
behaviour is accountable in their own right.”

2.3 At paragraph 11.20 the statutory guidance states in respect of 
determining the application “In deciding which of these powers to 
invoke, it is expected that licensing authorities should so far as possible 
seek to establish the cause or causes of the concerns that the 

Page 9



representations identify. The remedial action taken should generally be 
directed at these causes and should always be no more than an 
appropriate and proportionate response to address the causes of 
concern that instigated the review.”

2.4 With regard to the modification of conditions or exclusion of licensable 
activities the statutory guidance at paragraph 11.23 states “But where 
premises are found to be trading irresponsibly, the licensing authority 
should not hesitate, where appropriate to do so, to take tough action to 
tackle the problems at the premises and, where other measures are 
deemed insufficient, to revoke the licence.”

 3. Dorset Council (North Dorset) Statement of Licensing Policy

3.1 The council’s statement of licensing policy at 4.1.1 clarifies that “The 
role of the Council as a licensing authority is to hold a balance between 
the needs of the licensing, entertainment and food industries and the 
needs of residents and visitors to the District.”

3.2 At paragraph 5.3.1  the council’s statement of licensing policy states 
that “The  Licensing  Authority  shall  consider  applications  based  on  
the applicant controlling entertainment and customer behaviour whilst 
in their direct control.  What may occur when customers are beyond 
that control is generally not a matter for consideration.”

Page 10



Page 11



Page 12



Page 13



Page 14



Page 15



Page 16



Schedule of Appendices 
 
1. A copy of the Licence for Angola ’76 granted on 18 August 2016 
2. A copy of the minutes of the hearing of the 18 August 2016 
3. The relevant section on Reviews in the Licensing Act 2003 
4. The relevant section on Reviews of the Section 182 Guidance 
5. The relevant chapter on the Licensing Objectives of the section 182 Guidance 
6. Complaints  

6.1. Email from Complainant 1 - 3 June 2017 
6.2. Email from Complainant 1 - 9 June 2017 
6.3. Email from Complainant 1 - 12 June 2017 
6.4. Email from Complainant 2 - 17 June 2017 
6.5. Email from Complainant 2 - 18 June 2017 
6.6. Email from Complainant 1 - 21 June 2017 
6.7. Email from Complainant 1 - 1 July 2017 
6.8. Email to Complainant 1 - 13 July 2017 
6.9. Email from Complainant 1 - 23 July 2017 
6.10. Email from Complainant 1 - 26 July 2017 
6.11. Email from Complainant 1 - 21 August 2017 
6.12. Email from Complainant 1 - 29 August 2017 
6.13. Email from Complainant 1 - 4 September 2017 
6.14. Email from Complainant 1 - 30 August 2019 
6.15. Email from Complainant 1 - 4 September 2019 
6.16. Email from Complainant 1 - 18 September 2019 

7. Correspondence and visits from Licensing Officer with the licence holders 
7.1. Letter from Licensing Officer to Premises Licence Holder 8 June 2017 
7.2. Email Premises Licence Holder to Licensing Officer 24 July 2017 
7.3. Email Licensing Officer to Premises Licence Holder 25 July 2017 
7.4. Email Premises Licence Holder to Licensing Officer 5 August 2017 
7.5. Email Licensing Officer to Premises Licence Holder 5 September 2017 
7.6. Email Premises Licence Holder to Licensing Officer 5 September 2017 
7.7. Email Premises Licence Holder to Licensing Officer 18 September 2017 
7.8.  Letter from Licensing Officer to Premises Licence Holder 20 September 

2017 
7.9. Notes from visits 21 March and 3 April 2019 

8. Letters from Environmental Health 
8.1. CPN Warning Letter dated 20 February 2018 
8.2. CPN Warning Letter dated 28 August 2018 
8.3. Statement of Planning Enforcement Officer  

9. Planning 
9.1. Refusal of Planning Permission Dated 9 October 2019 
9.2. Planning Officers Report 

10. Schedule of videos – 19 April 2019 – 18 July 2019 
 
 
 

Page 17



Licensing Department  
Dorset Council

South Walks House
South Walks Road

Dorchester
DT1 1UZ

licensing@dorset.gov.uk

Licensing Act 2003

Premises Licence NDPL0473

POSTAL ADDRESS OF PREMISES, OR IF NONE, ORDNANCE SURVEY MAP REFERENCE OR DESCRIPTION

Angola 76
Mustons Lane, Shaftesbury, Dorset, SP7 8AD.

WHERE THE LICENCE IS TIME LIMITED THE DATES

Not applicable

LICENSABLE ACTIVITIES AUTHORISED BY THE LICENCE

an exhibition of a film-

a performance of live music-

any playing of recorded music-

a performance of dance-

provision of late night refreshment-

the supply of alcohol-

THE TIMES THE LICENCE AUTHORISES THE CARRYING OUT OF LICENSABLE ACTIVITIES

Activity (and Area if applicable) Description Time From Time To

B.  Exhibition of films (Indoors)
Every Day 11:00am 10:00pm

E.  Performance of live music (Indoors & Outdoors)

Monday 11:00am 9:30pm

Tuesday 11:00am 9:30pm

Wednesday 11:00am 10:00pm

Thursday 11:00am 10:00pm

Friday 11:00am 10:30pm

Saturday 11:00am 10:30pm

Sunday 11:00am 9:00pm

F.  Playing of recorded music (Indoors & Outdoors)
Monday 11:00am 10:00pm

Tuesday 11:00am 10:00pm

Wednesday 11:00am 10:00pm

Thursday 11:00am 12:30am

Friday 11:00am 12:30am

Saturday 11:00am 12:30am

Sunday 11:00am 10:00pm

G.  Performance of dance (Indoors)
Monday 11:00am 9:30pm

Tuesday 11:00am 9:30pm

Wednesday 11:00am 10:00pm

Thursday 11:00am 10:00pm

Friday 11:00am 10:00pm

Saturday 11:00am 10:00pm

Sunday 11:00am 9:30pm

I. Late night refreshment (Indoors & Outdoors)

Wednesday 11:00pm Midnight

Part 1 - Premises Details

Printed by LalPac on 18 Oct 2019 at 10:45 Page 1 of 10NDPL0473/121370Page 18



Licensing Department  
Dorset Council

South Walks House
South Walks Road

Dorchester
DT1 1UZ

licensing@dorset.gov.uk

Licensing Act 2003

Premises Licence NDPL0473

THE TIMES THE LICENCE AUTHORISES THE CARRYING OUT OF LICENSABLE ACTIVITIES  continued ...

Activity (and Area if applicable) Description Time From Time To

I. Late night refreshment (Indoors & Outdoors)  continued ...

Thursday 11:00pm Midnight

Friday 11:00pm 2:00am

Saturday 11:00pm 2:00am

J. Supply of alcohol for consumption ON and OFF the premises
Monday 11:00am 10:30pm

Tuesday 11:00am 10:30pm

Wednesday 11:00am 10:30pm

Thursday 11:00am 10:30pm

Friday 11:00am 12:30am

Saturday 11:00am 12:30am

Sunday 11:00am 10:30pm

THE OPENING HOURS OF THE PREMISES

Description Time From Time To

Monday 11:00am 11:00pm

Tuesday 11:00am 11:00pm

Wednesday 11:00am 11:00pm

Thursday 11:00am 11:00pm

Friday 11:00am 1:30am

Saturday 11:00am 1:30am

Sunday 11:00am 11:00pm

WHERE THE LICENCE AUTHORISES SUPPLIES OF ALCOHOL WHETHER THESE ARE ON AND / OR OFF SUPPLIES

- J. Supply of alcohol for consumption ON and OFF the premises

Part 2

NAME, (REGISTERED) ADDRESS, TELEPHONE NUMBER AND EMAIL (WHERE RELEVANT) OF HOLDER OF PREMISES LICENCE

Telephone 01747 228080 or 07836 616130angola76jungle@gmail.com

Muston's Lane, Shaftesbury, Dorset, SP7 8AD.

Angola '76 Ltd

REGISTERED NUMBER OF HOLDER, FOR EXAMPLE COMPANY NUMBER, CHARITY NUMBER (WHERE APPLICABLE)

10084130Angola '76 Ltd

NAME, ADDRESS AND TELEPHONE NUMBER OF DESIGNATED PREMISES SUPERVISOR OR MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE WHERE THE
PREMISES LICENCE AUTHORISES THE SUPPLY OF ALCOHOL

John MORGAN

Mustons Yard, Mustons Lane, Shaftesbury, Dorset, SP7 8AD.

Telephone 01747 850354

Printed by LalPac on 18 Oct 2019 at 10:45 Page 2 of 10NDPL0473/121370Page 19



Licensing Department  
Dorset Council

South Walks House
South Walks Road

Dorchester
DT1 1UZ

licensing@dorset.gov.uk

Licensing Act 2003

Premises Licence NDPL0473

PERSONAL LICENCE NUMBER AND ISSUING AUTHORITY OF PERSONAL LICENCE HELD BY DESIGNATED PREMISES SUPERVISOR
WHERE THE PREMISES LICENCE AUTHORISES FOR THE SUPPLY OF ALCOHOL

PA0901Licence No. Issued by North Dorset

ANNEXES

ANNEX 1 - MANDATORY CONDITIONS

Supply of Alcohol (s19(2)&(3))

1. No supply of alcohol may be made under the premises licence -
(a) at a time when there is no designated premises supervisor, or
(b) at a time when the designated premises supervisor does not hold a personal

licence or his personal licence has been suspended
Every supply of alcohol under the premises licence must be made or authorised by a person who 
holds a personal licence

Exhibition of Films (s20(2))

2. Admission of children must be restricted in accordance with any recommendation by the British Board
of Film Classification or the Licensing Authority.

Drinks Promotions
3 (1) The responsible person must ensure that staff on relevant premises do not carry out,

arrange or participate in any irresponsible promotions in relation to the premises
(2) In this paragraph, an irresponsible promotion means any one or more of the following

activities, or substantially similar activities, carried on for the purpose of encouraging the
sale or supply of alcohol for consumption on the premises-
(a) games or other activities which require or encourage, or are designed to

require or encourage, individuals to-
(i) drink a quantity of alcohol within a time limit (other than to drink alcohol

sold or supplied on the premises before the cessation of the
period in which the responsible person is authorised to sell or supply 
alcohol), or

(ii) drink as much alcohol as possible (whether within a time limit or 
otherwise);

(b) provision of unlimited or unspecified quantities of alcohol free or for a fixed or
discounted fee to the public or to a group defined by a particular characteristic in a
manner which carries a significant risk of undermining a licensing objective;

(c) provision of free or discounted alcohol or any other thing as a prize to encourage or
reward the purchase and consumption of alcohol over a period of 24 hours or less
in a manner which carries a significant risk of
undermining a licensing objective;

(d) selling or supplying alcohol in association with promotional posters or flyers on, or in
the vicinity of, the premises which can reasonably be considered to
condone, encourage or glamorise anti-social behaviour or to refer to the
effects of drunkenness in any favourable manner;

Printed by LalPac on 18 Oct 2019 at 10:45 Page 3 of 10NDPL0473/121370Page 20



Licensing Department  
Dorset Council

South Walks House
South Walks Road

Dorchester
DT1 1UZ

licensing@dorset.gov.uk

Licensing Act 2003

Premises Licence NDPL0473

ANNEXES  continued ...

(e) dispensing alcohol directly by one person into the mouth of another (other than
where that other person is unable to drink without assistance by reason
of disability).

4. The responsible person must ensure that free potable water is provided on request to 
customers where it is reasonably available.

5. (1) The premises licence holder or club premises certificate holder must ensure that an age 
verification policy is adopted in respect of the premises in relation to the sale or supply of alcohol.
(2)The designated premises supervisor in relation to the premises licence must
ensure that the supply of alcohol at the premises is carried on in accordance with the age verification 
policy.
(3)  The policy must require individuals who appear to the responsible person to be
under 18 years of age (or such older age as may be specified in the policy) to produce on request, 
before being served alcohol, identification bearing their photograph, date of birth and either-

(a) a holographic mark, or
(b) an ultraviolet feature.

6. The responsible person must ensure that-
(a) where any of the following alcoholic drinks is sold or supplied for consumption on the

premises (other than alcoholic drinks sold or supplied having been made up in advance ready 
for sale or supply in a securely closed container) it is available to customers in the following 
measures -

(i) beer or cider: ½ pint;
(ii) gin, rum, vodka or whisky: 25 ml or 35 ml; and
(iii) still wine in a glass: 125 ml;

(b) these measures are displayed in a menu, price list or other printed material which is available
to customers on the premises; and

(c) where a customer does not in relation to a sale of alcohol specify the quantity of alcohol to be 
sold, the customer is made aware that these measures are available.”

Minimum Pricing
7. A relevant person shall ensure that no alcohol is sold or supplied for consumption on or off the

premises for a price which is less than the permitted price.

8. For the purposes of the condition set out in paragraph 7-
(a) “duty” is to be construed in accordance with the Alcoholic Liquor Duties Act 1979(1)
(b) “permitted price” is the price found by applying the formula-

P=D+(DxV)
(i)    P is the permitted price,
(ii) D is the amount of duty chargeable in relation to the alcohol as if the duty were

charged on the date of the sale or supply of the alcohol, and
(iii)  V is the rate of value added tax chargeable in relation to the alcohol as if the value
added tax were charged on the date of the sale or supply of the alcohol;

(c) “relevant person” means, in relation to premises in respect of which there is in force a
premises licence-

Printed by LalPac on 18 Oct 2019 at 10:45 Page 4 of 10NDPL0473/121370Page 21



Licensing Department  
Dorset Council

South Walks House
South Walks Road

Dorchester
DT1 1UZ

licensing@dorset.gov.uk

Licensing Act 2003

Premises Licence NDPL0473

ANNEXES  continued ...

(i)   the holder of the premises licence,
(ii)  the designated premises supervisor (if any) in respect of such a licence, or
(iii) the personal licence holder who makes or authorises a supply of alcohol under

such a licence;
(d) “relevant person” means, in relation to premises in respect of which there is in force a club
premises certificate, any member or officer of the club present on the premises in a capacity which
enables the member or officer to prevent the supply in question; and
(e) “value added tax” means value added tax charged in accordance with the Value Added
Tax Act 1994(2).

9. Where the permitted price given by Paragraph (b) of paragraph 8 would (apart from this
paragraph) not be a whole number of pennies, the price given by that sub- paragraph shall be
taken to be the price actually given by that sub-paragraph rounded up to the nearest penny.

10.   (1)  Sub-paragraph (2) applies where the permitted price given by Paragraph (b) of paragraph 8 on 
a day (“the first day”) would be different from the permitted price on the next day (“the second day”) 
as a result of a change to the rate of duty or value added tax.

(2) The permitted price which would apply on the first day applies to sales or supplies of alcohol 
which take place before the expiry of the period of 14 days beginning on the second day.

ANNEX 2 - Conditions consistent with the operating schedule

General
The management of the premises will ensure the following is adhered too:

a. The premises will adopt an age related policy which will require any person who appears to be under 
the age of 25 to produce ID. The only acceptable forms of ID will be a driving licence, passport or a card 
with a PASS (proof of age standards scheme) holographic logo. Any person who cannot produce the 
appropriate ID will be refused the sale of alcohol. In addition to the above, the premises will keep a 
refusals register, the register will be used to record ANY refusal of sale and will be produced on request 
to a Police Constanable or Authorised Officer of the Council.

b. Any one who behaves in a disorderly manner will not be alllowed to stay on the premises.

c. The premises will adopt a drugs policy, there will be posters put up throughout the premises which will 
inform customers that the premises operates a zero tolerance to drugs. The policy will be read and 
signed by each member of staff, and will inform staff of the signs to look out for in connection with drugs 
and give staff a comprehensive guide on how to record drug related incidents.

d. All violent and anti-social behavour will be record in an incident book along with the actions taken to 
resolve the incident

Prevention of Crime and Disorder
The premises will have on site an A4 day to view diary (as a minimum) which will be used for an incident 

Printed by LalPac on 18 Oct 2019 at 10:45 Page 5 of 10NDPL0473/121370Page 22



Licensing Department  
Dorset Council

South Walks House
South Walks Road

Dorchester
DT1 1UZ

licensing@dorset.gov.uk

Licensing Act 2003

Premises Licence NDPL0473

ANNEXES  continued ...

book for the purposes of recording incidents which may cause concern for staff or patrons of the 
premises. The incident will contain the following as a minimum when the premises is being used for a 
licensable activity:-

· Name, start and finish time of any members of staff on duty
· Pre-opening checks (premises is clean and tidy etc)
· Any refusal to serve (no I.D. or to drunk etc)
· Any incidents of crime and disorder
· Any drug related incident or paraphernalia
· Any regulated entertainment start and end time (live bands, karaoke, DJ nights etc)
· Any complaints made to staff
· Closing time and closing checks (making sure all patrons have left in an orderly manner, no 

broken glass etc)

CCTV which is installed at the premises must be fully maintained in accordance with the manufacturer’s 
instructions and be in full working order at all times the premises is open for a licensable activity. 

The CCTV system shall be recording at all times the premises is open to the public, and the images 
recorded on the system must be retained in an unedited form on the original recording medium for a 
period of at least 14 days.

All camera’s connected to the CCTV system must be able to record clear images at all times the 
premises is open to the public, and must be free from obstruction or lighting which may impair the visual 
quality of the recording. The camera’s should be placed in such a position to provide the maximum 
coverage possible.

All CCTV camera’s must be tamperproof or place in a sufficient place so they cannot be interfered with 
by patrons of the premises. 

Any camera’s used on the external of the premises must be designed for this purpose, and be able to 
record in all weather, and at any time of the day or night giving a clear image of the front of the premises 
and any patrons frequenting the outside. There will be at least one camera covering the outside 
courtyard.

A Camera should be placed above the entrance to the premises and should be position correctly to 
capture the facial imagine of patrons entering the premises, this camera should be of a suitable quality 
that any person who is caught on this camera can be clearly identified. 

There will be a minimum of 2 camera's inside the premises, one which will cover teh bar area and one 
which will cover the main drinking area. These camera's will be designed for the purpose for being used 
indoors and be unaffect by all lighting used inside the premises including strob lighting.

Any request for CCTV made by a police constable with the appropriate paperwork should be complied 
with as soon as reasonably possible and in all cases no longer than 12 hours.

The premises will be an active member the barwatch/pubwatch so long as there is one operating in the 

Printed by LalPac on 18 Oct 2019 at 10:45 Page 6 of 10NDPL0473/121370Page 23



Licensing Department  
Dorset Council

South Walks House
South Walks Road

Dorchester
DT1 1UZ

licensing@dorset.gov.uk

Licensing Act 2003

Premises Licence NDPL0473

ANNEXES  continued ...

local area (the local area is defined as shaftesbury).

Staff will undertake training in relation to age related products prior to being allowed to serve age related 
products. This training must be recorded and signed by teh member of staff it relates too. All staff must 
receive refresher training at least annual in relation to age related products.

Public Safety
There will be adequate lighting both inside and outisde the licensed premises to ensure the safety of 
patrons attending the premises.

Prevention of Public Nuisance
There will be signs placed at the exits of the premises requesting patrons leave the premises quietly.

All deliveries to the premises shall be received during normal office hours to prevent disturbance to 
residents (all office hours are determined as the hours between 7am and 6pm).

Staff will proactively discourage patrons from loitering around the premises, and will record any positive 
actions taken against these patrons in the incident book.

No rubbish bins will be emptied after 23.00 hours (11pm)

Any lighting used on the outside of the premises will be positioned in a way so they do nto disturb local 
residents.

ANNEX 3 - Conditions attached at a hearing

The premises will operate a no entry or re-entry after 11pm. Any customer who leaves the premises after 

11pm for any reason will not be allowed back in the premises or on the courtyard.

The premises must use a decibel meter when regulated entertainment in the form of live or recorded 

music takes place at the premises. The level of the decibel meter will be set by a Licensing Officer and a 

record of the level set will be kept on site at the premises and recorded at the Council Offices.

The premises must adopt a dispersal policy for the patrons leaving the premises. The policy must include 

management of patrons leaving the premises after 11pm to ensure public nuisance is kept to a minimum. 

The policy must be kept in a written form on site that can be viewed by either an authorised council officer 

or police constable on request. Staff must be trained and be conversant with this policy.

Any BBQ’s conducted in the outside court yard must cease by 9pm.

Printed by LalPac on 18 Oct 2019 at 10:45 Page 7 of 10NDPL0473/121370Page 24



Licensing Department  
Dorset Council

South Walks House
South Walks Road

Dorchester
DT1 1UZ

licensing@dorset.gov.uk

Licensing Act 2003

Premises Licence NDPL0473

ANNEXES  continued ...

The sub-committee also amended the plan of the premises to remove the courtyard from the application.

Business Licensing

Printed by LalPac on 18 Oct 2019 at 10:45 Page 8 of 10NDPL0473/121370Page 25



Licensing Department  
Dorset Council

South Walks House
South Walks Road

Dorchester
DT1 1UZ

licensing@dorset.gov.uk

Licensing Act 2003

Premises Licence Summary NDPL0473

POSTAL ADDRESS OF PREMISES, OR IF NONE, ORDNANCE SURVEY MAP REFERENCE OR DESCRIPTION

Angola 76
Mustons Lane, Shaftesbury, Dorset, SP7 8AD.

WHERE THE LICENCE IS TIME LIMITED THE DATES

Not applicable

LICENSABLE ACTIVITIES AUTHORISED BY THE LICENCE

an exhibition of a film-

a performance of live music-

any playing of recorded music-

a performance of dance-

provision of late night refreshment-

the supply of alcohol-

THE TIMES THE LICENCE AUTHORISES THE CARRYING OUT OF LICENSABLE ACTIVITIES

Activity (and Area if applicable) Description Time From Time To

B.  Exhibition of films (Indoors)

Every Day 11:00am 10:00pm

E.  Performance of live music (Indoors & Outdoors)

Monday 11:00am 9:30pm

Tuesday 11:00am 9:30pm

Wednesday 11:00am 10:00pm

Thursday 11:00am 10:00pm

Friday 11:00am 10:30pm

Saturday 11:00am 10:30pm

Sunday 11:00am 9:00pm

F.  Playing of recorded music (Indoors & Outdoors)
Monday 11:00am 10:00pm

Tuesday 11:00am 10:00pm

Wednesday 11:00am 10:00pm

Thursday 11:00am 12:30am

Friday 11:00am 12:30am

Saturday 11:00am 12:30am

Sunday 11:00am 10:00pm

G.  Performance of dance (Indoors)
Monday 11:00am 9:30pm

Tuesday 11:00am 9:30pm

Wednesday 11:00am 10:00pm

Thursday 11:00am 10:00pm

Friday 11:00am 10:00pm

Saturday 11:00am 10:00pm

Sunday 11:00am 9:30pm

I. Late night refreshment (Indoors & Outdoors)
Wednesday 11:00pm Midnight

Premises Details

Printed by LalPac on 18 Oct 2019 at 10:45 Page 9 of 10NDPL0473/121370Page 26



Licensing Department  
Dorset Council

South Walks House
South Walks Road

Dorchester
DT1 1UZ

licensing@dorset.gov.uk

Licensing Act 2003

Premises Licence Summary NDPL0473

THE TIMES THE LICENCE AUTHORISES THE CARRYING OUT OF LICENSABLE ACTIVITIES  continued ...

Activity (and Area if applicable) Description Time From Time To

I. Late night refreshment (Indoors & Outdoors)  continued ...
Thursday 11:00pm Midnight

Friday 11:00pm 2:00am

Saturday 11:00pm 2:00am

J. Supply of alcohol for consumption ON and OFF the premises
Monday 11:00am 10:30pm

Tuesday 11:00am 10:30pm

Wednesday 11:00am 10:30pm

Thursday 11:00am 10:30pm

Friday 11:00am 12:30am

Saturday 11:00am 12:30am

Sunday 11:00am 10:30pm

THE OPENING HOURS OF THE PREMISES

Description Time From Time To

Monday 11:00am 11:00pm

Tuesday 11:00am 11:00pm

Wednesday 11:00am 11:00pm

Thursday 11:00am 11:00pm

Friday 11:00am 1:30am

Saturday 11:00am 1:30am

Sunday 11:00am 11:00pm

WHERE THE LICENCE AUTHORISES SUPPLIES OF ALCOHOL WHETHER THESE ARE ON AND / OR OFF SUPPLIES

- J. Supply of alcohol for consumption ON and OFF the premises

NAME, (REGISTERED) ADDRESS OF HOLDER OF PREMISES LICENCE

Muston's Lane, Shaftesbury, Dorset, SP7 8AD.

Angola '76 Ltd

REGISTERED NUMBER OF HOLDER, FOR EXAMPLE COMPANY NUMBER, CHARITY NUMBER (WHERE APPLICABLE)

10084130Angola '76 Ltd

NAME OF DESIGNATED PREMISES SUPERVISOR OR MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE WHERE THE PREMISES LICENCE AUTHORISES THE
SUPPLY OF ALCOHOL

John MORGAN

STATE WHETHER ACCESS TO THE PREMISES BY CHILDREN IS RESTRICTED OR PROHIBITED

 

Printed by LalPac on 18 Oct 2019 at 10:45 Page 10 of 10NDPL0473/121370Page 27



Page 28



Page 29



Page 30



Page 31



18/10/2019 Meeting of North Dorset District Council Licensing Sub Committee on Thursday, 18th August, 2016, 10.15 am - Dorset Council

https://moderngov.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/celistdocuments.aspx?MID=875&DF=18%2f08%2f2016&A=1&R=0&F=embed$view the full minutes text f… 1/3

North Dorset District Council Licensing Sub Committee
Thursday, 18th August, 2016 10.15 am

Meeting of North Dorset District Council Licensing Sub Committee, Thursday, 18th August, 2016
10.15 am (Item 3.)

To consider whether to grant a new premises licence.

Minutes:

The Licensing Officer set out the application for the building known as "Beggars Banquet" which had been
established as a music café.  The café no longer operated and the owner of the building had transferred
the licence to himself.  The premises was currently operating under the name of "Angola" 76 and the
application sought for:-
 
Opening hours
Monday 11.00 – 23.00
Tuesday to Thursday 11.00 – midnight
Wednesday to Thursday – 11.02.00
Sunday 11 – 22.00
 
Sale of Alcohol on and off the premises
Monday to Tuesday 11.00 – 23.00
Wednesday to Thursday 11.00 – 22.00
Sunday 11.00 – 21.00
Friday to Saturday 11.00 – 21.00
Friday to Saturday 11.00 – 22.30
 
Recorded music indoors and outdoors
Sunday to Wednesday 11.00 – 22.00
Thursday to Saturday 11.00 – 00.30
New Years Eve 11.00 – 02.00
 
Films indoor only
Every day 11.00 – 22.00
Dance indoors only
Sunday to Tuesday 11.00 – 21.30
Wednesday to Saturday 11.00 – 22.00
 
Late Night refreshment indoor and outdoors
Wednesday to Thursday 23.00 – midnight
Friday to Saturday 23.00 – 02.00
New Years Eve 23.00 – 02.00
 
The Licensing Officer advised members that there had been five representations received from local
residents in respect of this application and the concerns  related to nuisance being caused by the
premises.
 
The Licensing Officer also tabled a late email from Mrs Cunningham and set out her response.
 
The Chairman welcomed the applicant Mr Morgan and the general manager for the premises Ms H
Fletcher. Mr Morgan took the opportunity to inform the committee of the history of the site. He advised
that he had made a number of improvements to the site and employed his new general manager to
ensure that the bar would be run correctly.
 
The applicant acknowledged that there had been some recent complaints and an incident a few weeks
ago. However measures had been put into place to ensure that noise issues were appropriately managed
in the future.  In respect of noisy behaviour and vomiting in the street, the applicant advised that he could
not be sure that the individual had come from his or another premise.
 Page 32



18/10/2019 Meeting of North Dorset District Council Licensing Sub Committee on Thursday, 18th August, 2016, 10.15 am - Dorset Council

https://moderngov.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/celistdocuments.aspx?MID=875&DF=18%2f08%2f2016&A=1&R=0&F=embed$view the full minutes text f… 2/3

Ms H Fletcher, General Manager advised that the measures in place included the outside doors to be
shut at 10.00pm, customers were asked to exist the building quietly and signs were in place on the site to
that affect. The music within the facility was turned down at midnight.  The applicant had also joined the
local pub-watch scheme.
 
In response to questions, the applicant advised that there was no official security in place but
inappropriate behaviour was dealt with promptly by the applicant and stopped before it became out of
control.
 
In response to an enquiry regarding the inner court yard, members were advised that this would be used
for smoking area, which would stop customer standing outside the main door creating noise issues.
 
Responding to questions regarding the playing of music, the applicant confirmed the court yard area
would be used in the summer months but he would be guided by Environmental Health in terms of
regulation. It was aimed for the bar to have local musicians perform each week.
 
There was much discussion regarding the main front door and noise escaping from the
building.  Because of the nature of the doors it was difficult to address this problem.
 
The Licensing Team Leader confirmed that this matter would be dealt with under the Environmental
Protection Act 1990 which dealt with matters relating to noise levels and live acts.
 
The Chairman asked a number questions relating to staffing arrangements. She also expressed concern
that some of the conditions on the current premises licence had been breached.  In response, the general
manager advised that the Fire Service had visited the site and set the maximum level.  She also
confirmed that the floor space was larger than when the licence was originally granted.
 
Nevertheless, the Licensing Team Leader confirmed that the conditions on the premises licence had been
set and if not followed the applicant would have been in breach of those conditions.
 
In respect of security and CCTV, the general manager confirmed that 8 cameras were in place and extra
camera were being installed to deal with current blind spots. 
 
The Chairman asked how the applicant planned to manage children within the premise and if there were
to be no children after 9.00pm, how would this be managed.
 
The applicant advised that he wanted the premises to be family friendly, but it would not be appropriate to
have young children in the bar after 9.00pm unless they were eating.
 
 
The Sub-committee adjourned to consider the application at 11.45am and reconvened at 13.50pm.
 
Decision
 
That the application for a premises licence be granted with the mandatory conditions as set out in the
Licensing Act 2003 and subject to modifications on the hours for sale of alcohol and additional
discretionary conditions:-
 
 

Sale of Alcohol on and off the premises:-
 

Sunday, Monday, Tuesday, Wednesday and Thursday 11.00am to              10.30pm
Friday and Saturday 11am to 12.30am
 

No minors after 9.00pm with the exception of those dinning
Last entry to the premise Friday and Saturday 11.00pm
Off sales of alcohol to be conditioned
Condition recorded music
Dispersal policy to be in place  
Challenge 21 condition
Main Front entrance to remain door except for access and egressPage 33



18/10/2019 Meeting of North Dorset District Council Licensing Sub Committee on Thursday, 18th August, 2016, 10.15 am - Dorset Council

https://moderngov.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/celistdocuments.aspx?MID=875&DF=18%2f08%2f2016&A=1&R=0&F=embed$view the full minutes text f… 3/3

Remove court yard from the application (therefore I assume that the no barbeque condition not
necessary?)
 
 
Reasons for conditions
 
Despite being questioned during the hearing the applicant did not instil a great deal of confidence that he
had carefully thought though the consequences of being granted a premises licence. Members expressed
concerned regarding his lack of experience in running a premises.
 
A number licencing conditions set out in the current licence had been breached.
 
To balance the reasonable needs of the premises with the possible nuisance experienced by local
residents, in respects to the impact within the licensing remit.
 

It is of course the case that, if there were significant problems in the future, after the grant of this variation,
a formal review of this licence could take place.

 
The sub-committee considered the conditions necessary and proportionate in order to meet the four
licensing objectives.

Page 34



Page 35



Page 36



Page 37



Page 38



Page 39



Page 40



Page 41



Page 42



Page 43



Page 44



Page 45



Page 46



Page 47



Page 48



Page 49



Page 50



Page 51



Page 52



Page 53



Page 54



Page 55



Page 56



Page 57



Page 58



Page 59



Page 60



Page 61



Page 62



Page 63



Page 64



Page 65



Page 66



Page 67



1

Aileen Powell

From:
Sent:
To: Aileen Powell
Subject: noise/smoke
Attachments: 20190825_183410.jpg

Dear Ms Powell,  
I have put more videos on the link one of this Sunday 25th August when I could hear the noise of voices/singing and a 
band while in my garden. 
It is very unpleasant to have smokers/drinkers so near, almost in my home, I can’t ventilate my sitting room or 
bedrooms without a strong smell of cigarette smoke as I am downwind of Angola 76 nightclub; more‐so now with 
this table as people sit at it at night as well while waiting/talking and the doormen smoke in the road. 
There is a video of this particular afternoon on the link. 

 
  

 
 

.   

Page 68



1

Aileen Powell

From:
Sent:
To: Aileen Powell; Steven Horsler
Subject: 20190825_183410.jpg
Attachments: 20190825_183410.jpg

 
 
Sent from Mail for Windows 10 
I have put this on cloud link with sound, I begin to think I will soon find tables in my sitting room. I heard the voices 
and banging drums/singing in my garden and came to see why there was so much noise. It is very unpleasant to 
have people sitting smoking and drinking so close. I cannot ventilate my sitting room most days and my bedrooms 
fill with the smell of smoking, worse now with this table and the doormen stand my side to smoke. 
Kind regards

Page 69



1

Aileen Powell

From:
Sent:
To: Aileen Powell
Subject: Noise.

Dear Ms Powell, 
My daughter and granddaughter came to stay Saturday 14th  for the first time since Christmas. My daughter parked 
at 8pm in Angel Lane car park, and could hear music as she came up the steps to walk through the churchyard to 
Muston’s Lane; hearing music she assumed it was from the Italian restaurant until she rounded the corner to the 
front of the building and realised it came from Angola 76 nightclub. She was appalled it was so loud.  
My granddaughter had thought she would do her study for her GCSE’s in the sitting room, forgetting that I did not 
use the room because of noise from the nightclub. 
 
While we were in the kitchen and the back of my house, both my daughter and  granddaughter kept saying how 
intrusive the music was but because I am partially deaf, I could not hear the music there. My daughter looked out at 
Angola 76 and saw the main door and Velux window open as they always are with the new managers and the music 
was pretty loud as always in Muston’s Lane. My daughter asked the doorman if he would shut the windows and 
door as the music was disturbing but he was quite sure he did not need to until 11pm although my daughter then 
said she was thought their license said doors and windows were to be kept shut if music was playing he said that 
was not the case, so the door was not shut. 
 
Later, my granddaughter came down from her bedroom in the back of my house saying she could still hear music 
and noise.  
 
My daughter took her dog out for a last walk of the day and when she left the house saw a group asking to get in 
when the closed sign was outside. I had gone to the front bedrooms to pull the bedroom curtains, heard voices and 
saw that when the group left, a woman in a red top had gone into the vine at the side of the cobbled area to hide; 
for a while, I saw the doorman kept looking up to my window and all around in the road until he then indicated to 
the woman to go inside the nightclub and he followed her, yet again, a blatant breach of the license.  
 
As I had visitors, I did not video w/end 13th/14th September but I have shown in several videos and written that 
customers go in and out at all times, many times allowed to do so by both managers. 
Kind regards
 
 
 

Page 70



Page 71



Page 72



Page 73



Page 74



Page 75



Page 76



Page 77



Page 78



Page 79



Licensing 
North Dorset District Council
Nordon
Salisbury Road
Blandford Forum
DT11 7LL

licensing@dorset.gov.uk

20 September 2017

Angola '76 Ltd
Muston's Lane
Shaftesbury
Dorset
SP7 8AD

This letter is to formally put you on notice that at our visit on the 15 September 2017 it was noted 
that several conditions on the premises licence PL0473 for Angola '76 were not being complied 
with. As the licence holders you need to be aware that It is an offence under section 136 (1)(a) of 
the Licensing Act 2003 to carry on a licensable activity otherwise that in accordance with an 
authorisation. There is potentially a large fine, up to £20,000 and/or a potential sentence of up to 6 
months in prison if a licence holder was convicted of that offence. Should conditions continue to not 
be complied with the Licensing Authority may take legal action.

The specific breaches noted were 

• That there was not compliance with the records to be kept in the incident book. There was 
no record kept of the members of staff on duty, no record of any checks completed, no times 
for regulated entertainments, no records of complaints and no closing times recorded. There 
were also no records kept of actions taken to discourage patrons from loitering outside.

• There was no CCTV camera covering the courtyard

• There was no staff training records available

In addition it was noted that the time recording on the CCTV was inaccurate, and that information 
that had been given to the committee at the hearing for the licence was not being followed 
regarding the courtyards and the provision of cameras in particular.

I note from your email dated the 18 September that you have taken note of the above issues and 
others discussed and are taking steps to make sure you are complying with the licence conditions.

We will be visiting the premises again in a couple of weeks time in order to check all of the licence 
conditions and at that time will want to see all records and policies, including your dispersal policy. 

We will also be liaising with the planning enforcement department and the environmental health 
departments to monitor both the progress of any planning permissions and whether further noise 
complaints are received.

VISIT

Dear Mr and Mrs Morgan

Yours sincerely

Aileen Powell

Licencing Team

licensing@north-dorset.gov.uk Page 80



Visit to Angola 76, Mustons Lane, Shaftesbury, Dorset, SP7 8AD on 21 March 
2019 with Kathryn Miller, Licensing Officer and PC Steve Ellis. 
 
On 21 March 2019, I visited Angola 76 with PC Steve Ellis as the premises 
licence holder, John Morgan had employed two new managers, Sally and 
Andrew Francis.  I wanted to make Mr & Mrs Frances the issues which had been 
raised previously with Mr Morgan and also that North Dorset District Council’s 
Environmental Health team had a served a Community Protection warning letter 
on Angola on 20 February 2018.   
 
Mr Morgan had not made Mr & Mrs Francis aware of this warning letter, so I went 
through the actions on the letter with them and told them this was the last 
chance, if they failed to comply then a Community Protection Notice or another 
course of action could be implemented.  I left Mr & Mrs Francis a copy of the 
warning letter that had been issued. 
 
 
 
On the 3 April 2019, I again visited Angola 76 to meet with Mr & Mrs Francis with 
Kerry Pitt-Kerby so that he could ensure that Mr & Mrs Francis had understood 
the requirements of the Community Warning Letter and to reiterate the 
consequences of not complying with it. 
 
 

Page 81



 
 
 
Your ref: 
Our ref:  3679 
 

 

Date:  20 February 2018 

 
Mr J Morgan 
Angola 76 
Mustons Yard 
Mustons Lane 
Shaftesbury 
Dorset 
SP7 8AD 
 
 
 

South Walks House, South Walks Road,  
Dorchester, Dorset   DT1 1UZ 

Tel: 01305 251010   Fax: 01305 251481  
www.dorsetforyou.com  

Text Relay calls welcome 

Dear Mr Morgan 
 
Angola 76 Mustons Lane, Shaftesbury 
Warning Letter 
Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 
 
Following an investigation into the complaints received about noise from your licensed premises I 
am now serving this written warning pursuant to Section 43 (5) of the Anti-social Behaviour Crime 
and Policing Act 2014.  This is because I believe that the intrusion of noise namely speech and 
amplified music from your premises, is persistent; and continuing; is having a detrimental effect on 
the quality of life of those in the locality; and that this is unreasonable.   
 
As a result of this, if you do not comply with the requirements set out below within the timescales 
specified, you may be issued with a Community Protection Notice or other such most suitable 
course of action depending on the severity of non-compliance and other statutory options 
available.  This may include the use of the Licensing Act 2003 or the Environmental Protection Act 
1990 for example. 
 
Below is a list of actions to reduce this risk which are required to comply with, within the given 
timescales: 
 

Actions 
 

Timescales 

1. After 23.00hrs all external areas related to the 
premises to be monitored for excess noise and 
suitably controlled by staff of Angola 76.  Any 
incidences shall be recorded with the actions 
taken.  Records shall be made available on 
request by an authorised officer of the council or 
the police. 

From 12.00hrs on 23rd February 2018 

2. After 23.00hrs the courtyard adjacent to Mustons 
Lane shall be vacated and remain so. 

From 12.00hrs on 23rd February 2018 

3. After 23.00hrs the rear courtyard shall be made 
available to ‘smokers’ but drinks and food shall 
not be consumed in this area. 

From 12.00hrs on 23rd February 2018 

4. All doors (accept for access and egress) and 
windows shall remain closed whilst amplified 
music or speech is being played. 

From 12.00hrs on 23rd February 2018 

Page 82

http://www.dorsetforyou.com/


5. No external speakers shall be used to convey 
amplified music and speech at any time. 

From 12.00hrs on 23rd February 2018 

6. Suitable signage shall be located in the 
courtyards advising of the specifications of use. 

From 12.00hrs on 2nd March 2018 

7. A sign shall be placed at every exit point (not fire 
exits used solely for this purpose) reminding 
clients to consider neighbours and to be quiet on  
leaving the premises. 

From 12.00hrs on 2nd March 2018 

 
 
If you wish to discuss this matter further please contact this office. 
 
Yours sincerely 
 
 
 
 
 
Kerry Pitt-Kerby 
Environmental Health Manager - Environmental Protection 
 
01258484311 
kpitt-kerby@dorset.gov.uk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 83



 
 
 
Your ref: 
Our ref:  3679 
 

 

Date:  28 August 2018 

 
 
Mr J Morgan 
c/o Angola 76 
Mustons Lane 
Shaftesbury 
Dorset  
SP7 8AD 
 

South Walks House, South Walks Road,  
Dorchester, Dorset   DT1 1UZ 

Tel: 01305 251010   Fax: 01305 251481  
www.dorsetforyou.com  

Text Relay calls welcome 

 

 
Dear Mr Morgan 
 
ANTI-SOCIAL BEHAVIOUR, CRIME & POLICING ACT 2014 – s.43(5) WARNING LETTER 
ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION ACT 1990 (as amended) 
NOISE ACT 1996 
ANGOLA 76, MUSTONS LANE, SHAFTESBURY 
 
I would refer the Warning Letter dated 20 February 2018 served upon you, which required you to 
observe a specified list of requirements at the Angola 76 premises, owing to noise emissions which 
were considered to be having a detrimental effect upon the quality of life of those in the locality, and 
that this was considered unreasonable (copy enclosed for ease of reference). 
 
I must advise you that I am in receipt of a witness statement from a council enforcement officer who 
attended the area outside Angola 76 on the evening of 21st July 2018.  In his statement, the officer 
confirms that following his arrival at 23.10hrs, loud music could clearly be heard emanating from the 
premises.  His statement also confirms that he witnessed breaches of the requirements of the Warning 
Letter referred to above, specifically that: 

 The courtyard was in use by customers, and 

 The doors to the courtyard were open during the entire time the officer was present (23.10hrs 
– 23.35hrs) while amplified music was playing inside the premises. 

 
You will be aware that failure to comply with the requirements of the Warning Letter may lead to the 
service of a Community Protection Notice upon you, or such other enforcement action as the council 
considers appropriate.  I would therefore respectfully recommend that you ensure that all the 
requirements of the enclosed Warning Letter are fully complied with.  In addition, you should also 
carefully consider the volume at which amplified music is played within your premises, in order to 
avoid possible enforcement action under the Noise Act 1996 or the Environmental Protection Act 
1990. 
 
I should also advise you that the officer’s witness statement also identifies potential breaches of your 
premises licence, and those matters have been referred to the Licensing Team for consideration. 
 
Yours sincerely 
 
 
 
Kerry Pitt-Kerby 
Environmental Health Manager - Environmental Protection 
 
Email:  kpitt-kerby@dorset.gov.uk      Direct Line:  01258 484311 
 
Encs Page 84

http://www.dorsetforyou.com/


 
cc: Licensing Team 

Page 85



 
More detailed notes from my visit Saturday night below. 
 
Many Thanks 
 
Mark Hitchcott 
Senior Planning Enforcement Officer (Eastern Area) 
Dorset County Partnership Serving 
North Dorset District Council, West Dorset District Council and Weymouth & Portland Borough 
Council. 
 
Visited premises Saturday evening 21st July 2018.  
 
Arrived at Angel Lane Car park just before 11.10pm. It was a warm and still evening with 
little other background noise. 
 
Could hear thumping beat of music in background approached Angola 76 via pathway 
adjacent Amore restaurant music became louder when I arrived at front of Armore in 
was evident the music was coming from Angola 76. 
 
It was evident that the doors in to the courtyard were open I looked through the premises 
windows and they appeared to be propped open in some way and many people could be 
heard in the yard talking over the booming music. 
 
There was no door staff. three men were outside at the time I arrived two on the small 
forecourt speaking on their phones. A group three men left and a single man left the 
premises shortly after one of the group made a call and the individual received a call so 
for a minute or two there was also four phone conversations going on out side the 
premises. One of the individual men left and followed shortly by another one man 
remained on the forecourt. Whilst I was walking up Mustons Lane to top of road junction 
with Bleke St (to see what it sounded like there) the man on forecourt spoke through the 
gate and got let back in to the premises approx 11.20pm . The three men that had left 
together were sat in the parking area adjacent giving directions to someone over the 
phone driving to the establishment it did seem from their conversation they had the 
intention of going back in but even after the driver arrived they were still talking to each 
other in the parking area when I left. at approx 11.35. 
 
During my observations I saw several groups of people leave the premises in groups of 
two or more I recall about six groups. Three of these were noisy shouting and talking on 
phones or to each other, some said heading to kings and they left premises with their 
drinks one girl (who looked very young to me) with a bottle of prosecco which got 
dropped, it did not break but made a heck of a noise. One other person in this group also 
dropped a bottle that did not break either. During the night a member of staff must have 
emptied some bottles in to a bin in the courtyard which also was very audible above the 
music which did not stop the entire time I was there.  
 
The front door was on the latch (I watched one person try it). All the windows fronting the 
domestic houses and flats in the road were shut I saw beer bottles along the side of the 
road in the gutter in front of the houses and Armore's frontage. 
 
After I left I drove past end of street and looked and listened one more time the music 
was still going and clearly audible from the junction with the high street. 
 

Page 86



To:

Mr James Cain
5 Seymer Close
Shillingstone
Blandford Forum
DT110PH
United Kingdom

                                                             Signed:

                       Nominated Officer
Applicant: Mr J Morgan
PLEASE REFER TO NOTES ENCLOSED    Dated:  9th October 2019
 

Dorset Council
South Walks House, South Walks Road, Dorchester, DT1 1UZ

01305  838336
Www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk

Town and Country Planning Act 1990
Town & Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) 
2015

REFUSAL OF PLANNING PERMISSION

Application No:  2/2018/1775/FUL Date Registered: 11 February 2019

Location of Development: Mustons Yard, Mustons Lane, Shaftesbury, Dorset, SP7 
8AD

Description of Development: Change of use of former retail/storage area to 
community venue and cafe/bar. Erect timber framed building, secure frontage and 
interior canopy (retrospective).

Refused Plans:
4186/01 Rev-A, 4186/02 Rev A

In pursuance of their power under the above mentioned Act, Dorset Council, HEREBY 
REFUSE PLANNING PERMISSION for the development described above in 
accordance with the details given in the application numbered above.
 

SEE ATTACHED
REASON(S) FOR REFUSAL

Page 87



APPLICATION No. 2/2018/1775/FUL
Mustons Yard, Mustons Lane, Shaftesbury, Dorset, SP7 8AD

REASON(S) FOR REFUSAL

1. The proposed development is considered out of context with the historic 
industrial/commercial use of these service buildings, as well as with the character of 
the densely developed back lanes of the town's historic core. The proposal, by reason 
of its location, design and materials, along with the loss of the metal railings and the 
related through views into the courtyard open space fails to preserve or enhance the 
special character and interest of this part of the Conservation Area or the setting of 
the neighbouring listed buildings. The proposal would lead to less than substantial 
harm to non designated and designated heritage assets that is not outweighed by the 
public benefit of the proposal. Furthermore, the proposal is of an inappropriate design 
that fails to relate to the character and appearance of the surrounding area. As such 
the proposal is contrary to Policies 5 and 24 of the adopted Local Plan and guidance 
contained within the National Planning Policy Framework, 2019.

2. The use of the site for a  community venue and cafe/bar, including the proposed 
covered courtyard area, operated in the manner set out in the application would give 
rise to an unacceptable level of noise and disturbance in the locality, which would be 
prejudicial to the living conditions of occupiers of the surrounding residential 
properties. As such the proposal fails to comply with Policy 25 of North Dorset Local 
Plan and guidance contained within the NPPF 2019.

National Planning Policy Framework Statement

In accordance with paragraph 38 of the NPPF the council, as local planning authority, 
takes a positive approach to development proposals and is focused on providing 
sustainable development.  The council works with applicants/agents in a positive and 
proactive manner by:

 offering a pre-application advice service, and
 as appropriate updating applications/agents of any issues that may arise 

in the processing of their application and where possible suggesting 
solutions. 

The applicant was advised that the proposal did not accord with the development plan 
and that there were no material planning considerations to outweigh these problems.

Page 88



1 of 11 

 
 

DELEGATED POWERS –  
OFFICER’S REPORT  

 

 

 

Application Type:  Full Application 
 

 

Application No:  2/2018/1775/FUL 

Applicant:   Mr J Morgan 

 

Case Officer:   Mrs Hannah Smith 

 

Recommendation Summary:  Refuse 
 

 

 
Location:   Mustons Yard, Mustons Lane, Shaftesbury, Dorset, SP7 8AD 

 
Proposal:   Change of use of former retail/storage area to community venue and 
cafe/bar. Erect timber framed building, secure frontage and interior canopy 

(retrospective). 
 

 
Planning Policies: 
 

Local Plan: 
 

Policy 1 - Sustainable Devt. 
Policy 2 - C Spatial Strategy 
Policy 4 - The Natural Env. 

Policy 5 - The Historic Env. 
Policy 11 - The Economy 

Policy 14 - Social Infra. 
Policy 18 - Shaftesbury 
Policy 23 - Parking 

Policy 24 - Design 
Policy 25 - Amenity 

Policy 27 - Comm. Facilities 
 
National Planning Policy Framework: 

 
Part 7: Requiring Good Design 

 
Para 56 - The Government attaches great importance to the design of the built 

environment. Good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, is indivisible from 
good planning, and should contribute positively to making places better for people. 
 

Para 57 - It is important to plan positively for the achievement of high quality and 
inclusive design for all development, including individual buildings, public and private 

spaces and wider area development schemes. 
 
Part 11:  Conserving and enhancing the natural environment 

 

Page 89



2 of 11 

Para 123 - Planning policies and decisions should aim to: 

 
o avoid noise from giving rise to significant adverse impacts on health and quality of 

life as a result of new development 
o mitigate and reduce to a minimum other adverse impacts on health and quality of 
life arising from noise from new development, including through the use of conditions 

o recognise that development will often create some noise and existing businesses 
wanting to develop in continuance of their business should not have unreasonable 

restrictions put on them because of changes in nearby land uses since they were 
established 
o identify and protect areas of tranquillity which have remained relatively 

undisturbed by noise and are prized for their recreational and amenity value for this 
reason.  

 
Part 12: Conserving and enhancing the historic environment 
 

Constraints: 
 

Agricultural Land Grade - Grade: GRADE 3 
Conservation Area - The Shaftesbury Conservation Area 

Parish Name - : Shaftesbury CP 
Settlement Boundary - Name: Shaftesbury 
Ward Name - Ward Name: Shaftesbury West Ward 

 
Statutory Duties (upon the LPA):  

  
Planning & Compulsory Purchase Act 2004: 
 

Section 38(5):  If to any extent a policy contained in a development plan for an area 
conflicts with another policy in the development plan, the conflict must be resolved in 

favour of the policy which is contained in the last document to be adopted, approved or 
published (as the case may be). 
 

Section 38(6):  If regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any 
determination to be made under the Planning Acts, the determination must be made in 

accordance with the plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 
 
Description of Site:    

 
The application site is located within the heart of Shaftesbury Conservation Area and 

Town Centre. The site is situated adjacent to a rear service yard and associated 
outbuildings between the rear of the listed former Crown Inn, High Street and Muston's 
Lane. These outbuildings would likely have been associated with the inn and its brewing 

industry recently evidenced, the whole of this rear enclave of outbuildings is considered 
to be of local historical and evidential value and worthy of undesignated heritage asset 

status. A large number of listed buildings surround the site, in Bell Street, High Street 
and Mustons Lane. Those most affected being within the latter and include the 
substantial former United Reformed Chapel and its churchyard and no 5, located almost 

directly opposite the courtyard entrance. The former United Reformed Chapel has been 
converted into a restaurant (Amore).   

 
The site is accessed off a narrow road known as Mustons Lane which connects the High 
Street (main retail area) to Bell Street (peripheral area of the town centre) to the north. 

The site comprises of a building and open yard area which is used as a café/bar. The use 
of the site as a café/bar is currently unauthorised.  

 

Page 90



3 of 11 

The building is constructed from stone walling under a slate roof and would have had a 

variety of commercial and storage uses due to its location to the rear of retail frontage 
properties. The rear service yards of the commercial/retail properties along the High 

Street are situated immediately to the south of the site. A building currently in 
residential use and within the applicants' ownership is located immediately on the 
northern side of the court yard. 

 
Residential properties are located to the north and north east of the site, many of which 

are listed. The closest residential property is 3 Mustons Lane which is immediately on the 
opposite side of the lane to the courtyard area within the site.  
 

The hipped side elevations of the buildings abut directly onto the roadside of the narrow 
Mustons Lane. A set of high traditional metal gates were sited between the buildings and 

close to the road as shown in photographic images from 2009. The gates were set back 
further within the site as shown in photographic images from 2016. The gates provided 
public sightlines into the central courtyard and views of the characterful surface of the 

enclosing inner stone walls, contributing positively to the historic street scene. However, 
additional material has now been attached to the existing metal gates including 

corrugated metal sheeting which limits views into the courtyard. 
 

Relevant Planning History:   
 
Application: 2/2016/1694/FUL 

Proposal: Change of Use from cafe/barn into residential accommodation and 

turning former retail area/storage barn into a cafe/bar 

(Retrospective Application). 

Decision: Refuse 

Decision Date: 18.05.2018 

Application: 2/2018/0422/FUL 

Proposal: Erect timber framed building, secure frontage and interior canopy. 

Decision: Refuse 

Decision Date: 27.06.2018 

 
Planning permission has been refused twice previously for the proposed use. The first 
application involved the change of use of the building and the second application 

included a proposed canopy to the open courtyard area. Both applications were refused 
due to the unacceptable impact that the proposal would have on the amenity of the 

area. In addition, the second application was refused due to the impact upon the 
Conservation Area and the setting of listed buildings, of the proposed canopy.  
 

Consultations: 
 

Shaftesbury TC  
Consulted on the 15 February 2019, their comments dated 21 February 2019 are as 
follows:  Support as this will be positive for local economy. 

 
Environmental Health Officer  

Consulted on the 15 February 2019, their comments dated 1 March 2019 are as follows:  
Objection, please see the full comment below. 
 

Conservation Officer South  
Consulted on the 15 February 2019, their comments dated 4 April 2019 are as follows:  

Unable to support (for reasons set out below). 
 
 

Page 91



4 of 11 

Transport Development Management  

Consulted on the 15 February 2019, their comments dated 8 March 2019 are as follows:  
No objection. 

 
DC Environmental Health Officer  
 

In responding to this application I have also had regard to Planning Application number 
2/2016/1694.  

 
The application is correctly described as retrospective, but it is important to note that, 
contrary to the application form, it appears that not all of the development is 

completed.  In particular, a canopy covering part of the existing courtyard with the 
intention of mitigating noise, is, I believe, not yet built. I am not sure whether the 

proposed internal partition has yet been constructed. This should be borne in mind 
because it means that the sound levels discussed in ISVR report 10329-R03 are 
predictive, rather than empirical.  

 
I have considerable concerns about this application. I have identified these below:  

 
1. The noise levels from customers are estimated rather than measured. Also, this sort 

of noise (from groups of people drinking and socialising, shouting, laughing etc) can be 
exceptionally annoying in nature, more so than machinery noise of the same equivalent 
continuous sound level..  

 
2. In relation to later in the evening, the background level is estimated rather than being 

measured.  
 
3. There is no information on how the anticipated 40 dB reduction by the canopy is 

derived.  
 

4. In relation to noise from amplified music, it appears that there are windows giving 
onto the remaining external yard (as proposed). It does not appear that the report 
discusses/considers these, as they have the potential to allow flanking transmission, to 

some extent potentially bypassing the proposed internal partition and potentially 
affecting the predicted attenuation of music noise generated indoors. 

 
5. For the reasons above I am not convinced that the resultant noise level outside 5 
Mustons Lane would indeed be reduced to' close to or below the background level.'  

 
6. Very significantly, the report places repeated emphasis on management, including 

keeping doors closed. It must be remembered that this application relates to a 
development which will lead to noise from people, rather than machinery etc., which is 
much more predictable and does not 'have a mind of its own'. Controlling door closure, 

access to external areas etc (eg for those wanting to smoke) can prove more difficult 
than anticipated. This is less acceptable than satisfying the planning authority that a 

development is intrinsically not going to cause an unacceptable loss of amenity; 
furthermore, I question overreliance on management - related conditions unless the 
planning authority is very satisfied that they are readily enforceable, because it puts the 

onus on the planning authority to prove a breach, which can be very difficult in such 
circumstances.  

 
At the very least, on this point, I would recommend that the 'management 
procedures', as referred to in the acoustic report, be required before any 

decision, so that they can be scrutinised for a) effectiveness and b) 
enforceability.  

 

Page 92



5 of 11 

A further consideration here is that I am aware that customers currently resort to the 

courtyard area which is proposed to be covered. Of course, this is partly due to the fact 
that the courtyard simply offers space additional to that available indoors. But there is 

an equally fundamental point at work here - and that is that, for a variety of reasons, 
people in such contexts enjoy resorting to an external space if it is available, especially 
(but not only) in warmer months. If the proposals in the acoustic report are 

implemented, customers will no longer be able to resort to an outdoors area on the 
premises. They will be completely contained indoors. This changes the nature of the 

establishment considerably.  
 
No doubt a suitably designed and installed canopy etc. has the simple acoustic potential 

to reduce noise from the part of the existing courtyard area it is proposed to cover. But I 
think this would lead to increased likelihood of people resorting to the Mustons Lane 

highway simply to 'get outside', and making noise there. The operators of Angola 76 
cannot forbid people from accessing the street. This could quite foreseeably have the 
effect of shifting part of the noise source from the premises (where at least the laws of 

statutory nuisance would apply) to the street, where they do not. There are residential 
addresses in Mustons Lane and these would inevitably be affected by such noise. Whilst, 

as mentioned, Environmental Health laws would not be able to address such street 
noise, the distinct likelihood of such a scenario, and its consequences for amenity, may 

be a material planning consideration.  
 
For the reasons above, I must recommend refusal of this application on the 

basis of the information currently presented.  
 

DC Conservation Officer  
 
This is a resubmitted scheme following a previous refusals ref: 2/2018/0422/FUL and 

2/2016/1694/FUL. 
 

The scheme has been somewhat amended in regard to the infill yard section  and the 
proposed use of timber cladding to the outside surface of the infill wall, across the mouth 
of the yard, which is an improvement over the existing attached sheeting material or the 

former metal cladding design . 
 

However, the majority of my former objections stand in terms of the proposed design's 
impact on the special character and historic interest and appearance of the Conservation 
Area streetscene, and setting of the closely located listed buildings within the lane (refer 

to 2/2018/0422/FUL).  
 

As regards the present submitted frontage design: 
o The forward location of the whole of the new infill wall across the yard entrance, in 
relation to the side walls of the historic courtyard buildings and streetside front building 

line ,creates a more intrusive element within the street, its appearance being less 
subservient and recessive than the unclad gates, as well as failing to preserve or better 

reveal the fabric of the undesignated heritage asset. 
o Its generally solid appearance impacts detrimentally in terms of the aesthetics of 
the inward looking views that existed under its former use, with its uncompromised 

traditional metal gates, the courtyard group's characterful appearance contributed 
positively to the historic streetscene.  

o The design of the front wall with its modern styled, inserted fully glazed doors, 
lacks continuity of design. If a solid timber boarded infill is to be used over maintaining 
the preferred transparent appearance, then: 

o  It is recommended that more reference should be taken in the design, from the 
traditional commercial warehouse character of the group and painted sliding timber 

Page 93



6 of 11 

boarded doors used externally, to preserve the back lane character of the street within 

the town's historic core. 
o The use of a green roof especially above the lobby area, is also completely out of 

context with this historic service area and will need high maintenance to retain it 
successfully long term. 
 

Summary  
 

Overall, the scheme is not considered to contribute positively to the setting of the 
neighbouring listed buildings and undesignated heritage assets, and to introduce a far 
more intrusive element that lacks the high quality of design appropriate for this historic 

town core site. As such,  it constitute less- than- substantial harm, which is not the same 
as acceptable harm. In this instance, it is not considered that this can be outweighed by 

public benefit. 
 
Unable to support: 

 
Reason: the proposal be reason of its location, materials and design fails to safeguard 

the significance of the designated and undesignated heritage assets and their settings. 
 

Representations:   
 
77 letters of representation were received, of which 3 offered comments which neither 

supported nor objected to the proposal, 24 objected to the proposal and 49 supported 
the proposal. 

 
The letters of objection contain the following summarised points: 
 

- Loss of residential amenity to neighbouring residential properties due to nuisance 
caused, undue/excessive noise and activity and anti-social behaviour at unsocial hours. 

- Light pollution from strobe lighting within the premises and newly installed security 
light on the outside of the northern building and close to residential property.  
- Do not consider the noise impact can be mitigated due to design of building,  

- Description of development is for a café/bar but the activities undertaken on the 
premises are those of a nightclub.  

- Relocation of entrance door to now front immediately onto road and close to 
neighbouring properties. 
- Inappropriate location in the town for the proposed use.   

- Harm to pedestrian safety as a result of door on corner of the building opening 
immediately onto the road with poor visibility.  

 
The letters of support contain the following summarised points: 
- Economic Benefits 

- Shaftesbury needs a place where you can listen to live music and be with friends in a 
great environment. 

- the new management have taken the local residents thoughts and concerns in to 
account with the proposed sound boarding.  
- It is a great venue for all ages, and will certainly help in attracting people into 

Shaftesbury. 
 

Shaftesbury Civic Society: 
 
Whilst noting they are keen to foster activity within the town centre to enhance the 

evening economy, provide safe entertainment environments for young people and to 
support the arts; raise concerns regarding amplified music and the potential for there 

being an impact on the amenity of the area. 

Page 94



7 of 11 

 

Planning Appraisal:   
 

The application is seeking planning permission for the erection of a timber framed 
building, secure frontage and interior canopy, and change of use of the building to a 
bar/restaurant/café. The proposed timber framed building would provide additional toilet 

facilities for the bar/cafe. The proposed interior canopy would provide additional space 
for bar/cafe through providing a covered yard area.  

 
The proposals follow a recent application for planning permission for the change of use 
of the bar and courtyard to a bar/cafe which was refused on the grounds of undue noise 

and disturbance to neighbours, and a subsequent application for a canopy building which 
was also refused due to the impact upon amenity and the negative impact upon the 

character an appearance of the Conservation Area.  
 
This application is seeking planning permission for the operational development and the 

change of use of the buildings and land, as set out above.  
 

The main planning considerations in this case are: 
 

- Principle of the Development 
- Design and Impact on Heritage Assets 
- Impact on Residential Amenity 

- Highway Impact 
 

Principle of the Development  
 
The site is located within the town centre of Shaftesbury, within the defined settlement 

boundary of one of the main towns within the North Dorset Area. Polices 11 and 27 of 
the Local Plan support such uses within the town centre and in view of this, there is no in 

principle policy concern in respect of the proposed use. The proposal has an economic 
benefit in terms of creating a small number of jobs and in terms of the cultural resource, 
which is evidently appreciated by a number of supporters of the proposal. The 

acceptably of the scheme is however dependent on site specific considerations, such as 
the impact on the amenity of surrounding land users, and the impact on the historic core 

of Shaftsbury.  
 
Design and Impact on Heritage Assets 

 
The site currently comprises of traditional sandstone buildings that enclose a gravel 

courtyard that would likely have once been associated with the former Crown Inn on the 
High Street and its brewing industry. The whole of this rear enclave of outbuildings is 
considered to be of local historical and evidential value and worthy of undesignated 

heritage asset status. A large number of listed buildings surround the site include the 
substantial former Non-Conformist Chapel and its churchyard located opposite the 

building and no 5, located almost directly opposite the courtyard entrance. 
 
The hipped side elevations of the two buildings enclosing the yard abut directly onto the 

roadside of the narrow Mustons Lane. There are a set of high traditional metal gates 
between the two buildings and in front of the yard. The gates with the metal railing 

design were in keeping with the metal railing fence enclosing the churchyard on the 
opposite side of Mustons Lane. These were previously set forward of the courtyard fixing 
to the front edge of the buildings and flush with Mustons Lane (circa 2009). The gates 

provided public sightlines through the metal railings into the central courtyard and views 
of the characterful surface of the enclosing inner stone walls, contributing positively to 

the historic streetscene. They were set back from the road behind a new entrance door 

Page 95



8 of 11 

to the cafe/bar (circa 2016) and more recently, the gates have been clad with materials 

including corrugated metal sheets.  
 

The proposal has been modified from the previous refusal and timber cladding is now 
proposed along Muston’s Lane, to enclose the courtyard area. There remains a 
conversation objection to the scheme as the enclosure of the courtyard area is 

considered to impact adversely on the significance of the heritage asset.  
 

It is considered that the proposals, by reason of their design and use of materials, would 
fail to preserve the historic and architectural interest of the surrounding heritage assets, 
namely the listed buildings surrounding the site and the wider Conservation Area.   

 
The solid design of the infill section along Mustons Lane is considered to impact 

detrimentally in terms of the aesthetics of the inward looking views that existed under 
its former use, with its uncompromised traditional metal gates as the courtyard group’s 
characterful appearance contributed positively to the historic streetscene.  

 
A possible solution would be to take reference from the traditional commercial 

warehouse character of the group and painted sliding timber boarded doors used 
externally, to preserve the back lane character of the street within the town’s historic 

core. The use of a green roof especially above the lobby area, is also completely out of 
context with this historic service area and will need high maintenance to retain it 
successfully long term. 

 
Therefore, it is considered that the proposed development would fail to preserve or 

enhance the significance of the designated and undesignated heritage assets and as a 
result, would constitute less than substantial harm to these heritage assets and is not 
outweighed by any public benefit. Thus, the proposal is contrary to Policy 5 of North 

Dorset Local Plan (2011-2031) and section 12 of the NPPF 2012, in particular paragraph 
134. The proposal would fail to relate in form, materials and appearance with 

surrounding development and as such would also be contrary to Policy 24 of North 
Dorset Local Plan (2011-2031) and Section 7 of the NPPF 2012.  
 

Significance   
 

This site is located in the heart of the Conservation Area, an area the County 
Archaeologist states is of considerable significance regarding the town's Saxon and 
Medieval development. The plot is situated adjacent to a rear service yard and 

associated outbuildings located at the rear of the listed former Crown Inn, (High Street) 
and Muston's Lane. Likely once associated with the inn and its brewing industry, recently 

evidenced, the whole of this rear enclave of outbuildings is considered to be of local 
historical and evidential value and worthy of undesignated heritage asset status. A large 
number of listed buildings surround the site, in Bell Street, High Street and Mustons 

Lane including the substantial former Non-Conformist Chapel and its churchyard 
opposite. 

 
This proposal is considered to contribute a negative impact on the designated and 
undesignated heritage assets. In determining the proposals due consideration has been 

given to Section 16 (Paragraphs 190,192,193,194,195,196,200) of the NPPF, Section(s) 
66/72 of the 1990 Act and Policy 5 of the Local Plan 

 
Impact on Residential Amenity  
 

Planning permission has recently been refused for the proposed bar/cafe use at this site 
on the grounds of unacceptable noise and disturbance on nearby residents. A noise 

report was submitted during the application process and concerns were raised in 

Page 96



9 of 11 

response to this from Environmental Health. The mitigation measures suggested in the 

report were the modification of the courtyard area by installing an entrance lobby across 
the front of the courtyard and also installing a glazed roof structure over the main area 

of the courtyard. These measures are now proposed as part of this planning application.  
 
Environmental Health concluded in their comments that even if the mitigation measures 

proposed were implemented in full, it is evident from the report that levels of noise from 
people in the courtyard may still lead to noise levels of significant concern at nearby 

residential property. Having regard to these concerns, it is considered that the proposed 
development would fail to mitigate the noise impact from the bar/cafe. Furthermore, no 
information has been given over the type of flat roof material forming part of the 

canopy. The remainder of the structures would be constructed of relatively light weight 
materials. Further information was requested in relation to the construction of the 

proposed canopy but this was not forthcoming.  
 
Furthermore, the proposed covered courtyard area would provide an additional space for 

the bar/cafe. Consequently, the additional space and facilities would allow for an 
increase in visitors. The proposed developments would enable the expansion of the 

unauthorised cafe/bar use. The existing cafe/bar is considered to operate in such a 
manner that causes unacceptable levels of noise and disturbance in the locality to the 

detriment of the living conditions of occupiers of the surrounding residential properties. 
Any expansion to the cafe/bar would intensify the use on the site and result in an 
increase in noise and disturbance in the locality. Whilst activity currently takes place 

within the open courtyard, any roof covering would allow for a larger area to be used in 
all conditions. The proposal effectively represents an extension of the cafe/bar which 

would bring it even closer proximity to the residential properties in the vicinity.  
 
Further information was requested, but not submitted, as follows: 

 
- Please confirm what the proposed opening times are for each day of the week. 

- Update the submitted noise assessment to include actual noise readings, rather than 
assumptions. 
- The noise survey should include an assessment of the noise generated from people 

leaving the site onto Mustons Lane. 
- Please provide me with details of the proposed structure to the courtyard. I require 

elevational drawings so that the impact on the character of the Conservation Area can be 
assessed. 
- Please can you provide me with the construction method of the structure that is 

proposed over the courtyard area. Can your acoustic consultant detail how the canopy 
should be constructed to achieve the noise reduction that is stated in the noise report? 

- Please mark the proposed smoking area on the plan and include the external toilets. 
- Provide a management plan that details how the venue will be operated. This should 
include the measures that are contained within the noise report that are indented to 

reduce the noise impact. Please bear in mind what would be enforceable in terms of 
applying a valid planning condition. 

 
It is considered that without information that uses actual sound readings, the actual 
impact of the proposal cannot be properly addressed.  

 
The proposed development to extend the café/bar, which currently operates in the levels 

of noise and disturbance manner set out in the application would give rise to 
unacceptable noise and disturbance in the locality, would be prejudicial to the living 
conditions of occupiers of the surrounding residential properties, and would negatively 

impact upon their residential amenities. As such the proposal fails to comply with Policy 
25 of North Dorset Local Plan (2011-2031) and guidance contained within the NPPF 

2012.  

Page 97



10 of 11 

 

Highway Safety  
 

Concern was raised over the position of the entrance door in the lobby area which would 
provide the sole access to the site (i.e. both the cafe/bar and the covered courtyard) 
which would open onto Mustons Lane. However, the door access is slightly set back from 

the road. Mustons Lane is a narrow unpavemented lane off the main thoroughfare 
through the town centre. The absence of a pavement means that pedestrians walk in the 

road which in conjunction with its narrowness means that vehicles are likely to be 
travelling at low speeds. Given the infrequent movements and low speeds of vehicles, it 
is not considered that there would be significant harm to pedestrian safety. The highway 

officer has raised no objection.  
 

Summary  
 
Having regard to the above, it is considered that there would be significant and undue 

harm to the amenity of nearby residents as a result of the noise impact from the 
café/bar/community venue use of the site. This weighs against the proposal. 

Furthermore, it is considered that the less than substantial harm to the Conservation 
Area and non designated heritage asset would not be outweighed by the public benefits 

of providing a café/bar/community venue in terms of the benefit to the economy. 
Significant weight must be attached to safeguarding the significance of heritage assets in 
the planning balance.  

 
Attaching significant weight to the less than substantial harm to the Conservation Area, 

coupled with the harm that would be caused to the living conditions of residents of 
Mustons Lane, this harm is not outweighed by the identified benefits of the proposal. In 
view of the forgoing, the application is recommended for refusal. 

 
Recommendation:  Refuse 

 
Reason(s) for Refusal: 
 

 
 1. The proposed development is considered out of context with the historic 

industrial/commercial use of these service buildings, as well as with the character of the 
densely developed back lanes of the town's historic core. The proposal, by reason of its 
location, design and materials, along with the loss of the metal railings and the related 

through views into the courtyard open space fails to preserve or enhance the special 
character and interest of this part of the Conservation Area or the setting of the 

neighbouring listed buildings. The proposal would lead to less than substantial harm to 
undesignated and designated heritage assets that is not outweighed by the public 
benefit of the proposal. Furthermore, the proposal is of an inappropriate design that fails 

to relate to the character and appearance of the surrounding area. As such the proposal 
is contrary to Policies 5 and 24 of the adopted Local Plan and guidance contained within 

the National Planning Policy Framework, 2019. 
 
 2. The use of the site for a café/bar including the proposed covered courtyard area 

operated in the manner set out in the application would give rise to an unacceptable 
level of noise and disturbance in the locality, which would be prejudicial to the living 

conditions of occupiers of the surrounding residential properties. As such the proposal 
fails to comply with Policy 25 of North Dorset Local Plan (2011-2031) and guidance 
contained within the NPPF 2019. 

 
 

 

Page 98



11 of 11 

Human Rights: 

This Recommendation is based on adopted Development Plan policies, the application of 
which does not prejudice the Human Rights of the applicant or any third party. 

 
Public Sector Equalities Duty (PSED) 
As set out in the Equalities Act 2010, all public bodies, in discharging their functions 

must have “due regard” to this duty. There are 3 main aims: 

Removing or minimising disadvantages suffered by people due to their protected 

characteristics. 
Taking steps to meet the needs of people with certain protected characteristics 
where these are different from the needs of other people. 

Encouraging people with certain protected characteristics to participate in public 
life or in other activities where participation is disproportionately low. 

Whilst there is no absolute requirement to fully remove any disadvantage the Duty is to 
have “regard to” and remove OR minimise disadvantage and in considering the merits of 
this planning application the planning authority has taken into consideration the 

requirements of the PSED. 

_____________________________________________________________________ 

 

Page 99



Date time, as 
recorded 
on files

time if 
stated in 
footage

Details from Licensing Officer Viewing Footage

19 April 2019 22.35 Picture unclear, people talking
20 April 2019 20.09 Very loud argument ‐ linked to premises

20.13 Doorman intervened, not allowed in
21 April 2019 23.05 Noisy people not clear where from

23.06 people going into premises shouting through gate
22 April 2019 21.34 Man urinating ‐ not seen exiting premises

22.29 unclear
26 April 2019 22.46 People leaving not exceptionally noisy

22.55 People leaving not exceptionally noisy
27 April 2019 23.01 Taxi in street

23.07 People in street ‐ Angola closed, not certain from premises

23.14
Five people come out of Angola, Loud talking, walk up road, possibly urinating in the streeet. Opposite house pointing and 
shout "fuck off". Loud calling, Sally Francis comes out and asks group to move on quietly

23.17 People leaving, SF tells camera they have not been in Angola
23.33 Person comes out of Angola to join group, noisy
23.40 Definitely some one comes out of Angola. Noisy

04 May 2019 22.13 Noisy, doorman sushing very noisy
23.28 Not clear picture, then people exiting fairly quietly
23.37 Noisy but not clear where people from
23.45 Just noisy, one person exits Angola to join a group

10 May 2019 23.06 narrative say woken by, but nothing to see

11 May 2019 23.35
3 people leave, loud talking in street, joined by 2 more, hanging around, more people leave (3) talking in the Streetnot 
overly loud. People walk up street, unclear where from

17 May 2019 22.21 Person coming out just talking
22.41 People coming out, closing time, diesel engines running for 5.5 minutes
23.37 People coming out very drunk, shouting and calling to Mrs C

18 May 2019 22.46 Not obvious people from Angola

25 May 2019 22.32

Noise in street coming out of Angola. Doorman looks to take photo of Mrs C. Licensee taking photos of Mrs C. People 
walking down street. Licensee waving and dancing round asking Mrs C "what do you want?" loud talking "Don't forget to 
smile as you're on CCTV"

P
age 100



22.34 People outside of premises including licensee
26 May 2019 23.16 Car in road, waits and then drives off, cannot see who got in or from where
01 June 2019 22.14 Person being sick in the Street, very loud but not clear where they came from

22.22 Voices, crowd, cannot see anyone so presume it is from the courtyard of Angola
22.30 Voices, not clear where from
22.43 Loud voices people outside of Angola. Two people walking down Street

06 June 2019 23.29 Courtyard gates, both velux windows open, Mrs C gives description
07 June 2019 23.18 People coming out of Angola, loud, walking up street

23.36 People come through gate of Angola, closed sign
08 June 2019 21.56 Noise of people ‐ coutyard? ‐ 

22.19 2 men in road by gate possibly peeing.
22.35 People leaving, closed sign, car running not excessively loud

22.52
2 people, may have left Angola not sure, not loud. People walked up street not from Angola, loud clomping of heels (sounds 
like a horse)

22.54
People leaving Angola, swearing in street, talking in street quietly. Couple walk up street from unknown place. Blurry shot, 
voices but unclear from where

22.58 Person in distance making noise, sound of music from somewhere
23.18 3 people leave Angola talking loudly up the road
23.36 3 people leave. In street shouting. 3 people walk up street talking loudly

14 June 2019 22.43 Car in street (taxi?) people leaving Angola loudly talking in street. Same car engine running drives off
15 June 2019 23.03 People loud in street not known where from. Closed sign in Angola

23.17
Angola Closed sign, 1 person outside, hear voices 1 person comes out. Hear talking, men shout. 3 people come out of Angola 
making noise going up road

21 June 2019 22.26 2 vehicles in street engine running. Angola closed sign. 10 or so people leave quietly both vehicles drive off

22.32
Vehicle in street engine running taxi/private hire 1 person talking to driver possibly doorman. 2 people leave quietly. Can 
hear voices from courtyard?

22.34 People coming out of Angola loudly saying goodbye
22.48 5 people leave Angola walk up street, loudish

23.10
Hear and see people outside Angola, 1 person is Andrew Francis. People talking loudly. 3 people walk up street not from 
Angola. People outside Angola getting into taxi, engine not running. Can faintly hear music.

23.19 Man allegedly having a pee. Not seen where he came from, walked down the street

23.23
4 males leave Angolaone walks up to Gateway and faces wall, floodlight goes out, it comes back on and male walks back 
down the road. People can be heard in the street. People from Angola loud in the road and walking up the road.

P
age 101



27 June 2019 21.20
Voices, not obvious from where. Car parked in gateway filming with front door open. Can hear people in street don't know 
where from. Car engine starts up

29 June 2019 21.07 Front door open, can hear music and people possibly see someone in the courtyard?
22.01 Hear people, not see anyone, window open ‐ noise possibly from courtyard
22.06 2 girls in street very loud "that lady's taking photos". People leaving loud walking up road
22.12 Hear people in background, three people leave to go down the street
22.17 4 people outside Angola in street not loudly. Sounds like gate being rattled
22.21 23.20 Hear people in the background. Couple leave

22.27
Hear people in the background. 3/4 people leave Angola and wak up road. Male voice calling "Lian". People talking loudly 
going up street. More leave and walk up road quietly

22.30 People coming out of Angola loudly saying goodbye
30 June 2019 16.44 Jazz music playing

16.50 Jazz music and voices
06 July 2019 21.51 Very loud music many people in street, windows open
Shaftesbury 22.07 Very loud in street quite a few people in street and spilling out of courtyard. Window open

Fringe 22.09 as above
22.10 23.10 as above
22.15 People heard in street man appears from opposite side. Security light comes on, possibly doing up flies?
22.17 Still a lot of people in street
22.18 As above
22.19 23.19 As above
22.26 As above
22.29 As above
22.33 As above
22.35 Still a lot of people in street
23.00 1.00 Still a lot of people in street
23.09 Very dark, people in gateway opposite
23.11 1.15 Hear people, blurry picture of people in street
23.13 People outside Angola, loud
23.15 3 people in gateway opposite. Group outside Angola
23.17 Closed sign up. People outside Angoa. Voices clealry heard. People walking up street shouting
23.18 Group in street not clear where from

23.24
Screeching girl, several people opposite in gateway, one with a dog. Group sat on floor, general people noise in street. 
People hanging around.

P
age 102



23.25 Couple of males opposite, walk down street, small group outside Angola
23.32 Small group outside Angola, loud talking, voices coming from background, courtyard?
23.33 As above
23.36 As above
23.39 As above

12 July 2019 22.10 Couple of people talking outside Angola, not clear how many.

22.33
Couple of people talking in street. Whistling and cheering can be heard, don't know where from. Car in street, people 
talking, couple come out of Angola.

23.15 People in road talking and singing. From commentary man is urinating.

23.51
Someone leaves Angola shouts a name and "he's chucked me out". Person walking around. Person goes back to Angola door 
and shouts for Roy. Both sound intoxicated. They both walk up the road talking.

13 July 2019 22.02 Loud voices, not seeing anyone ‐ courtyard? 1 doorman outside
22.05 23.00 loud voices, not seeing anyone ‐ can hear faint music ‐ courtyard? 
22.07 A large number of people outside of Angola walk up road ‐ loud voices in background, courtyard?
22.08 People walk up road, don't know where they came from. Can hear loud voices and music beat, again courtyard?
22.09 Loud voices again, loud shout but no one visible
22.12 23.15 Glass bottles being emptied into bins
22.25 People in street talking not sure where from. Possible urinating male
22.26 People leaving Angola, very loud shouting in the street
23.27 Someone outside Angola talking quietly. Person goes into Angola. Can hear music.
23.30 3 people leave Angola not talking loudly. Cat sounds

18 July 2019 22.09 2 people empty bottle bins. Several people in the street, quite quiet.

P
age 103



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Objection to the License for Angola 76 nightclub under Review 19th December 2019. 

Reasons:   

Public Nuisance   Crime and disorder   Public Safety    

 

(1) In my opinion, the narrow residential streets/lanes of Shaftesbury is a totally wrong location 
for Angola 76 nightclub  venue as the customers of all ages but particularly the younger 
customers spend time shouting to be heard while inside against very loud music and 
continue the same way when exiting. Sound, very loud voices and music can be distinctly 
heard escaping from the building and courtyard into the narrow residential streets 
throughout the evening until past closing time. 

(2)  

(3) Leaving customers very frequently stop to continue socialising, lighting cigarettes, many still 
with drink in their hands, calling to other leaving customers, shouting, shrieking, swearing, 
blatant public urinating,  showing signs of inebriation, talking loudly to the doormen who 
encourage more noise by continuing talking loudly when they should encourage customers 
to move away. The narrow streets/lanes in this residential area act as sound boxes/tunnels 
reverberating sound disturbing local residents. 

 

(4) Local acquaintances of mine have told me they avoid Muston’s Lane if they are returning 
home late evening because of the risk of meeting inebriated customers or rowdy groups. 

 

(5) Since the nightclub opened, the noise emanating from the venue and leaving customers has 
made the front rooms of my home unusable. With strobe lighting, very loud constant beat of 
loud music, dancing drinking inside the building and the blasts of noise as the doors are 
opened time and time again to access outside toilets plus the shouting, shrieking, swearing, 
bellowing noise of the customers in the open courtyard (sound box!!!) followed later at 
night by noisy exiting customers means my life is confined to my back rooms. Younger 
members of my family can heard the noise even there.  

 

(6) I would question the suitability of the owner, J. Morgan, who incongruously, sometimes 
dressed as a vampire late at night, has frequently taken photos/videos of me when I am 
awake at my bedroom window because of noise from his nightclub and leaving customers in 
the street. As  required if anything can be done to remedy the situation, I am recording 
evidence of the continuous noise pollution and inappropriate behaviour that has disturbed 
me. As well as J. Morgan, his managers and doormen who I presume are acting with J. 
Morgan’s approval,  take pictures of me in my bedroom when I get up because of loud noise 
disturbance emanating from Angola 76 nightclub and leaving noisy customers; they 
also  point me out and say my name to the persons causing the disturbance/ASB and 
criminal acts, urinating, as the person complaining about Angola 76 nightclub. 

 

Page 105



(7) I have also been approached in the town and challenged about the fact I complain about the 
disturbance from Angola 76 nightclub. I have had fists shaken at me, sworn at, told they 
know my name and where I live, had 5 broken windows, my front door damaged  and 
ASB/vandalism to the bollards outside my home-all problems that have only happened ( 
except for one broken window in 1986) in the last 4 of the 39years 11 months I have lived 
here. 

 

(8) I feel under siege in my own home and have been advised by the police not to go to my 
ground floor windows or front door in the evenings. I have had no option but to bring the 
mayhem as I see it of the gross behaviour outside my home to the authorities knowledge as 
this is and has made my life insupportable.  

Anne Cunningham. 

Page 106



 

 
 

Trethowans LLP 

5 Parkstone Road 
Poole 
Dorset 
BH15 2NL 

DX 07602  POOLE 

Telephone: +44 (0) 1202 673071 

www.trethowans.com 

 
 
 

 

  
 

STRICTLY PRIVATE AND CONFIDENTIAL 
TO BE OPENED BY ADDRESSEE ONLY 
Licensing Team 
North Dorset Area Licensing 
South Walks House 
South Walks Road 
DORCHESTER 
DT1 1UZ 

Direct Dial: 
 
Direct Fax: 
 
E-Mail: 
 
Our Ref: 
 
Your Ref: 
 
Doc Ref: 

+44 (0) 1202 339002 
 

+44 (0) 1202 680470 
 

sandra.graham@trethowans.com 
 

SDG01/CEN01/353509 
 
 
 

Doc Ref 

26 November 2019 
 
By Email: 
 
Dear Sir 
 
Licensing Act 2003 
Review of Premises Licence - Angola ‘76 Nightclub, Mustons Lane, Shaftesbury SP7 8AD 
 
We act for Mrs Cunningham of 5 Muston’s Lane and have been instructed on her behalf to make 
representations in support of the application for review of the Premises Licence for the above. 
 
The following representations made by our client as an interested party to the review are indicative of the 
manner in which our client maintains that the operation of the premises does not promoting the licensing 
objectives, and in particular that of public nuisance, but, worse still, is having a major negative impact on 
them.  The following issues have been evidenced in fact since the Premises Licence was originally granted 
in 2016 and continue to affect the living conditions of residents in the immediate area of the premises, 
including our client.  Further evidence will be adduced at the hearing but we set out below indicative issues 
of what is being experienced:- 
 
The licensed premises, Angola ’76, are situated in what is primarily a residential area in a setting close to 
listed buildings and on a narrow lane where residents’ doors and windows abut the highway due to lack of 
the existence of a pavement.  It is, consequently, not a location in which one would expect to find a night 
club and commensurate activities. The activities of patrons frequenting the premises includes, on a regular 
basis, shrieking, shouting, swearing, fighting, vomiting, urinating and general anti-social behaviour in close 
proximity to residential accommodation.  Accordingly, our client makes representations in respect of public 
nuisance under the following headings:- 
 
(i) Anti-social behaviour 
 
 For over the past two years our client has suffered from disturbance from patrons at these premises 

both during the evening whilst the courtyard at the licensed premises is in use, and, on dispersal at 
the end of the evening.  Considerable noise is commonplace from the shouting and shrieking of 
patrons who appear to wish to communicate with each other in total disregard for those inhabitants 
of the area who are trying to rest and sleep, particularly in unsociable hours.   When any approach is 
made to request that the behaviour is ameliorated this results in further abusive behaviour. In 
addition, patrons are often seen vomiting around the premises and urinating in the gutters.   On one 
occasion our client witnessed two men adjacent to the courtyard of the premises urinating up the 
walls of the building and finding it amusing to spray urine around.  On another occasion our client 
was disturbed and when she opened her front door found a woman crouching and urinating on her 
doorstep.   

Page 107



 

2 
 
 

 We understand there is a frequent smell of urine, which neighbours and visitors have commented 
upon, in Mustons Lane in the mornings. 

 
Members of our client’s family can now no longer sleep in any of the front bedrooms of her property 
due to the disturbance.  On one occasion whilst our client’s daughter was staying with her she was 
woken up three times during the night and had to go outside and request that the noise be kept 
down in the premises as she was trying to sleep and on the third occasion, on speaking to the 
manager at the premises in this regard, he suggested that she come in and have a drink instead of 
trying to sleep.  A similar occurrence arose on an occasion when her son went to the premises to 
complain of the noise late at night.  On another occasion our client’s son suffered an unprovoked 
attack by a workman who came out of the licensed premises and took issue with her son who was 
knocking on our client’s front door and punched him on the head.  

 
Our client has raised anti-social behaviour issues with members of staff at the premises on 
numerous occasions in the past either directly orally or by telephone and has been subject to verbal 
abuse. On one occasion a colleague/friend of the operator’s responded to our client that she should 
“die or move”.  Furthermore, our client has suffered five broken windows, a kicked and damaged 
front door, and has been subject to frequent rapping on her windows (adjacent to the lane) and her 
door by late night revellers. She has witnessed a window being broken when rowdy customers were 
leaving but did not dare to challenge the culprits.  Bottles and glasses have been seen being carried 
out of the premises and thrown. It is an intimidating scenario for any resident to have to suffer. 
 

(ii) Noise 
 
Music from the premises can be heard frequently within our client’s premises to the extent that 
words being sung at the premises can be identified.  There is a base beat which occurs frequently to 
such an extent that it often causes vibration within the structure and doors of our client’s premises.   
Music noise is particularly disturbing on Friday and Saturday nights and is exacerbated by the sky 
lights in the licensed premises frequently being left open and also the double access doors to the 
courtyard area being used so often for egress and access that frequent burst of louder music is a 
common occurrence and causes considerable disturbance.  On one occasion our client’s son 
complained of audible music well after the terminal hour at the premises and was told that the music 
was continuing to entertain staff while they were clearing up! The extent to which the noise and 
vibration causes a nuisance to our client has been examined by an acoustic expert commissioned to 
assess the current noise disturbances being suffered by our client. He was also asked to comment 
on any remedial matters which might ameliorate the negative impact that the said licensed premises 
are having on our client’s quality of life.  This report is produced as part of our client’s 
representations. 
 
 

(iii) Dispersal 
 
 Despite there being conditions on the Premises Licence requiring signs to be placed at the exits of 

the premises requesting patron’s to leave quietly and also requiring staff to pro-actively discourage 
patrons from loitering around the premises there appears to be total lack of management of any 
dispersal of patrons from the premises.  Patrons are frequently seen congregating outside the 
premises shouting and loudly bidding their goodbyes to each other for a considerable time before 
dispersing.  Vehicles, both private cars and taxis, frequently remain in the lane waiting for individuals 
and groups of people who are continuing loud conversations before entering the vehicles, often for 
as long as 15 minutes, during which period the vehicles engines are running and causing additional 
noise and disturbance for residents under whose windows the vehicles wait for their passengers. 
This nuisance is exacerbated by the smell of diesel fumes from the idling vehicles’ engines which 
percolates into the bedroom of our client’s property. Frequently, members of the management team 
themselves are talking within these groups and show little if any ability to manage dispersal quietly 
and efficiently.  Such behaviour does not appear to be limited to patrons on departure and our client 
witnesses similar behaviour later when staff depart. 

  
Additionally, those patrons using the courtyard or roadside to congregate and smoke results in the 
added smell of smoke penetrating into our client’s property. 

 

Page 108



 

3 
 
 

(iv) Waste removal 
 
 Despite conditions on the Premises Licence that no rubbish bins will be emptied after 11 pm and all 

deliveries shall be restricted to normal office hours, there have, firstly, on occasions been witnessed 
the noise of multiple bottles being emptied into bins long into the night after 11 pm and, secondly, 
waste removal lorries collecting from the premises as early as 6:30 am when our client has 
frequently been awoken by the noise of an avalanche of bottles being tipped into waste disposal 
lorries. 

 
(v) Light pollution 
 
 A condition on the Premises Licence requires any lighting used on the outside of the licensed 

premises to be positioned in such a way as to not disturb local residents.   Security lighting at these 
premises has been positioned approximately 12 feet opposite our client’s bedroom window.   This 
security lighting is triggered by movement and flashes on with incredible regularity throughout the 
night as each patron or group of patrons leaves the premises and any animal or vehicle passes the 
sensor. Despite requests from our client to relocate this security lighting there has been no response 
from the operator of the premises or any member of management.  

 
 
Following an assessment of the living conditions our client has experienced since the opening of these 
premises, and the evidence provided by the acoustic expert engaged, it seems apparent that the operation 
of these premises is totally lacking in any control and sensible management.  Indeed, one would expect, 
given the unlikely location for a night club, that an operator of such premises would be at pains to ensure 
that he did everything possible to respect the area in which the premises are located and the amenities of 
local residents.  It seems here that the opposite has been the case.   The operator appears to not only have 
disregard for the living conditions of neighbouring residents but has shown equal disregard for compliance 
with conditions on the Premises Licence.   Whilst planning is not strictly a relevant issue for this application 
review the operator has shown equal disregard for planning legislation and we understand has operated 
without appropriate planning consent since opening.  Support for one of the planning applications 
(2/2018/1775/FUL) was provided by an ISVR acoustic report commissioned by the licensed premises 
operator.   It can be seen from that acoustic report that a number of remedial matters were required in order 
to protect the residential area from noise emissions at the premises but despite that report in support there is 
no indication that the recommendations provided therein have ever been implemented.    
 
Whilst the review of this Premises Licence has been brought under the public nuisance licensing objective it 
is considered that arguably issues arising from these premises could equally be considered under the crime 
and disorder objective and the public safety objective. 
 
Further evidence will be produced at the hearing for this review application to supplement and expand upon 
the representations made in this letter.  
 
 
 
Yours faithfully 
 

Trethowans  
 
Trethowans LLP 
 

 
 

Page 109



 

PROTECT   ENHANCE   CONNECT
 

   
REF: EXHIBIT PR/1 

                                                                                                                             

 
 

MRS A CUNNINGHAM, 5 MUSTONS LANE, SHAFTESBURY SP7 8AD 
 NOISE EMINATING FROM PREMISES KNOWN AS ANGOLA ‘76 

____________________________________________ 
 

Acoustic Expert Report of Peter Rogers 
 

Dated 
 

24th October 2019 
_____________________________________________ 

 

Specialist Field                :                           Acoustics , Noise and Vibration 

Case Ref                          :                           - 

On behalf of                    :                           Mrs A Cunningham  

Prepared for                    :                          Trethowans LLP 

On Instructions of           :                          Trethowans LLP 

Survey Periods                 :                         19th to 20th October 2019  

 
 
 
 
 
 

Report Reference: EXIBIT PR/1  
Author: Peter Rogers BSc(Hons) MSc CEng FIOA FRSA MIOL 
 

5 Charlecote Mews, Staple Gardens, Winchester, Hampshire. SO23 8SR 
T +44 (0)1962 858800  E sa@sustainableacoustics.co.uk  W www.sustainableacoustics.co.uk 
Registered in England • Company No 08149321 • VAT Registration No 180557205 

 
        [Report format based on Academy of Experts Model Form ] 

Page 110



 

 

  

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Acoustic Expert Report of Peter Rogers 

  

MRS A CUNNINGHAM, 5 MUSTONS LANE, SHAFTESBURY 
 NOISE EMINATING FROM ANGOLA ‘76 
 
Report No.: Exhibit PR/1 
 
Date: 24 October 2019 
 
 
Prepared by: 
Peter Rogers  
BSc(Hons) MSc CEng FIOA FRSA 

 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Managing Director: Peter Rogers BSc(Hons) MSc CEng FIOA FRSA MIOL 
 

5 Charlecote Mews, Staple Gardens, Winchester, Hampshire. SO23 8SR 
T +44 (0)1962 858800  E sa@sustainableacoustics.co.uk  W www.sustainableacoustics.co.uk 
Registered in England • Company No 08149321 • VAT Registration No 180557205 

Page 111



 

 
Report of               :     Peter Rogers 
Specialist Field      :     Acoustics 
On behalf of          :     Mrs Cunningham 
Prepared for          :     Trethowans LLP  
Reference               :     EXHIBIT PR/1 

 

PROTECT   ENHANCE   CONNECT    3 Sustainable Acoustics © 2019

  

   

 

Contents 
 

1  INTRODUCTION ................................................................... 4 
2 BACKGROUND ..................................................................... 8 
3 THE TECHNICAL INVESTIGATION ......................................... 8 
4 ANAYSIS OF OTHER EVIDENCE ........................................... 15 
5 NUISANCE & STATUTORY NUISANCE ................................. 16 
6 OPINIONS .......................................................................... 17 
7 SUMMARY OF CONCLUSIONS ............................................ 20 
8 EXPERT’S DECLARATION .................................................... 21 

 
GLOSSARY  ACOUSTIC TERMINOLOGY ....................................... 23 
APPENDIX 1  RAW NOISE DATA ................................................. 25 
APPENDIX 2  ANGOLA’76 ADVERTISING .................................... 27 
APPENDIX 3  PHOTOGRAPHS ..................................................... 29 
  

 
  

Page 112



 

 
Report of               :     Peter Rogers 
Specialist Field      :     Acoustics 
On behalf of          :     Mrs Cunningham 
Prepared for          :     Trethowans LLP  
Reference               :     EXHIBIT PR/1 

 

PROTECT   ENHANCE   CONNECT    4 Sustainable Acoustics © 2019

  

   

1  INTRODUCTION 

1.1 FORMAL DETAILS 
1.1.1 My name is Peter James Rogers of Sustainable Acoustics, 5 Charlecote Mews, Staple Gardens, 

Winchester, Hampshire, SO23 8SR and I practice as a Consultant in Acoustics, Noise and Vibration.  I 
have been professionally involved in acoustics for 26 years, initially as a local authority authorised 
officer for 5 years and thereafter an independent consultant. I have undertaken environmental noise 
measurement and assessment throughout my professional career, including a particular focus on the 
assessment of nuisance as an authorised officer. I have been providing expert witness services since 
1996, and registered since 2003.   
 

1.1.2 My specialist field is in acoustics, with a particular expertise in buildings and environmental acoustics, 
noise and vibration, transfer and control. My experience as both a consultant and in local government 
allows me to be able to take a balanced view of the evidence and also form subjective judgements 
based on that experience.  I hold a Bachelor of Science honours degree in Physics with Medical Physics 
from the University of Cardiff and a Master of Science degree in Environmental and Building Acoustics 
from South Bank University, London. I am a Chartered Engineer, and a Fellow of the Institute of 
Acoustics and a Fellow of the Royal Society of Arts. I am also a member of the Institute of Licensing, 
and currently a member of a Home Office industry working group considering Licensing and Planning.  
I am also currently a Trustee of the Institute of Acoustics, and I am a registered and vetted member of 
the Register of Expert Witnesses. 
 

1.1.3 My field of expertise covers the particulars of this investigation, but is limited to not providing cost 
information on remedial works, or in the wider information provided on antisocial behaviour, or health 
affects linked with medical matters, medicines or details of sleep disturbance as these areas are not 
within my expertise. Where these are mentioned they are done so as part of providing witness of 
factual evidence only.  
 

Page 113



 

 
Report of               :     Peter Rogers 
Specialist Field      :     Acoustics 
On behalf of          :     Mrs Cunningham 
Prepared for          :     Trethowans LLP  
Reference               :     EXHIBIT PR/1 

 

PROTECT   ENHANCE   CONNECT    5 Sustainable Acoustics © 2019

  

   

1.2 THE RELEVANT PARTIES  
1.2.1 The following parties will be referred to in this report: 

i. MRS ANNE CUNNINGHAM (“AC”) 
ii. MR PETER ROGERS (“PR”) 
iii. MR KERRY PITT-KERBY, ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH (“KPK”) 
IV. DORSET COUNCIL UNITARY AUTHORITY (“DC”) 
v. SUSTAINABLE ACOUSTICS LIMITED (“SA”) 
vi. TRETHOWANS SOLICITORS LLP(“TLLP”) 
vii. VENTA ACOUSTICS (“VA”) 

1.3 THE DOCUMENTS CONSIDERED  
1.3.1 The following documents have been considered as part of the bundle and may be referred to in this 

report, although are not appended to it: 

i. VA ACOUSTIC REPORT VA2677.190709.NIA dated 12th July 2019 (“VAR”) 
ii. ISVR report dated October 2018, associated with planning application 2/2018/1775/FUL 
iii. Angola Facebook Page (“FB”) 
iv. Angola Website Page (“WP”) 

1.4    SYNOPSIS 
1.4.1 Angola’ 76 describes itself as a live music venue on its facebook page (see Appendix 2), and on its 

website angola76.co.uk describes itself as a Jungle café/ music bar. It is a licensed premises which 
operates as a nightclub, including live and pre-recorded music played by DJ’s. They advertise on their 
website as having “Live music every Thursday evening & Sunday afternoon, and say they are available 
for “private functions and party celebrations”. Opening hours are 4pm to 11pm Monday, noon to 
11pm Tuesday to Thursday and Sunday and noon to half past midnight on Fridays and Saturdays. The 
opening hours permitted under the license, as indicated on the Licensing Authorities website, are 
slightly different in that they are Sunday to Thursday 11am to 11pm, Friday to Saturday 11am to 
1.30am, with late refreshment sales permittable until 2am on those days.  

Page 114



 

 
Report of               :     Peter Rogers 
Specialist Field      :     Acoustics 
On behalf of          :     Mrs Cunningham 
Prepared for          :     Trethowans LLP  
Reference               :     EXHIBIT PR/1 

 

PROTECT   ENHANCE   CONNECT    6 Sustainable Acoustics © 2019

  

   

1.4.2 Until 2016 the premises was operated as a small nursery/ florist and a Licence was applied for to turn 
it into a café and was granted a 02:30 licence. There was no planning permission sought for the 
change of use, which remains a matter of contention to the present day after an application was 
refused on the 26th November 2018. The operation was intensified and became a music café , and 
later a nightclub. There were two additional refusals on 9th October 2019.  

1.4.3 Mrs Cunningham lives at 5  Mustons Lane, Shaftesbury, SP7 8AD, which is located opposite Angola’76 
on a narrow street, with no pavement in front of her house. Her lounge is on the ground floor with a 
front door that opens directly onto the street, and two of her bedrooms (including her own) overlook 
the street, with windows opening onto it.   

1.4.4 The Environmental Health team at DC have had official complaints from Mrs Cunningham over a 
period of time, and have served a warning notice on the premises for antisocial behaviour, after a 
planning officer attended. They have also made recordings within the premises, but Environmental 
Health had not visited to investigate by witnessing it themselves to date.  

1.4.5 PR liaised with KPK of DC and made him aware of his intentions to make a planned visit, and agreed 
to keep him informed by SMS text. On this basis he agreed to attend and witness the noise from the 
premises, which he did between 22:00 and approximately 22:30.   

1.4.6 Mrs Cunningham has made a number of recordings of incidence on her smart phone, and has sent 
these to various parties. These have not been considered in any detail, as this will form part of her 
own evidence to demonstrate how often the noise occurs and the source of it.    

1.4.7 My investigation considers whether an example of a typical Saturday night when a DJ is operating is 
likely to be sufficiently intrusive to be causing a nuisance as part of a regularly occurring operation. 
The previous measurements taken by VA over a weekend from the 5th to the 8th July of this year have 
also been taken into account, as it covered a music festival likely to be an atypical event. The results 
from this latest investigation are compared with those to benchmark a more typical impact against 
what was reported.  

Page 115



 

 
Report of               :     Peter Rogers 
Specialist Field      :     Acoustics 
On behalf of          :     Mrs Cunningham 
Prepared for          :     Trethowans LLP  
Reference               :     EXHIBIT PR/1 

 

PROTECT   ENHANCE   CONNECT    7 Sustainable Acoustics © 2019

  

   

1.4.8 My opinion is that sufficient evidence exists to meet the criminal evidential bar and that a nuisance 
does exist, which caused material interference and that considering the regularity, character of the 
area, and time of day can be considered to also therefore be a Statutory Nuisance under S79 of the 
Environmental Protection Act 1990 as it relates to noise emanating from the premises, as music and 
people noise that is made worse during dispersal in the early hours of the morning. This opinion is 
based on my witnessing the noise, taking measurements, and reviewing the other material available 
in light of the experience gained over 5 years as an authorised officer under this Act. The reasoning 
is set out in detail through this report.  

 

1.5 INSTRUCTIONS 
1.5.1  Instructions were received from TLLP to deal with the following matters : 

 Investigate a typical Saturday night of operation  
 Take acoustic measurements 
 Prepare an expert report to capture the findings, in context with the material provided, which 

included the documents listed. 

Page 116



 

 
Report of               :     Peter Rogers 
Specialist Field      :     Acoustics 
On behalf of          :     Mrs Cunningham 
Prepared for          :     Trethowans LLP  
Reference               :     EXHIBIT PR/1 

 

PROTECT   ENHANCE   CONNECT    8 Sustainable Acoustics © 2019

  

   

2 BACKGROUND 
2.1 The site location is an ancient urban town location, in Shaftesbury, in north Dorset, which is generally 

low levels of night life and streets are often quiet through the night. Mustons Lane links Bell Street and 
High Street, which loops around the town centre.  

2.2 The location is show in Figure 1 below. 

   
   Figure 1: Residential proximity to Angola ’76 

3 THE TECHNICAL INVESTIGATION 

3.1 INSTRUMENTATION USED 
3.1.1 The following equipment was used during the survey.  

 
Equipment Type Serial Number Calibration 

5 

~14m 
~20m 

Page 117



 

 
Report of               :     Peter Rogers 
Specialist Field      :     Acoustics 
On behalf of          :     Mrs Cunningham 
Prepared for          :     Trethowans LLP  
Reference               :     EXHIBIT PR/1 

 

PROTECT   ENHANCE   CONNECT    9 Sustainable Acoustics © 2019

  

   

Date Certificate no 
     
Nor145     
Norsonic Nor145 Class 1 sound level meter NOR145 14529095 11/04/19 4712116694 
Preamplifier NOR1209 22160 26/02/19 4712116694 
Microphone NOR1227 332250 26/02/19 4712116694 
Svantek SV36 SV36 83721 27/06/19 No cert number 

Table 1 : Instrumentation  

 
    

3.1.2 Prior to and on completion of the survey, the sound level meter and microphone calibration were 
checked using a SV66 Calibrator.  The calibrator was last calibrated on 27 June 2019, in accordance 
with the requirements of ISO 10012 and a calibration and conformance certificate is available.  No 
significant change in the calibration level occurred during the survey following a check on the 
completion of measurements. 

3.2 PERSONNEL 
3.2.1 Peter Rogers took all measurements and completed the analysis associated with this report.  

3.3 RESULTS 
3.3.1 The results in full are presented in Appendix 1 as octave band manual measurements over the stated 

periods, to capture the noise associated with the observations made in that table. 
3.3.2 In summary the relevant results are show overleaf in Table 2. 
3.3.3 The results are presented as four graphs Figures 2 to 5, which show the impact over the frequency 

range of interest for music noise through the night, a mixture of people noise and music and dispersal 
noise against the ambient after operations had ceased with windows open and closed.  

Page 118



 

 

Report of               :     Peter Rogers 
Specialist Field      :     Acoustics 
On behalf of          :     Mrs Cunningham 
Prepared for          :     Trethowans LLP  
Reference               :     EXHIBIT PR/1 

 

PROTECT   ENHANCE   CONNECT    10 Sustainable Acoustics © 2019

  

   

 

 

Table 2 : Summary of noise results , grouped into music noise dominated (Purple), People noise dispersal (blue), Ambient with different window configurations (green) 

   
Figure 2: Comparison over frequencies of noise from dispersal against the ambient in the bedroom   Figure 3: Comparison noise from music against the ambient in the bedroom 

Measurement Comments Time Duration LAeq LAFmax LAF,90% Lfeq 31.5 Hz Lfeq 63 Hz Lfeq 125 Hz Lfeq 250 Hz Lfeq 500 Hz Lfeq 1 kHz Lfeq 2 kHz Lfeq 4 kHz Lfeq 8 kHz
10 Bass heavy music - Robin Flack "Blured Lines" 21:59 00:49 45.9 62.3 38.5 53.3 59.7 52.9 39.9 43.3 40.9 36.5 32.6 27.3

11,12,13 av. People and music audible - window open 22:52-23:00 >3:00 41.6 54.8 31.7 58.5 52.9 47.6 39.2 40 36.7 30.8 24.8 23.5
19 Bass with window open 23:37 01:28 38.2 48.9 33.1 61.5 55.7 46.8 40.2 33.9 31.1 26.0 20.6 21.8
20 Internal glazing closed - Bass still very noticable 23:39 01:56 32.1 45.4 26.5 49.2 47.7 38.5 27.7 28.6 25.5 22.8 21.4 22.3
24 Music only - "You've got the love" 00:09 02:52 38.9 50.5 32.4 54.0 55.5 49.9 38.1 33.9 32.1 28.2 21.6 21.3

26-27 av. Dispersal: People only - window open 00:35-00:39 >02:00 63.2 79.5 41.2 43.8 42.2 44.9 53.1 60.2 58.7 57.1 47.3 34.0
28 Dispersal : People only - window closed 00:40 00:43 38.2 51.3 25.2 42.6 37.5 35.4 32.8 36.1 32.9 30.7 26.0 23.8

29-30 Av Ambient - window open 00:43-00:45 >3:00 26.7 50.2 21.1 32.9 30.9 30.1 21.1 19.5 17.3 18.8 20.6 20.6
31 Ambient - Secondary pane closed only 00:48 01:11 20.7 27.4 20.3 28.1 23.3 19.4 10.3 8.9 8.7 10.2 11.3 20.2
32 Both windows closed - No activity on Street 00:51 02:00 21.6 31.3 20.1 31.1 25.1 21.8 14.3 12.0 11.1 12.4 12.9 19.8

P
age 119



 

 

Report of               :     Peter Rogers 
Specialist Field      :     Acoustics 
On behalf of          :     Mrs Cunningham 
Prepared for          :     Trethowans LLP  
Reference               :     EXHIBIT PR/1 

 

PROTECT   ENHANCE   CONNECT    11 Sustainable Acoustics © 2019

  

   

 

  
Figure 4: Comparison over frequencies of noise from music against the ambient with windows closed in the bedroom 

 
Figure 5: Comparison over frequencies of noise from a mixture of music and people against the ambient at 0:51 in the bedroom 
* After the premises have finished is music, and people had left the areas associated with the operation of the venue. 

* 

P
age 120



 

 
Report of               :     Peter Rogers 
Specialist Field      :     Acoustics 
On behalf of          :     Mrs Cunningham 
Prepared for          :     Trethowans LLP  
Reference               :     EXHIBIT PR/1 

 

PROTECT   ENHANCE   CONNECT    12 Sustainable Acoustics © 2018

  

   

3.3.4 The results in table 2 and Figures 2 to 5 show a clear and significant impact in terms of overall levels 
and also in frequency, whether the windows are open or not.  

 

3.3.5 Of particular note is the clear bass intrusion within Figure 3, which can also be seen for the window 
closed case in Figure 4. This carried on throughout the night until 0:35, which was comparable to that 
experienced by KPK of DC during his brief visit, but more disturbing as the background levels fell. The 
existence of very low bass at 31.5Hz, which peaked at 23:37 shows a concerning increase in intrusion 
which can be felt in the chest as well as heard, and penetrated through the house.   

 

3.3.6 Also the mix of people noise from the courtyard area and music noise means that levels inside the 
bedroom are raised 20dB in almost all frequencies between 31.5Hz and 2kHz, as can be seen in Figure 
5. 

3.3.7 The levels of noise peaked at 0:35 to 0:40 hours when Figure 2 shows a bulge in sound in the 250Hz 
to 8kHz range, which is associated with speech, which is up to 40dB above the ambient levels at 
500Hz and 1kHz with no speech.  This is a very significant impact level. Even with windows closed it 
was 15dB above the ambient without it (with window closed).  

3.3.8  Considering the overall levels in Table 2 this can be summarised in terms of levels as an impact on 
the level raised above 28dB, with windows open, which was the ambient with no activity inside the 
bedroom: 

Music 
 by some 19dB to 47dB at 22:00 hours for one track where the doors to courtyard were likely to 

be open, 
 11dB to 39dB at midnight, with a strong bass element and doors expected to be closed 
 These are highly significant adverse impact levels inside the bedroom. 

People in the venue and courtyard and music 
  By some 14dB to 42dB at just before 23:00 hours as an average of three measurements 
 These are highly significant adverse impact levels inside the bedroom. 

People dispersing from the venue 
 By some 35dB to 63dB 0:35 to 0:40 hours as an average of two measurements 
 Maximums were as high as 80dB when without operation it falls to between 50dB with the 

window open.   

Page 121



 

 
Report of               :     Peter Rogers 
Specialist Field      :     Acoustics 
On behalf of          :     Mrs Cunningham 
Prepared for          :     Trethowans LLP  
Reference               :     EXHIBIT PR/1 

 

PROTECT   ENHANCE   CONNECT    13 Sustainable Acoustics © 2018

  

   

 With windows closed it was 18dB above the levels when the venue was closed. 
 These are highly significant adverse impact levels inside the bedroom. 

3.4   OBSERVATIONS 
3.4.1  I made contemporaneous notes during my observations from within the bedroom of 5 Mustons Lane, 

which were not always associated with acoustic measurements, and so are summarised more fully 
in Table 3 below, with references to photos presented in Appendix 3:  

Time Contemporaneous observation 
20:32 Blast of music – amplified voice shouted “evening tiger”. Heavy bass audible from the 

venue, with window open 
20:34 Two women whooping and looking up at the windows of the house as they passed and 

then entered the premises.   
20:37 Music mainly dominant with voices inside audible. People down at end of street 

shouted obscenity, and then went into the venue. 
20:44 Scraping sound as gate closed to courtyard  
21:00 Heard person say from other side of courtyard gates to doorman “got any speed on you 

? … the good stuff”. No response was heard.  
21:02  4 men went in as a group, quietly. The music seemed to get louder, with a noticeable 

bass beat and voices from the courtyard area 
21:14  Party of 7 go into the venue. Man and woman smoking outside talking quietly. Photo 2 

shows as they go in.   
21:17 Group of 4 go in plus 1 single man – not overly noisy.  
21:21 Heavy bass clearly audible from premises and people noise from the garden with hardly 

any noise from the street. 
21:28 Music seems to have increased. Three people outside, including one door staff.  
21:49 Two door staff now visible outside – effectively greeting people and chatting 
22:00 Mr Pitt-Kerby arrived, and stood in bedroom for some 2 minutes. Then talked in hall for 

around 10 minutes before returning to again witness music and voices from courtyard 
of venue. He left at 22:20  

22:58 Resumed observations – 5 women go in, and were followed by both door staff 
23:00 2 people left – not noisy but music  and people noise from courtyard both still very 

audible and similar to that witnessed when Mr Pitt-Kerby was present. 
23:04 6 left . One was heard saying “She complains about noise” and a girl saying “Dan .. don’t 

do it”. 
23:05 Entry of one male allowed.  

Page 122



 

 
Report of               :     Peter Rogers 
Specialist Field      :     Acoustics 
On behalf of          :     Mrs Cunningham 
Prepared for          :     Trethowans LLP  
Reference               :     EXHIBIT PR/1 

 

PROTECT   ENHANCE   CONNECT    14 Sustainable Acoustics © 2018

  

   

23:09 No one outside , music still very audible. John Morgan emerged with door staff, who 
were looking up to the bedroom window and were heard saying “the windows have 
been open most of the night” … “it’s a strange way to live your life” . This coincided 
with Mrs Cunningham going to her bedroom window to observe goings on. Music levels 
seemed to increase shortly afterwards 

23:16 Heavy bass music – able to recognise the track and hear the vocals. No one in the street, 
but people noise dominant 

23:34 String of individual people leaving and dispersing quietly 
23:37 Heavy bass continuing – noted the 31.5Hz levels to be noticeable and could feel in my 

chest inside the bedroom. Closing the window made no difference to this.  
23:46 Music continued – two women left quietly 
23:50 Tobacco smoke detectable in the bedroom  
23:50 4 young men left , one urinated by bins opposite the house. They were not noisy.  
23:54 Heavy bass music continued and was now very noticeable and more intrusive than 

earlier. Could smell smoke again.  
00:00  2 men left , with signs of intoxication and swearing loudly to each other. A rare car 

movement occurred down the street, and they walked the rest of the street without a 
sound.  

00:03 Heavy bass music again – door open to courtyard as could hear people singing inside 
clearly.  Could smell smoke again.  

00:07  4 women leaving “cackling” saying they were “heading up to Kings”. The doorman 
walked up the street with them with his arm around ones shoulder. See Photo 3. 

00:13 3 women leave venue and walk down the street chatting. 
00:17 Both doorman back outside and smoking – smoke very noticeable in bedroom.  

Heavy bass dance track audible from venue. No one is in the street.  
00:22 Group of 5 leave the premises – see photo 4. 
00:30 2 men passed down street not making any noise. Group of 8 left the venue  loudly 

shouting to each other. Doorman shouted in a deliberate way “Keep it down please – 
have a little consideration for the neighbours”.  

00:35 Music stopped 
00:38  Street filled by people exiting the premises loudly for about 2 minutes – see photo 6 
00:43 1 man on phone in street from the venue – Photo 8, otherwise empty & quiet. 

 Table 3 : Observations from bedroom window of 5 Mustons Lane on the 19th – 20th October 2019 

Page 123



 

 
Report of               :     Peter Rogers 
Specialist Field      :     Acoustics 
On behalf of          :     Mrs Cunningham 
Prepared for          :     Trethowans LLP  
Reference               :     EXHIBIT PR/1 

 

PROTECT   ENHANCE   CONNECT    15 Sustainable Acoustics © 2018

  

   

4 ANAYSIS OF OTHER EVIDENCE 

4.1 VENTA ACOUSTICS DATA (JULY 2019) 
4.1.1 The VA report in 2.2 of their report states that maximum levels of over 75dB within the same 

bedroom on the Saturday night, with LAeq values of 55 to 60dB until 23:00 hours before reducing to 
02:00 hours. Analysis of audio files indicated that this was a mixture of “music, people talking and 
noise from general revelry”.  The levels were monitored with the window open in the same way as 
during my survey. These results are not dissimilar to those report in 3.3.8. This means that this was 
not an exceptional level of impact, but typical of what is experienced on a regular basis.  

4.1.2 VA conclude the “Noise from entertainment was measured at levels considerably above the Internal 
background noise levels, by an order of 30dB”. I found this to be an underestimate of the case during 
dispersal, as stated at 3.3.8, as levels were 35dB above background. They concluded that Angola’76 
was “presenting a serious noise issue to the nearby neighbours”. 

4.1.3 The VAR supports that even during a festival that the presence of people in the street, and music 
from Angola ’76 is comparable with the regularly occurring level of impact caused by the premises 
operating with a DJ. This supports that recurrence of the very significant adverse impact has been 
established already by an independent acoustician.  

4.2 ISVR REPORT (OCT 2018) 
4.2.1   The acoustic report was based on a BS4142:2014 assessment, to support a planning application. This 

is not appropriate for assessment of entertainment noise or people noise, and this is expressly stated 
in the scope of the standard. The findings should therefore be disregarded and are unsafe to rely on 
in terms of that assessment. 

4.2.2 There are some elements worthy of mention however. The report identifies three sources of noise, 
which include breakout of amplified music and live bands and noise of customers in the courtyard, 
which are relevant.  

4.2.3 It reports the levels from music outside 5 Mustons Lane as 54 to 57 LAeq during their tests, where 
were approximately 20dB above background levels.  It concludes “this may be considered to be a 
very significant adverse impact and likely to result in complaints”.  Allowing for a reduction of 10 to 

Page 124



 

 
Report of               :     Peter Rogers 
Specialist Field      :     Acoustics 
On behalf of          :     Mrs Cunningham 
Prepared for          :     Trethowans LLP  
Reference               :     EXHIBIT PR/1 

 

PROTECT   ENHANCE   CONNECT    16 Sustainable Acoustics © 2018

  

   

15dBi for the open window this was very similar to what was measured inside the bedroom during 
my survey, and I would agree with this part of the assessment.  

4.2.4 In relation to customer noise it states the noise varied from 50 to 70dBA, some 20 to 40dB above 
background. It again concludes “this may be considered to be a very significant adverse impact and 
likely to result in complaints”.  

4.2.5  The mitigation proposed includes improvements to glazing, doors and the roof, and extensive works 
were proposed. If completed it anticipates that a level during live music outside the property would 
be reduce to 27dB(A) LAeq. This is certainly not what is happening in practice on the basis of my results 
and shows how the venues own appointed acoustic consultant has identified the problem that 
currently exist, and has not been improved. It also sets out how extensive the mitigation would need 
to be in order to address what is continuing to cause Mrs Cunningham as the occupant of 5 Muston 
Lane a very significant adverse impact and as a result justified complaints. 

4.2.6 The ISVR report supports that there is likely to be an ongoing problem without extensive mitigation, 
which has not been completed on the basis of the measurements taken during my survey.  

5   NUISANCE & STATUTORY NUISANCE 

5.1  NUISANCE  
5.1.1 When considering whether a noise is causing a nuisance, it is necessary to consider whether the 

disruption was severe enough to consider whether an average person would find it difficult to enjoy 
the external or internal areas of their property as they would expect to be able to reasonably do.  

5.1.2 If the noise would cause material interference, and when considering these other factors it may be 
possible to conclude that it is causing a nuisance:  
a) the level of the impact caused and how audible it  
b) tonal characteristics of the sound 
c) frequency of occurrence and any likely seasonal variation 
d) the motive of those making the noise, and any wider benefit to society 
e) the general background noise levels and character of the area  
f) is there a cummulative impact that might create a greater impact   
g) the context in which the noise is heard. 

 
i WHO 1999 and BS8233:2014 

Page 125



 

 
Report of               :     Peter Rogers 
Specialist Field      :     Acoustics 
On behalf of          :     Mrs Cunningham 
Prepared for          :     Trethowans LLP  
Reference               :     EXHIBIT PR/1 

 

PROTECT   ENHANCE   CONNECT    17 Sustainable Acoustics © 2018

  

   

5.2   STATUTORY NUISANCE  
5.2.1 S79(1)(g) of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 defines a statutory nuisance as “noise emitted 

from a premises so as to be prejudicial to health or a nuisance”.  The term “nuisance” is not defined 
in the statute , but it has the same meaning as nuisance in common law, as dealt with in 5.1. A duty 
is placed on the Local Authority to serve an abatement notice under S80 if it becomes satisfies that 
a statutory nuisance exists.  

5.2.2 Case law assists us to understand this in more detail. In the Court of Appeal case Barr and others v 
Biffa Waste Services Ltd [2012] EWCA Civ 312 a clear and concise resume of nuisance law is given:  

 Para 36 i: “There is no absolute standard; it is a question of degree whether the interference 
is sufficiently serious to constitute a nuisance. That is to be decided by reference to all 
circumstances of the case.” 

 Para 36 ii: “There must be a real interference with the comfort or convenience of living, 
according to the standards of the average man”. 

 Para 36 iii: “The character of the neighbourhood area must be taken into account”.  
 Para 36 iv “The duration of the interference is an element in assessing its actionability, but it 

is not a decisive factor; a temporary interference which is substantial will be an actionable 
nuisance”.  

5.2.3 In the words of Knight Bruce VC in the Walter v Selfe case of 1851 (4 De G&Sm 315, at p 322) “…not 
merely according to elegant or dainty modes and habits of living, but according to the plain and sober 
and simple notions among the English people”. 

5.2.4 A defence is available under S82(9) “ it shall be a defence to prove that the best practicable means 
were used to prevent, or to counteract the effects of, the nuisance” provided the defendant satisfies 
S82(10) condition under S79(1)(g) and the nuisance arises from on industrial, trade or business 
premises.  Angola ‘76 falls within this description as a business, but whether BPM has been achieved 
is a relevant matter for me to express my opinion on. The ISVR works suggests that the extensive 
mitigation works have not been completed, and so BPM could not be claimed.   

6 OPINIONS 
6.1.1 The matters under consideration include the listed points below:  

 Is the impact from noise from music and people using the premises of Angola ’76 attributable to that 
premises ?  

Page 126



 

 
Report of               :     Peter Rogers 
Specialist Field      :     Acoustics 
On behalf of          :     Mrs Cunningham 
Prepared for          :     Trethowans LLP  
Reference               :     EXHIBIT PR/1 

 

PROTECT   ENHANCE   CONNECT    18 Sustainable Acoustics © 2018

  

   

 Is the impact of noise from dispersal of people linked to people leaving Angola ’76 ?  
 Is the impact on the occupant of 5 Mustons Lane sufficient to be causing a nuisance and potentially 

a Statutory Nuisance ?  
 Does the evidence from VA and ISVR support that this matter is likely to recur ?    

 
6.1.2 It is my opinion that the noise I witnessed, which included music and people noise, was without doubt 

associated with the operation of Angola ’76. This included the dispersal of people from the premises, 
which I witnessed and was able to confirm was entirely associated with the premises and not passers-
by from other premises.  

6.1.3 It is my strong opinion that based on the evidence I have collected, and what I witnessed during my 
survey that Angola ’76 is causing a nuisance to Mrs Cunningham of 5 Mustons Lane for the following 
reasons: 
 The level of noise within her bedrooms with windows open or closed as a result of music, and 

people associated with the premises either in the Courtyard or as they are entering or leaving is 
sufficient to be highly likely to cause material interference, including the inability to be able to 
sleep until past 0:45 hours. This is an unreasonable time to expect a person to wait to then be 
able to sleep.  

 The tonal characteristics of the sound generated is heavy in bass and so penetrating and varied 
over time to make it particularly annoying. Also the sound of people in the courtyard is distinct 
and very audible within the bedroom, with periodic shouts and raised voices causing high 
maximums of sound that make it particularly disturbing.  The sound of people in the street 
during dispersal is very disturbing indeed as a result of the level and character and content of 
the language being used as people that have been inside the premises disperse along the street. 
It was particularly noted that compared with noise generated by other people passing, which 
was negligible the premises can be considered to be entirely responsible for the sustained noise 
impact witnessed.  

 The example experienced was with a DJ on a Saturday night that did not appear to be particularly 
busy, but is likely to be typical of what happens on a Saturday night, and therefore every week. 
As the venue operates also with Live music on other days (See Appendix 2) it is clear that this 
level of impact and greater is likely to occur and recur. Monitoring by VA in July 2019 also show 

Page 127



 

 
Report of               :     Peter Rogers 
Specialist Field      :     Acoustics 
On behalf of          :     Mrs Cunningham 
Prepared for          :     Trethowans LLP  
Reference               :     EXHIBIT PR/1 

 

PROTECT   ENHANCE   CONNECT    19 Sustainable Acoustics © 2018

  

   

that the level of impact is likely to be similar to that encountered during the festival, although 
perhaps not as sustained and consistently intrusive as that was over a whole weekend.  

 The motive of those making the noise is simply commercial and although there is a wider social 
benefit to those using the club, this benefit should not out weight the right for Mrs Cunningham 
to be not unreasonably interfered with in her home to the point where sleep is not possible until 
after 0:40 hours.  

 The character of the area, and so the context, is that the town does have other late night 
premises, and if Angola’76 was not operating then the street would be largely quiet, with some 
people passing along it, who might occasionally make some noise. This is entirely a different 
level of impact that is being suffered by Mrs Cunningham. This was illustrated after 0:40 when 
the street was completely deserted and quiet once the premises had vacated. 

 A cumulative impact is created by the blend of music from the venue and people noise from the 
courtyard, which create a level of noise that covers most of the audible spectrum within the 
facing bedrooms of 5 Mustons Lane that is very much higher than the natural ambient noise 
climate would be. The impact is then punctuated by the dispersal noise which caused maximums 
of up to 80dB in the bedroom for a short period of time, which combined to make the impact 
intolerable.       
 

6.1.3 It is my view that the evidence of VA and ISVR supports that the nuisance has and will recur.  
 

6.1.4 It is my opinion as a previously authorised officer under the Act, and with a further 20 years 
experience as an Acoustics expert that the level of impact witnessed was highly significantly adverse 
and as such was sufficient to cause a nuisance to the occupant of 5 Mustons Lane, which is likely to 
recur on a number of times a week. It is my opinion that the evidence proves beyond doubt that a 
nuisance exists, and as such could constitute a Statutory Nuisance.  

 

6.1.5 It is clear from the ISVR evidence that extensive mitigation measures were identified but it would 
appear that they have not been implemented. It is my strong opinion that such works may deal with 
some of the music noise break-out, but not the people noise from the courtyard or from the dispersal 
process, and that a nuisance would continue to exist.  As a result no clear remedy exists, beyond 
requiring the premises to cease operation.  

Page 128



 

 
Report of               :     Peter Rogers 
Specialist Field      :     Acoustics 
On behalf of          :     Mrs Cunningham 
Prepared for          :     Trethowans LLP  
Reference               :     EXHIBIT PR/1 

 

PROTECT   ENHANCE   CONNECT    20 Sustainable Acoustics © 2018

  

   

7 SUMMARY OF CONCLUSIONS 
 

7.1 Peter Rogers, a registered expert witness of Sustainable Acoustics (SA) has investigated the noise 
affecting 5 Mustons Lane, Shrewsbury and in particular within the guest bedroom of the property 
which is next to that of the occupant.    

7.2 Monitoring was conducted over the Saturday evening into Sunday morning on the 19th to 20th 
October 2019 by Mr Rogers, combined with the review of the evidence available.  

 

7.3 Mr Rogers was joined by Mr Pitt-Kerby, of Dorest Council Unitary Authority who witnessed the noise 
impact from music and people between 22:00 and 22:30 hours intermittently.    

 

7.4 It is concluded on the strength of the evidence that noise impact from music with a heavy bass beat, 
and people noise from within the venue and in the external courtyard of that venue and during 
dispersal of people form the venue did result cumulatively in a nuisance, which would have 
prevented the occupant from reasonably attempting to sleep within her bedrooms whether the 
windows were open or closed.  

7.5 The evidence available proves beyond doubt that a nuisance has occurred and is likely to recur at 5 
Mustons Lane as a result of the premises known as Angola ‘76.  

  

Page 129



 

 
Report of               :     Peter Rogers 
Specialist Field      :     Acoustics 
On behalf of          :     Mrs Cunningham 
Prepared for          :     Trethowans LLP  
Reference               :     EXHIBIT PR/1 

 

PROTECT   ENHANCE   CONNECT    21 Sustainable Acoustics © 2018

  

   

8 EXPERT’S DECLARATION  
I Peter James Rogers DECLARE THAT: 

 
8.1.1 I understand that my duty is to help the Court to achieve the overriding objective by giving 

independent assistance by way of objective, unbiased opinion on matters within my expertise, both 
in preparing reports and giving oral evidence. I understand that this duty overrides any obligation to 
the party by whom I am engaged or the person who has paid or is liable to pay me. I confirm that I 
have complied with and will continue to comply with that duty. 

8.1.2 I confirm that I have not entered into any arrangement where the amount or payment of my fees is 
in any way dependent on the outcome of the case. 

8.1.3 I know of no conflict of interest of any kind, other than any which I have disclosed in my report. 
8.1.4 I do not consider that any interest which I have disclosed affects my suitability as an expert witness 

on any issues on which I have given evidence. 
8.1.5 I will advise the party by whom I am instructed if, between the date of my report and the court case, 

there is any change in circumstances which affect my answers to points 8.1.3 and 8.1.4 above. 
8.1.6 I have shown the sources of all information I have used. 
8.1.7 I have exercised reasonable care and skill in order to be accurate and complete in preparing this 

report. 
8.1.8 I have endeavoured to include in my report those matters, of which I have knowledge or of which I 

have been made aware, that might adversely affect the validity of my opinion. I have clearly stated 
any qualifications to my opinion. 

8.1.9 I have not, without forming an independent view, included or excluded anything which has been 
suggested to me by others, including my instructing lawyers. 

8.1.10 I will notify those instructing me immediately and confirm in writing if, for any reason, my existing 
report requires any correction or qualification. 

8.1.11 I understand that; 

i. my report will form the evidence to be given under oath or affirmation; 
ii. the court may at any stage direct a discussion to take place between experts; 
iii. the court may direct that following a discussion between the experts that a statement should 

be prepared showing those issues which are agreed, and those issues which are not agreed, 
together with the reasons; 

Page 130



 

 
Report of               :     Peter Rogers 
Specialist Field      :     Acoustics 
On behalf of          :     Mrs Cunningham 
Prepared for          :     Trethowans LLP  
Reference               :     EXHIBIT PR/1 

 

PROTECT   ENHANCE   CONNECT    22 Sustainable Acoustics © 2018

  

   

iv. I may be required to attend court to be cross-examined on my report by a cross-examiner 
assisted by an expert; 

v. I am likely to be the subject of public adverse criticism by the judge/ magistrates if the Court 
concludes that I have not taken reasonable care in trying to meet the standards set out above. 

8.1.12 I have read Part 19 of the Civil Procedure Rules and the accompanying practice direction and I have 
complied with their requirements. 

8.1.13 I confirm that I have acted in accordance with the Code of Practice for Experts. 
8.1.14 I confirm that I am aware of the continuing nature of my responsibilities of disclosure and I confirm 

that I have complied with my duties to record retain and reveal material in line with my 
responsibilities. 
 
STATEMENT OF TRUTH I confirm that the contents of this report are true to the best of my knowledge 
and belief and that I make this report knowing that, if it is tendered in evidence, I would be liable to 
prosecution if I have wilfully stated anything which I know to be false or that I do not believe to be 
true.   
 

 
 
               22nd October 2019     

Signature………………………………………………………… Date…………………………………………………. 
 

  

Page 131



 

 
Report of               :     Peter Rogers 
Specialist Field      :     Acoustics 
On behalf of          :     Mrs Cunningham 
Prepared for          :     Trethowans LLP  
Reference               :     EXHIBIT PR/1 

 

PROTECT   ENHANCE   CONNECT    23 Sustainable Acoustics © 2018

  

   

 
 

  

GLOSSARY

Acoustic Terminology

Page 132



 

 
Report of               :     Peter Rogers 
Specialist Field      :     Acoustics 
On behalf of          :     Mrs Cunningham 
Prepared for          :     Trethowans LLP  
Reference               :     EXHIBIT PR/1 

 

PROTECT   ENHANCE   CONNECT    24 Sustainable Acoustics © 2018

  

   

 

ACOUSTIC TERMINOLOGY 
 
Ambient noise (sound);  the totality of noise (sound) arising from all of the sources that are normally 
present in an environment such as road traffic and mechanical services.  Noise is generally described 
as the unwanted aspects of sound. 

The decibel (dB): the decibel is a logarithmic unit used to describe the sound pressure level of sound 
(or noise). The usual range is 0 (threshold of hearing) up to 140dB (threshold of pain), with the 
reference used as Po as 2x10-5 Pascals.   

Herts(Hz) : frequency is measured in cycles per second (or hertz). Larger frequencies can be also 
noted as kilo-hertz (kHz), so 1000Hz = 1kHz. The normal range of hearing is 20Hz to 20kHz. The range 
of speech is 500Hz to 8kHz. The area of interest for bass music is the 63Hz to 125Hz region. 

Bass: Low frequency sound typically generated by loudspeakers that create sound in the frequency 
range between 125Hz and 63Hz or below.   

LAeq : the A-weighted sound pressure level relative to a reference of 2x10-5 Pascals that is the 
equivalent continuous level, which is energy average over a period T.   The descriptor is often ‘A-
weighted’ to take account of the typical response of the human ear to different frequencies (denoted 
LAeq).   

LAmax :the maximum A-weighted sound level that was recorded during the measurement time period. 

LA90 : the A-weighted sound pressure level relative to a reference of 2x10-5 Pascals that is exceeded 
for 90% of the time period (T). LA90 is used as a measure of background noise, and is included within 
BS4142: 2014.  

Background : The sound that is present for 90% of the time (LA90,T) when the noise source in question 
is not operating.  

Noise or sound:  acoustic energy in an indoor space or an external environment is perceived as 
sound.  ‘Noise’ is often defined as unwanted sound.  In the absence of a more specific description, 
‘sound’ is therefore implicitly benign or wanted. 

  

Page 133



 

 
Report of               :     Peter Rogers 
Specialist Field      :     Acoustics 
On behalf of          :     Mrs Cunningham 
Prepared for          :     Trethowans LLP  
Reference               :     EXHIBIT PR/1 

 

PROTECT   ENHANCE   CONNECT    25 Sustainable Acoustics © 2018

  

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

APPENDIX 1

RAW NOISE DATA

Page 134



 

 
Re

po
rt 

of 
    

    
    

  : 
    

Pe
ter

 Ro
ge

rs 
Sp

ec
ial

ist
 Fi

eld
    

  : 
    

Ac
ou

sti
cs 

On
 be

ha
lf o

f   
    

   :
    

 M
rs 

Cu
nn

ing
ha

m 
Pre

pa
red

 fo
r   

    
   :

    
 Tr

eth
ow

an
s L

LP
  

Re
fer

en
ce

    
    

    
   :

    
 EX

HIB
IT 

PR
/1

 
  

 


PR

OT
EC

T 
  


EN

HA
NC

E 
  


CO

NN
EC

T
 

  2
6 

Su
st

ain
ab

le
 A

co
us

tic
s ©

 2
01

9


 

 
 

 

Measurement Comments Time Duration LAeq LAFmax LAF,90% Lfeq 31.5 Hz Lfeq 63 Hz Lfeq 125 Hz Lfeq 250 Hz Lfeq 500 Hz Lfeq 1 kHz Lfeq 2 kHz Lfeq 4 kHz Lfeq 8 kHz
1 Music plus some voices (outside) + laughing (courtyard) 20:54 03:01 45.3 63.6 34.2 50.0 52.1 42.5 38.2 42.2 41.7 36.7 30.2 26.4
2 Music with strong bass 21:03 01:11 44.7 55.1 38.3 52.6 57.4 48.9 42.8 44.4 38.6 33.6 27.6 24.4
3 Music only - window open 21:11 00:31 37.4 49.1 32.7 48.1 57.2 45.0 32.3 32.1 30.3 28.0 25.1 24.6
4 Music only - window closed (single pane) 21:12 00:24 31.6 39.3 27.7 41.6 52.6 39.0 24.9 25.7 22.8 19.3 19.5 22.7
5 Heavy bass and people noise from courtyard - no street action 21:21 01:09 44.8 57.7 36.4 50.0 56.8 46.4 38.7 43.7 39.6 35.3 29.5 25.5
6 Music, doorstaff and people in courtyard - window open 21:51 00:38 43.3 59.0 36.6 47.5 56.2 45.9 39.0 41.6 37.1 35.9 29.9 26.3
7 Voices only - break in bass- window open 21:53 00:42 40.6 49.7 34.0 47.5 47.7 44.7 37.9 39.7 35.6 29.7 24.6 24.6
8 Voices and music - window open 21:54 00:11 43.8 50.6 38.0 53.0 58.5 48.3 37.4 41.9 39.4 33.3 28.2 24.9
9 music from the venue and noise of door staff talking 21:56 00:41 42.6 53.1 37.9 57.6 57.7 46.8 36.4 39.8 37.2 35.0 28.9 25.4

10 Bass heavy music - Robin Flack "Blured Lines" 21:59 00:49 45.9 62.3 38.5 53.3 59.7 52.9 39.9 43.3 40.9 36.5 32.6 27.3
11 People and music audible - window open 22:52 01:57 40.5 54.8 31.7 62.9 52.0 43.3 38.5 38.1 35.4 31.7 26.9 25.2
12 People and music audible - window open 22:54 00:29 43.2 53.9 33.9 48.7 49.8 42.4 40.6 42.4 38.8 30.3 23.1 21.4
13 People and music audible - window open 23:00 01:13 40.6 50.5 34.2 50.6 55.2 51.3 38.2 37.7 34.6 30.2 23.0 23.1
14 People noise on street from those leaving - window open 23:03 02:09 47.1 63.4 37.1 51.9 60.1 50.3 40.7 44.9 42.5 38.9 30.8 26.4
15 Bass still dominant with window internal glazing closed 23:06 00:36 33.0 42.2 27.3 53.7 49.5 37.8 26.4 29.4 26.2 24.1 22.7 22.6
16 Music noise dominant - window open 23:15 01:48 40.5 49.0 36.9 48.7 58.2 48.8 38.6 38.1 34.4 29.2 24.8 24.4
17 Break in the bass , people noise from inside- window open 23:20 01:35 42.2 51.5 37.3 48.9 58.4 50.5 41.6 40.0 36.4 30.2 24.8 23.8
19 Bass with window open 23:37 01:28 38.2 48.9 33.1 61.5 55.7 46.8 40.2 33.9 31.1 26.0 20.6 21.8
20 Internal glazing closed - Bass still very noticable 23:39 01:56 32.1 45.4 26.5 49.2 47.7 38.5 27.7 28.6 25.5 22.8 21.4 22.3
21 Music and two women leaving quietly 23:48 00:49 43.4 52.8 36.5 58.8 58.7 52.2 41.8 39.6 38.9 33.8 25.3 21.6
22 Heavy bass track - noticable and intrusive 23:54 01:48 39.2 48.5 34.1 55.3 53.6 47.7 40.7 35.1 33.8 27.1 20.3 21.8
23 Heavy Bass track with door open 00:03 00:51 38.4 50.7 32.1 54.8 55.5 45.5 36.3 34.4 32.0 29.0 26.2 24.9
24 Music only - "You've got the love" 00:09 02:52 38.9 50.5 32.4 54.0 55.5 49.9 38.1 33.9 32.1 28.2 21.6 21.3
25 Group 5 left - window open 00:23 00:59 46.8 65.0 37.0 46.9 53.8 50.3 42.4 46.5 40.1 38.2 32.7 26.5
26 Dispersal :People only - window open 00:35 01:09 57.6 78.5 41.2 40.3 38.5 43.4 48.1 57.6 51.7 47.0 38.0 29.3
27 Dispersal: People only - window open 00:39 00:55 65.6 79.5 52.6 45.7 44.1 46.0 55.4 61.9 61.2 59.9 50.1 36.2
28 Dispersal : People only - window closed 00:40 00:43 38.2 51.3 25.2 42.6 37.5 35.4 32.8 36.1 32.9 30.7 26.0 23.8
29 Ambient - window open 00:43 01:01 28.7 50.2 23.0 32.9 32.4 31.7 22.7 21.4 19.3 21.0 23.2 21.4
30 Ambient - window open 00:45 02:19 22.8 35.4 21.1 32.9 28.7 27.6 18.5 16.1 13.7 14.5 12.9 19.6
31 1st Pane closed - no activity 00:48 01:11 20.7 27.4 20.3 28.1 23.3 19.4 10.3 8.9 8.7 10.2 11.3 20.2
32 Both windows closed - No activity on Street 00:51 02:00 21.6 31.3 20.1 31.1 25.1 21.8 14.3 12.0 11.1 12.4 12.9 19.8

P
age 135



 

 
Report of               :     Peter Rogers 
Specialist Field      :     Acoustics 
On behalf of          :     Mrs Cunningham 
Prepared for          :     Trethowans LLP  
Reference               :     EXHIBIT PR/1 

 

  

PROTECT   ENHANCE   CONNECT    27 Sustainable Acoustics © 2019

  

  

 

APPENDIX 2  

ANGOLA’76 ADVERTISING 

 

 

  

Page 136



 

 
Report of               :     Peter Rogers 
Specialist Field      :     Acoustics 
On behalf of          :     Mrs Cunningham 
Prepared for          :     Trethowans LLP  
Reference               :     EXHIBIT PR/1 

 

  

PROTECT   ENHANCE   CONNECT    28 Sustainable Acoustics © 2019

  

  

From website on the 22/10/19:  

 
Extracted from facebook on the 22/10/19:  

 

Page 137



 

 
Report of               :     Peter Rogers 
Specialist Field      :     Acoustics 
On behalf of          :     Mrs Cunningham 
Prepared for          :     Trethowans LLP  
Reference               :     EXHIBIT PR/1 

 

  

PROTECT   ENHANCE   CONNECT    29 Sustainable Acoustics © 2019

  

  

 

APPENDIX 3  

PHOTOGRAPHS 

  

Page 138



 

 
Report of               :     Peter Rogers 
Specialist Field      :     Acoustics 
On behalf of          :     Mrs Cunningham 
Prepared for          :     Trethowans LLP  
Reference               :     EXHIBIT PR/1 

 

  

PROTECT   ENHANCE   CONNECT    30 Sustainable Acoustics © 2019

  

  

 
Photo 1 : 20:48 – Window open and internal secondary glazing open  

  
Photo 2 – 21:25 people going into the venue    

Page 139



 

 

Report of               :     Peter Rogers 
Specialist Field      :     Acoustics 
On behalf of          :     Mrs Cunningham 
Prepared for          :     Trethowans LLP  
Reference               :     EXHIBIT PR/1 

 

  

PROTECT   ENHANCE   CONNECT    31 Sustainable Acoustics © 2019

  

  

 
Photo 3 – 00:07 People dispersing from the venue 

 
Photo 4 – 00:21 People lingering outside venue  

Page 140



 

 
Report of               :     Peter Rogers 
Specialist Field      :     Acoustics 
On behalf of          :     Mrs Cunningham 
Prepared for          :     Trethowans LLP  
Reference               :     EXHIBIT PR/1 

 

  

PROTECT   ENHANCE   CONNECT    32 Sustainable Acoustics © 2019

  

  

 
Photo 5 – 00:38 People dispersing from the venue noisily  

 
Photo 6 – 00:42 People dispersing with male on shoulders 

Page 141



 

 
Report of               :     Peter Rogers 
Specialist Field      :     Acoustics 
On behalf of          :     Mrs Cunningham 
Prepared for          :     Trethowans LLP  
Reference               :     EXHIBIT PR/1 

 

  

PROTECT   ENHANCE   CONNECT    33 Sustainable Acoustics © 2019

  

  

  
Photo 7 – 00:43 Deserted and quiet street  Photo 8 – 00:43, last dispersing person from venue 
 

 
Photo 9 – 00:58 Staff leaving area by car 

Page 142



I live at 24 Bell Street at the immediate junction with Mustons Lane. My house 
looks directly south down Mustons Lane. The premises (Angola ’76) is 
approximately 60 metres from my front door. I live in a Grade 2 listed building 
and, accordingly, have old single glazed sash windows in common with most 
other nearby properties; therefore excessive on-street noise can be heard inside 
my house. Along the length of Bell Street there is in excess of 50 listed buildings 
the vast majority of which are residential. Mustons Lane, from the junction with 
Bell Street to Angola ’76 is also principally residential. Since Angola ’76 has 
opened there have been repeated incidents of noise and disorder occurring in 
Mustons Lane and Bell Street. The impact is such that I now do not use the front 
bedroom, which faces onto Mustons Lane (and which is now a guest bedroom),  
on weekends as family/guests will have their sleep disturbed. Furthermore, on 
the nights on which amplified ‘drum and bass’ music, or Ibiza style DJ sets, take 
place, the sub-bass sound waves penetrate the walls of my house and cause 
disturbance. This excerpt on sub-bass from Wikipedia explains the phenomenon:  
"Sub-bass sounds are the deep, low- register pitched pitches approximately 
below 60 Hz (C2 in scientific pitch notation) and extending downward to include 
the lowest frequency humans can hear, assumed at about 20 Hz (E0). In this 
range, human hearing is not very sensitive, so sounds in this range tend to be felt 
more than heard.[1] The low E-string on a bass guitar is usually tuned to 41.2 Hz. 
Sound reinforcement systems and PA systems often use one or more subwoofer 
loudspeaker cabinets that are specifically designed for amplifying sounds in the 
sub-bass range. “ 
The previous premises, Beggars Banquet, was a cocktail bar and restaurant 
occasionally featuring acoustic music and blended well with the neighbourhood. 
Angola ’76 is simply the wrong venue in the wrong place. The impact of the noise 
caused by music, and by the drunk and excited customers is much more 
detrimental to people’s quality of life than it would be in another location, for 
example, a city centre. This is a quiet, largely residential area where people are 
either working or retired and I would ask the Licensing Committee to consider 
further restrictions on the licence.  
The second point I wish to make is that the Designated Premises Supervisor is 
shown on the licence as Mr John Morgan. He is the owner of the premises but 
has now moved with his family to South Africa. The mandatory condition on the 
current licence states:  
Supply of Alcohol (s19(2)&(3)) 
 1. No supply of alcohol may be made under the premises licence - 
(a) at a time when there is no designated premises supervisor. 
Unless there is another DPS then this mandatory condition is being regularly 
breached. 
The third point I would make relates to public safety. The premises has had its 
retrospective planning application refused. There have been extensive works 
carried out within the premises - works which do not have planning permission. I 
would consider that there maybe an issue of public safety in relation to the fire 
certification and general safety. Of course, this may well be outside the scope of 

Page 143



this review and, indeed, fire certification may indeed have taken place 
notwithstanding the fact that planning permission has not been obtained. 
 
I have made a number of phone calls to Dorset Police reporting fights and 
disorder. Regrettably, I do not have the call logs reference however, Dorset 
Police would be able to supply details. 
The last significant fight I am aware of occurred when I was away on holiday. I 
believe it was a Saturday night in the last two weeks of August 2019 at about 
midnight and involved a number of Angola customers plus the uniformed 
security. I understand the police were called and attended. This was reported to 
me by the occupant of 22, Bell Street who came home whilst the fight was taking 
place outside the door of his house. 
I have photographs of a fight taking place in Mustons Lane, junction with Bell 
Street, at 23.10 hours on the 20th October, 2018. The police attended this 
incident.  
 
The current licensing conditions are unsuitable for a premises of this nature in 
the neighbourhood in which it is located. Without the adoption of significant 
restrictions the problems which have led to this review will continue. 
 
Should the premises be allowed to keep their licence then I would propose the 
following conditions: 
 
!. variation of premises opening hours to close at 2300 hours each night of the 
week 
2. Each of the activities listed under the current licence (Activities B, E, F, G, I, J) 
where the activity is listed as Time To beyond 2300 hours, to be restricted to 
2300 hours 

Page 144



My partner, Emma Field-Rayner, and I would like to raise some objections to Angola 
76' s licence. 
We live approximately 25yards away from the premises. Since it started opening as 
a late opening nightclub we have had to tolerate the following: regular smashed 
bottles and glasses on the street, vomit and urine on the street and at the side of our 
property, loud shouting and rowdy behaviour every Friday and Saturday when 
normal pubs close at 11pm and then again when the bar closes in the early hours, 
fights inside and out on the street sometimes with police involvement, but usually 
not, loud thumping dance music every Friday and Saturday nights which cannot be 
contained by the fabric of the building and which prevent us being able to open our 
windows in the summer months and live, loud music on Sunday afternoons, 
Mustons Lane is a very narrow street in a residential road with a number of elderly 
residents. We support other pubs in the area because they are positioned with space 
around them and parking. 
Mr Morgan has ignored planning rules and has been very rude to us when we have 
tried to discuss the noise levels. 
We would prefer that Angola 76 was refused a license: but what we are really 
astonished by is that it is permitted late night drinking and loud music in its 
geographical position with residential properties that front on to a pavementless 
street. 
Thank you for your attention 
Yours sincerely 
Andrew Monaghan 
 

Page 145



We would like to ask that any permissions to grant a licence for late night music and 
entertainment is refused for the above club. 
 
We live at 45a Bell Street and as such our house backs on to the car park.  We hear 
fights, screaming arguments, loud talking and general noise nuisance every 
Thursday, Friday and Saturday nights up to 3 o'clock in the morning.  We are aware 
that there are occasionally other establishments in Shaftesbury that stay open til late 
hours but we know that Angola 76 is the cause because of the regularity and the 
things we hear: 
group of men surrounding a car in the car park talking about doing lines of coke and 
going back into Angola 
girls begging their partners/friends to not drive as they were too drunk having just left 
the music in Angola - this has happened more times than we care to remember 
people obviously temporarily deafened by the music shouting at each other past 2 
oclock in the morning 
hearing clearly under age boys being threatened by older men - this happened on 
Saturday night and was extremely distressing to hear - they had followed the boy 
from Angola.  He managed to escaped otherwise we would have called the police. 
fights that occur in the car park near residents cars, and sometimes on them. 
We are not the only ones affected and what we hear is diluted compared to those 
that live in the exact vicinity but this is a residential area and used to be peaceful 
before Angola started.  It used to be a rarity to be woken in the night but it now 
happens at least 3 nights a week.   
 
We are also concerned about the number of people who actually do then drive off - 
fearing that the majority do not have a designated sober driver from what we can 
gather from the conversations. 
 
We would like to ask why this is allowed to continue as we do not believe that they 
actually have a licence for this kind of nightclub?  What do we have to do before the 
owners of Angola are brought to comply with the rules and laws that the rest of us 
have to follow? 
 
We would be very grateful to be kept informed about progress in this matter and how 
we can further explain our objections.   
 
Unfortunately we won't be able to attend the committee hearing as we both work full-
time, but may I please add for the record, we were avid supporters of Beggars 
Banquet as there was a lovely balance of socialisation and community feeling whilst, 
I believe, keeping any disturbance to neighbouring properties to a minimum.  There 
was a lot of consideration shown by the couple that ran BB and they ensured that 
customers understood the potential problems as well.   
 
Live music and late night drinking are a great idea in Shaftesbury - but NOT in the 
centre of a residential area.  Local business should always be supported when they 
add to the local community, and work in harmony with it, but not when they ignore 
local voices.  There is no empathy for the suffering that immediate neighbours are 
enduring which shows a lack of understanding of the problems they endure. 
Thank you  
Carla and Christopher Walsh 

Page 146



REF: OPPOSING Angola 76 planning permission for a night club license 
 
I am writing with reference to the above premises in Shaftesbury Dorset as i do 
believe that currently you are reviewing their license to be a nightclub. 
 
I am a resident in Angel Lane, i am 44 years old and have been living here now for 
over 8 years. 
 
I have to say that in the past year or so, the noise at 2am to 3.30am on weekend 
nights (and occasionally during the week) has been totally out of order and i do 
believe that this is down to Angola 76 as it never happened before and this is most 
weekends. Drunk people shouting up Angel Lane, running around the Angel Lane 
car park and generally being verbally disgusting and loud.  
 
I have no problem whatsoever with Angola 76 being a Community Hub and a place 
for live music and people to go for a drink but i do not understand why they have a 
late license in a built up area which is having such a negative impact on those that 
live here or how they even have the late licence now??? Surely its in the wrong 
location to be a night club when so many elderly live around it etc etc. 
 
So i am writing, well pleading with you to consider this nightclub license application 
with us in mind. I used to love living here, it was peaceful and had a village feel to it, 
but now more often than not i feel that i live in the centre of a rowdy city with drunks 
being kicked out at 2.30/3am who have no respect for those living around them. You 
do not need to have a late license to have music or be a Community hub so in my 
eyes there is no need for this place to be a nightclub. 
 
Many thanks for listening and i hope that you take my view into account when 
deciding on how to proceed. 
 

Page 147



Page 148



Page 149



We are writing to object to the application by Angola 76 nightclub for a license for 
alcohol/music at their premises in Mustons Lane, Shaftesbury. 
 
Since Angola 76 has been operating, and in breach of planning, we have been 
affected by the noise of their customers when they leave the premises late at 
night/early hours of the morning.  We do not live in Mustons Lane but in one of the 
side roads off Bell Street, and the noise from those leaving Angola 76 keeps us 
awake into the small hours on a regular basis. 
 
We are amongst those who objected to Mr Morgan's planning application for change 
of use from a quiet daytime business to a nightclub, which has now been refused 
three times.  Our objection is not to a nightclub in Shaftesbury nor to a license being 
granted as we are sure it is enjoyed by many; it is because this type of licensed 
nightclub premises is in a totally unsuitable location being in very close proximity to 
residential properties, in a built-up area, that suffer from all kinds of anti-social 
behaviour, e.g vomiting, urinating, swearing, noise, etc. 
 
Mr Morgan could argue that the late night noise we suffer does not necessarily come 
from his premises but we have lived in our current home for over fifty years and have 
only experienced this regular noise since Angola 76 nightclub has been in operation, 
so we would urge you to please refuse this application for a license on the grounds 
of public nuisance and noise. 
 
R. & J. Johnson 
10 Parsons Pool 
Shaftesbury 
SP7 8AL 
 

Page 150



Page 151



Page 152



Page 153



Page 154



Page 155



Page 156



Page 157



Page 158



Page 159



Page 160



Page 161



Page 162



Page 163



Page 164



As a resident of Bell St in Shaftesbury, I'd like to make my thoughts known on the 
License review. 
 
Firstly, I do not believe that Angola 76 is in the wrong place - I believe that it does 
indeed act as a "community hub" due to it's location - it's accessible to people who 
live in the centre of town and often has many people from different areas of the town 
there, enjoying themselves. 
 
With respect to the apparant noise complaints, I don't believe that there is much 
noise coming out from the location that could be deemed a nuisance. As someone 
who used to live above Chaffers estate agents (essentially opposite Angola), on 
each weekend, the music never got loud enough to be disruptive past 10pm. 
 
The supposed opposition to people leaving at late times is to be expected of a venue 
wherein people tend to arrive at the early evening (8, 9PM, etc.) is nothing different 
to the Grosvenor, Mitre, Ship Inn or Kings Arms. Granted, there is no "definitive" 
walkway, but the same can be said for the Italian Resteraunt in the old Church 
opposite Angola. Both locations result in people going onto the road, unless people 
from the Italian choose to walk to Angel Lane car park. It is not, as claimed in the 
paper that raised the issue, an "insolvable" problem - people leaving late do so of 
their own choice. It is not a problem that needs to be solved - that's the equivalent of 
forcefully enforcing a curfew on people who are just enjoying themselves on a Friday 
or Saturday evening. 
 
With respect to the parking argument, yes, there is no definitive parking - this is due 
to the location. However, this does result in some net income for the town or county 
council as people use council-owned car parks to keep their vehicles, and any 
contents contained within, safe. An example would be outside of the Kings Arms. So, 
while the initial point does have some merit, it dismisses the immediate resolutions 
that are observed and used often by those who visit Angola. 
 
Even so, the supposed anti-social behaviour doesn't apply. Because most people 
visit Angola late in the night and early in the evening, most disturbances would be 
carried out either within the confines of the building, or incredibly loud in the early 
hours of the morning - when most people are asleep. This gives me the impression 
that the only people who may be complaining against Angola are those who either: 

 Have trouble sleeping 
 Choose to remain awake in order to observe the "nuisances" that occur early 

in the morning 
 Link any kind of left rubbish (glasses, bottles, etc.) to people who must have 

visited Angola and not, say, the Mitre. 

Now, if Angola is operating without planning permission, it should be investigated 
and actioned on accordingly in swift time. But this should only occur following an 
initial investigation as to establish weather it is indeed operating without the 
appropriate permissions. This should also be raised with Mr J. Morgan himself, with 
documentation to prove that it was or was not granted from the countil to him. 
 

Page 165



As a final point, I've never personally had an issue with shouting, swearing, vomiting 
or anything else - either from living above Chaffers, or from where I currently live in 
Bell St. 
 
Ultimately, unless there is some kind of legal issue, such as the lack of planning 
permission or other legal requirements, then I believe that there is no issue with 
allowing Angola to continue operating as it currently does and as such, should have 
it's license renewed or issued in accordance with any findings made. 
 
If you require anything else, please don't hesitate to come back to us and I'll 
endeavour to respond when possible. 
 
Kindest regards 
 
Marc Royle 
 

Page 166



Licence review – Angola 76, Mustons Lane, Shaftesbury 
 

Environmental Health submission to the Licensing Authority in respect of the 
review of the Premises Licence for Angola 76, Shaftesbury. 

 
 
Background: 
 
Mustons Lane is in the vicinity of Shaftesbury town centre, leading off High 
Street; it is a narrow road without the benefit of pavements, with a mixture of 
commercial and domestic properties.  In addition to ‘Angola 76’, there is one 
other nearby commercial premises (Italian Restaurant) and a number of 
residential properties – the nearest being across the narrow road almost directly 
opposite Angola 76. 
 
Angola 76 is self-contained within one building with customer access directly off 
Mustons Lane.  The front façade onto the street is mostly composed of glazing.  
To the side of the building is an open yard area fronted by iron gates; this area is 
used by customers and has more recently been provided with a temporary tent-
like cover over some tables and chairs and a metal structure providing customer 
lavatories.  Access to the yard area is gained via glazed doors set within a larger 
glazed opening to the side of the building, towards the rear. 
 
The other side of the yard abuts another building which was previously operated 
under different ownership as a small vegan café under the name of ‘Beggars 
Banquet’, which provided some occasional musical entertainment.  The licence 
was subsequently transferred to Mr Morgan at the other building now operating 
as Angola 76; that licence now provides for: 
 

Opening hours: 
Sunday – Thursday   11:00 – 23:00 
Friday & Saturday   11:00 – 01:30 
 
Live Music: 
Monday & Tuesday   11:00 – 21:30 
Wednesday & Thursday  11:00 – 22:00 
Friday & Saturday   11:00 – 22:30 
Sunday    11:00 – 21:00 
 
Recorded Music: 
Sunday - Wednesday  11:00 – 22:00 
Thursday - Saturday  11:00 – 00:30 
 
Alcohol sales: 
Sunday - Thursday   11:00 – 22:30 
Friday & Saturday   11:00 – 00:30 

Page 167



However, it would seem that the building in which Angola 76 operates does not 
have the benefit of planning consent for the premises to be used as a bar and 
music venue. 
 
Dorset Council, and before it North Dorset District Council, has received over 
time a number of complaints from local residents of ‘anti-social behaviour’ by 
persons in the street and nuisance (principally noise) arising from Angola 76.  
The noise issues complained of relate to: 

 Amplified music (live performances and pre-recorded) and amplified 
speech within the building 

 Customers using the adjoining yard area, particularly later in the 
evening/night 

 Customers in the street accessing/exiting the premises, again particularly 
later in the evening/night. 

 
The activities of people in Mustons Lane – i.e. on the public highway – are 
outside of the ‘statutory nuisance’ regime enforced by the Environmental Health 
Service and this submission will therefore address only the first two bullet points 
above – noise from activities on the premises.  I understand that evidence 
regarding noise, and other alleged anti-social activities, arising from persons in 
the street, is likely to be provided by other witnesses. 
 
Amplified music: 
 
Angola 76 operates as a bar/music venue, offering a variety of music styles 
performed (usually) inside towards the rear of the building, in the area adjacent 
the glazed area and doors providing access to the yard.  The former North 
Dorset District Council initially received complaints in respect of ‘live’ 
performances of amplified music.  In accordance with standard procedures, the 
business operators were notified of the complaint in order to provide them with 
an opportunity to consider and address any changes they might wish to 
implement in order to avoid further complaints. 
 
Over time there have been further complaints from residents leading to repeated 
interactions with the owners of the business, John Morgan and Marianne Van 
Straaten.  A husband and wife team of Mr Andy and Mrs Sally Francis were 
appointed in early 2019 to manage the premises; however, Mr Morgan retains 
the position of ‘Designated Premises Supervisor’ and licence holder in terms of 
the licensing regime.  The new managers have revised the operating model with 
less emphasis upon the number of live musical performances, reducing them to a 
Thursday evening and Sunday afternoon performances, using Friday and 
Saturday nights for pre-recorded music.  The council was advised that this was 
intended to reduce the level of disturbance affecting nearby residents. 
 
  

Page 168



Customer noise: 
 
Chairs and tables and, more recently, a patio heater and ‘tent-like’ structure have 
been provided to facilitate customer use of this outside area.  Given the close 
proximity of residential premises, especially with bedroom windows overlooking 
the area, it is perhaps unsurprising that complaints have been received in respect 
of the noise generated by customers using the courtyard, particularly later into 
the evening.  By providing tables and seating, coupled with a cover and patio 
heater(s), this would appear to be designed to encourage customers to make use 
of the courtyard.  It therefore follows that customers are likely to resort to this 
area and thereby create a convivial atmosphere. 
 
Environmental Health: 
 
The Environmental Health Service (‘EHS’) has notified the operators of the 
complaints received by the council, and has endeavoured to provide basic advice 
on measures which might reduce the likelihood of causing disturbance to 
neighbours.  Staff from the Environmental Health and Licensing Teams have 
visited and met with the operators on two occasions.  The council has written to 
the operators on a number of occasions outlining the issues which have given 
rise to complaints from nearby residents. 
 
In spite of these efforts, complaints continued to be received by the council.  As a 
result of evidence obtained, the EHS served a “Warning Letter” upon the 
operators (20 February 2018), under the provisions of the Anti-social Behaviour, 
Crime and Policing Act 2014.  This is the first step before the service of a 
“Community Protection Notice” because of noise amounting to continued ‘anti-
social behaviour’.  The warning letter explained that the council was satisfied that 
noise from both amplified music and speech, and from customers on the 
premises, was having a detrimental effect upon local residents and met the 
criteriai for enforcement action as set out in the Act. 
 
A subsequent report of observations made by a Planning Enforcement Officer 
indicated that activities at the premises continued to generate off-site noise later 
in the evening which was considered likely to give rise to disturbance to nearby 
residents.  Consequently the EHS wrote to the operators (letter dated 28 August 
2018) reminding them of the ‘warning letter’ and the potential consequences for 
enforcement action in the event of confirmed further incidents of unreasonable 
disturbance. 
 
However, the council received further complaints of continued noise disturbance 
and has recently received a report from an independent acoustic consultant 
appointed by a nearby resident (copy attached); that report detailed the 
consultant’s findings during a period of observation and noise measurement on a 
Saturday evening in October this year. 
 

Page 169



 

The report is unequivocal in that it clearly identifies that the volume of (pre-
recorded) music played at the premises on that evening was clearly audible 
within the bedroom of the nearest residential premises until after midnight - times 
when most of the population would expect to be sleeping.  The author is also 
clear in their opinion that the measured volume of noise and resultant impact 
upon the resident was such as to amount to a “statutory nuisance” pursuant to 
the Environmental Protection Act 1990.  Having reviewed this report and having 
regard to the evidence previously obtained, the council has determined that the 
volume of music and amplified speech played on the premises amounts to a 
recurring nuisance and accordingly Abatement Notices have been served upon 
the Directors of the business, requiring them to ‘abate the nuisance’.   
 
Those served with Abatement Notices do have the option to appeal against the 
Notices to the Magistrates; at the time of writing we are still within the period 
when an appeal might be lodged, and it is not known whether Mr Morgan or Ms 
Van Straaten will do so.  Should an appeal be lodged the Notices will be 
suspended until such time as the matter is concluded, which is likely to be many 
months from now. 
 
The EHS believes that it should not be unduly difficult to comply with the 
Abatement Notices: 

 Reduce the volume at which amplified music and speech are played within 
the building 

 Ensure that the courtyard area is not used by customers after a given time 
in the evening, e.g. 23:00hrs.  (There is a separate area to the rear of the 
building where smoking might be permitted.) 

 Implement adequate management measures to ensure that customers 
using the courtyard area do not cause unreasonable disturbance. 

 
Summary: 
 
The evidence acquired over time shows a history of complaints from a number of 
local residents adversely affected by the activities on and around the premises 
operating as Angola 76.  Many of the issues raised are related to noise from the 
premises, matters directly under the control of the management of the business 
and these have been brought to the attention of the operators on a number of 
occasions.  Some changes to the musical offerings do appear to have led to an 
improvement in noise emissions, but it can be seen from the acoustic 
consultant’s recent report that the volume of amplified music continues to cause 
unreasonable levels of disturbance at a time when most people would be wishing 
to sleep.   
 
Despite the involvement of the council’s Environmental Protection and Licensing 
Teams, these matters have continued to give rise to complaints alleging 
nuisance.  The independent consultant’s report confirms the volume of music 

Page 170



noise impacting upon a local resident’s bedroom and the council has served 
Abatement Notices to address the recurring nuisance of noise generated on the 
premises.  It remains to be seen whether the Abatement Notices are appealed; if 
an appeal is lodged, the notices would be suspended until determined by the 
Magistrates.  There is of course the possibility that an appeal might see the 
notices dismissed following a hearing in the Magistrates’ Court. 
 
It should also be borne in mind that, even if the notices are not appealed, or are 
upheld following an appeal, compliance with their requirements does not require 
that noise from within the premises be entirely inaudible off-site (i.e. within 
nearby residential properties), only that it does not give rise to an actionable 
nuisance.  And as previously mentioned, the notices cannot address issues 
related to noise from persons in the street – i.e. customers accessing or leaving 
the premises. 
 
 
 
Footnote: 
                                            
i Section 43(1) of the Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014: 

(a) the conduct of the individual or body is having a detrimental effect, of a persistent or 
continuing nature, on the quality of life of those in the locality, and 

(b) the conduct is unreasonable 

Page 171



 

PROTECT   ENHANCE   CONNECT
 

   
REF: EXHIBIT PR/1 

                                                                                                                             

 
 

MRS A CUNNINGHAM, 5 MUSTONS LANE, SHAFTESBURY SP7 8AD 
 NOISE EMINATING FROM PREMISES KNOWN AS ANGOLA ‘76 

____________________________________________ 
 

Acoustic Expert Report of Peter Rogers 
 

Dated 
 

24th October 2019 
_____________________________________________ 

 

Specialist Field                :                           Acoustics , Noise and Vibration 

Case Ref                          :                           - 

On behalf of                    :                           Mrs A Cunningham  

Prepared for                    :                          Trethowans LLP 

On Instructions of           :                          Trethowans LLP 

Survey Periods                 :                         19th to 20th October 2019  

 
 
 
 
 
 

Report Reference: EXIBIT PR/1  
Author: Peter Rogers BSc(Hons) MSc CEng FIOA FRSA MIOL 
 

5 Charlecote Mews, Staple Gardens, Winchester, Hampshire. SO23 8SR 
T +44 (0)1962 858800  E sa@sustainableacoustics.co.uk  W www.sustainableacoustics.co.uk 
Registered in England • Company No 08149321 • VAT Registration No 180557205 

 
        [Report format based on Academy of Experts Model Form ] 

Page 172



 

 

  

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Acoustic Expert Report of Peter Rogers 

  

MRS A CUNNINGHAM, 5 MUSTONS LANE, SHAFTESBURY 
 NOISE EMINATING FROM ANGOLA ‘76 
 
Report No.: Exhibit PR/1 
 
Date: 24 October 2019 
 
 
Prepared by: 
Peter Rogers  
BSc(Hons) MSc CEng FIOA FRSA 

 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Managing Director: Peter Rogers BSc(Hons) MSc CEng FIOA FRSA MIOL 
 

5 Charlecote Mews, Staple Gardens, Winchester, Hampshire. SO23 8SR 
T +44 (0)1962 858800  E sa@sustainableacoustics.co.uk  W www.sustainableacoustics.co.uk 
Registered in England • Company No 08149321 • VAT Registration No 180557205 

Page 173



 

 
Report of               :     Peter Rogers 
Specialist Field      :     Acoustics 
On behalf of          :     Mrs Cunningham 
Prepared for          :     Trethowans LLP  
Reference               :     EXHIBIT PR/1 

 

PROTECT   ENHANCE   CONNECT    3 Sustainable Acoustics © 2019

  

   

 

Contents 
 

1  INTRODUCTION ................................................................... 4 
2 BACKGROUND ..................................................................... 8 
3 THE TECHNICAL INVESTIGATION ......................................... 8 
4 ANAYSIS OF OTHER EVIDENCE ........................................... 15 
5 NUISANCE & STATUTORY NUISANCE ................................. 16 
6 OPINIONS .......................................................................... 17 
7 SUMMARY OF CONCLUSIONS ............................................ 20 
8 EXPERT’S DECLARATION .................................................... 21 

 
GLOSSARY  ACOUSTIC TERMINOLOGY ....................................... 23 
APPENDIX 1  RAW NOISE DATA ................................................. 25 
APPENDIX 2  ANGOLA’76 ADVERTISING .................................... 27 
APPENDIX 3  PHOTOGRAPHS ..................................................... 29 
  

 
  

Page 174



 

 
Report of               :     Peter Rogers 
Specialist Field      :     Acoustics 
On behalf of          :     Mrs Cunningham 
Prepared for          :     Trethowans LLP  
Reference               :     EXHIBIT PR/1 

 

PROTECT   ENHANCE   CONNECT    4 Sustainable Acoustics © 2019

  

   

1  INTRODUCTION 

1.1 FORMAL DETAILS 
1.1.1 My name is Peter James Rogers of Sustainable Acoustics, 5 Charlecote Mews, Staple Gardens, 

Winchester, Hampshire, SO23 8SR and I practice as a Consultant in Acoustics, Noise and Vibration.  I 
have been professionally involved in acoustics for 26 years, initially as a local authority authorised 
officer for 5 years and thereafter an independent consultant. I have undertaken environmental noise 
measurement and assessment throughout my professional career, including a particular focus on the 
assessment of nuisance as an authorised officer. I have been providing expert witness services since 
1996, and registered since 2003.   
 

1.1.2 My specialist field is in acoustics, with a particular expertise in buildings and environmental acoustics, 
noise and vibration, transfer and control. My experience as both a consultant and in local government 
allows me to be able to take a balanced view of the evidence and also form subjective judgements 
based on that experience.  I hold a Bachelor of Science honours degree in Physics with Medical Physics 
from the University of Cardiff and a Master of Science degree in Environmental and Building Acoustics 
from South Bank University, London. I am a Chartered Engineer, and a Fellow of the Institute of 
Acoustics and a Fellow of the Royal Society of Arts. I am also a member of the Institute of Licensing, 
and currently a member of a Home Office industry working group considering Licensing and Planning.  
I am also currently a Trustee of the Institute of Acoustics, and I am a registered and vetted member of 
the Register of Expert Witnesses. 
 

1.1.3 My field of expertise covers the particulars of this investigation, but is limited to not providing cost 
information on remedial works, or in the wider information provided on antisocial behaviour, or health 
affects linked with medical matters, medicines or details of sleep disturbance as these areas are not 
within my expertise. Where these are mentioned they are done so as part of providing witness of 
factual evidence only.  
 

Page 175



 

 
Report of               :     Peter Rogers 
Specialist Field      :     Acoustics 
On behalf of          :     Mrs Cunningham 
Prepared for          :     Trethowans LLP  
Reference               :     EXHIBIT PR/1 

 

PROTECT   ENHANCE   CONNECT    5 Sustainable Acoustics © 2019

  

   

1.2 THE RELEVANT PARTIES  
1.2.1 The following parties will be referred to in this report: 

i. MRS ANNE CUNNINGHAM (“AC”) 
ii. MR PETER ROGERS (“PR”) 
iii. MR KERRY PITT-KERBY, ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH (“KPK”) 
IV. DORSET COUNCIL UNITARY AUTHORITY (“DC”) 
v. SUSTAINABLE ACOUSTICS LIMITED (“SA”) 
vi. TRETHOWANS SOLICITORS LLP(“TLLP”) 
vii. VENTA ACOUSTICS (“VA”) 

1.3 THE DOCUMENTS CONSIDERED  
1.3.1 The following documents have been considered as part of the bundle and may be referred to in this 

report, although are not appended to it: 

i. VA ACOUSTIC REPORT VA2677.190709.NIA dated 12th July 2019 (“VAR”) 
ii. ISVR report dated October 2018, associated with planning application 2/2018/1775/FUL 
iii. Angola Facebook Page (“FB”) 
iv. Angola Website Page (“WP”) 

1.4    SYNOPSIS 
1.4.1 Angola’ 76 describes itself as a live music venue on its facebook page (see Appendix 2), and on its 

website angola76.co.uk describes itself as a Jungle café/ music bar. It is a licensed premises which 
operates as a nightclub, including live and pre-recorded music played by DJ’s. They advertise on their 
website as having “Live music every Thursday evening & Sunday afternoon, and say they are available 
for “private functions and party celebrations”. Opening hours are 4pm to 11pm Monday, noon to 
11pm Tuesday to Thursday and Sunday and noon to half past midnight on Fridays and Saturdays. The 
opening hours permitted under the license, as indicated on the Licensing Authorities website, are 
slightly different in that they are Sunday to Thursday 11am to 11pm, Friday to Saturday 11am to 
1.30am, with late refreshment sales permittable until 2am on those days.  

Page 176



 

 
Report of               :     Peter Rogers 
Specialist Field      :     Acoustics 
On behalf of          :     Mrs Cunningham 
Prepared for          :     Trethowans LLP  
Reference               :     EXHIBIT PR/1 

 

PROTECT   ENHANCE   CONNECT    6 Sustainable Acoustics © 2019

  

   

1.4.2 Until 2016 the premises was operated as a small nursery/ florist and a Licence was applied for to turn 
it into a café and was granted a 02:30 licence. There was no planning permission sought for the 
change of use, which remains a matter of contention to the present day after an application was 
refused on the 26th November 2018. The operation was intensified and became a music café , and 
later a nightclub. There were two additional refusals on 9th October 2019.  

1.4.3 Mrs Cunningham lives at 5  Mustons Lane, Shaftesbury, SP7 8AD, which is located opposite Angola’76 
on a narrow street, with no pavement in front of her house. Her lounge is on the ground floor with a 
front door that opens directly onto the street, and two of her bedrooms (including her own) overlook 
the street, with windows opening onto it.   

1.4.4 The Environmental Health team at DC have had official complaints from Mrs Cunningham over a 
period of time, and have served a warning notice on the premises for antisocial behaviour, after a 
planning officer attended. They have also made recordings within the premises, but Environmental 
Health had not visited to investigate by witnessing it themselves to date.  

1.4.5 PR liaised with KPK of DC and made him aware of his intentions to make a planned visit, and agreed 
to keep him informed by SMS text. On this basis he agreed to attend and witness the noise from the 
premises, which he did between 22:00 and approximately 22:30.   

1.4.6 Mrs Cunningham has made a number of recordings of incidence on her smart phone, and has sent 
these to various parties. These have not been considered in any detail, as this will form part of her 
own evidence to demonstrate how often the noise occurs and the source of it.    

1.4.7 My investigation considers whether an example of a typical Saturday night when a DJ is operating is 
likely to be sufficiently intrusive to be causing a nuisance as part of a regularly occurring operation. 
The previous measurements taken by VA over a weekend from the 5th to the 8th July of this year have 
also been taken into account, as it covered a music festival likely to be an atypical event. The results 
from this latest investigation are compared with those to benchmark a more typical impact against 
what was reported.  

Page 177



 

 
Report of               :     Peter Rogers 
Specialist Field      :     Acoustics 
On behalf of          :     Mrs Cunningham 
Prepared for          :     Trethowans LLP  
Reference               :     EXHIBIT PR/1 

 

PROTECT   ENHANCE   CONNECT    7 Sustainable Acoustics © 2019

  

   

1.4.8 My opinion is that sufficient evidence exists to meet the criminal evidential bar and that a nuisance 
does exist, which caused material interference and that considering the regularity, character of the 
area, and time of day can be considered to also therefore be a Statutory Nuisance under S79 of the 
Environmental Protection Act 1990 as it relates to noise emanating from the premises, as music and 
people noise that is made worse during dispersal in the early hours of the morning. This opinion is 
based on my witnessing the noise, taking measurements, and reviewing the other material available 
in light of the experience gained over 5 years as an authorised officer under this Act. The reasoning 
is set out in detail through this report.  

 

1.5 INSTRUCTIONS 
1.5.1  Instructions were received from TLLP to deal with the following matters : 

 Investigate a typical Saturday night of operation  
 Take acoustic measurements 
 Prepare an expert report to capture the findings, in context with the material provided, which 

included the documents listed. 

Page 178



 

 
Report of               :     Peter Rogers 
Specialist Field      :     Acoustics 
On behalf of          :     Mrs Cunningham 
Prepared for          :     Trethowans LLP  
Reference               :     EXHIBIT PR/1 

 

PROTECT   ENHANCE   CONNECT    8 Sustainable Acoustics © 2019

  

   

2 BACKGROUND 
2.1 The site location is an ancient urban town location, in Shaftesbury, in north Dorset, which is generally 

low levels of night life and streets are often quiet through the night. Mustons Lane links Bell Street and 
High Street, which loops around the town centre.  

2.2 The location is show in Figure 1 below. 

   
   Figure 1: Residential proximity to Angola ’76 

3 THE TECHNICAL INVESTIGATION 

3.1 INSTRUMENTATION USED 
3.1.1 The following equipment was used during the survey.  

 
Equipment Type Serial Number Calibration 

5 

~14m 
~20m 

Page 179



 

 
Report of               :     Peter Rogers 
Specialist Field      :     Acoustics 
On behalf of          :     Mrs Cunningham 
Prepared for          :     Trethowans LLP  
Reference               :     EXHIBIT PR/1 

 

PROTECT   ENHANCE   CONNECT    9 Sustainable Acoustics © 2019

  

   

Date Certificate no 
     
Nor145     
Norsonic Nor145 Class 1 sound level meter NOR145 14529095 11/04/19 4712116694 
Preamplifier NOR1209 22160 26/02/19 4712116694 
Microphone NOR1227 332250 26/02/19 4712116694 
Svantek SV36 SV36 83721 27/06/19 No cert number 

Table 1 : Instrumentation  

 
    

3.1.2 Prior to and on completion of the survey, the sound level meter and microphone calibration were 
checked using a SV66 Calibrator.  The calibrator was last calibrated on 27 June 2019, in accordance 
with the requirements of ISO 10012 and a calibration and conformance certificate is available.  No 
significant change in the calibration level occurred during the survey following a check on the 
completion of measurements. 

3.2 PERSONNEL 
3.2.1 Peter Rogers took all measurements and completed the analysis associated with this report.  

3.3 RESULTS 
3.3.1 The results in full are presented in Appendix 1 as octave band manual measurements over the stated 

periods, to capture the noise associated with the observations made in that table. 
3.3.2 In summary the relevant results are show overleaf in Table 2. 
3.3.3 The results are presented as four graphs Figures 2 to 5, which show the impact over the frequency 

range of interest for music noise through the night, a mixture of people noise and music and dispersal 
noise against the ambient after operations had ceased with windows open and closed.  

Page 180



 

 

Report of               :     Peter Rogers 
Specialist Field      :     Acoustics 
On behalf of          :     Mrs Cunningham 
Prepared for          :     Trethowans LLP  
Reference               :     EXHIBIT PR/1 

 

PROTECT   ENHANCE   CONNECT    10 Sustainable Acoustics © 2019

  

   

 

 

Table 2 : Summary of noise results , grouped into music noise dominated (Purple), People noise dispersal (blue), Ambient with different window configurations (green) 

   
Figure 2: Comparison over frequencies of noise from dispersal against the ambient in the bedroom   Figure 3: Comparison noise from music against the ambient in the bedroom 

Measurement Comments Time Duration LAeq LAFmax LAF,90% Lfeq 31.5 Hz Lfeq 63 Hz Lfeq 125 Hz Lfeq 250 Hz Lfeq 500 Hz Lfeq 1 kHz Lfeq 2 kHz Lfeq 4 kHz Lfeq 8 kHz
10 Bass heavy music - Robin Flack "Blured Lines" 21:59 00:49 45.9 62.3 38.5 53.3 59.7 52.9 39.9 43.3 40.9 36.5 32.6 27.3

11,12,13 av. People and music audible - window open 22:52-23:00 >3:00 41.6 54.8 31.7 58.5 52.9 47.6 39.2 40 36.7 30.8 24.8 23.5
19 Bass with window open 23:37 01:28 38.2 48.9 33.1 61.5 55.7 46.8 40.2 33.9 31.1 26.0 20.6 21.8
20 Internal glazing closed - Bass still very noticable 23:39 01:56 32.1 45.4 26.5 49.2 47.7 38.5 27.7 28.6 25.5 22.8 21.4 22.3
24 Music only - "You've got the love" 00:09 02:52 38.9 50.5 32.4 54.0 55.5 49.9 38.1 33.9 32.1 28.2 21.6 21.3

26-27 av. Dispersal: People only - window open 00:35-00:39 >02:00 63.2 79.5 41.2 43.8 42.2 44.9 53.1 60.2 58.7 57.1 47.3 34.0
28 Dispersal : People only - window closed 00:40 00:43 38.2 51.3 25.2 42.6 37.5 35.4 32.8 36.1 32.9 30.7 26.0 23.8

29-30 Av Ambient - window open 00:43-00:45 >3:00 26.7 50.2 21.1 32.9 30.9 30.1 21.1 19.5 17.3 18.8 20.6 20.6
31 Ambient - Secondary pane closed only 00:48 01:11 20.7 27.4 20.3 28.1 23.3 19.4 10.3 8.9 8.7 10.2 11.3 20.2
32 Both windows closed - No activity on Street 00:51 02:00 21.6 31.3 20.1 31.1 25.1 21.8 14.3 12.0 11.1 12.4 12.9 19.8

P
age 181



 

 

Report of               :     Peter Rogers 
Specialist Field      :     Acoustics 
On behalf of          :     Mrs Cunningham 
Prepared for          :     Trethowans LLP  
Reference               :     EXHIBIT PR/1 

 

PROTECT   ENHANCE   CONNECT    11 Sustainable Acoustics © 2019

  

   

 

  
Figure 4: Comparison over frequencies of noise from music against the ambient with windows closed in the bedroom 

 
Figure 5: Comparison over frequencies of noise from a mixture of music and people against the ambient at 0:51 in the bedroom 
* After the premises have finished is music, and people had left the areas associated with the operation of the venue. 

* 

P
age 182



 

 
Report of               :     Peter Rogers 
Specialist Field      :     Acoustics 
On behalf of          :     Mrs Cunningham 
Prepared for          :     Trethowans LLP  
Reference               :     EXHIBIT PR/1 

 

PROTECT   ENHANCE   CONNECT    12 Sustainable Acoustics © 2018

  

   

3.3.4 The results in table 2 and Figures 2 to 5 show a clear and significant impact in terms of overall levels 
and also in frequency, whether the windows are open or not.  

 

3.3.5 Of particular note is the clear bass intrusion within Figure 3, which can also be seen for the window 
closed case in Figure 4. This carried on throughout the night until 0:35, which was comparable to that 
experienced by KPK of DC during his brief visit, but more disturbing as the background levels fell. The 
existence of very low bass at 31.5Hz, which peaked at 23:37 shows a concerning increase in intrusion 
which can be felt in the chest as well as heard, and penetrated through the house.   

 

3.3.6 Also the mix of people noise from the courtyard area and music noise means that levels inside the 
bedroom are raised 20dB in almost all frequencies between 31.5Hz and 2kHz, as can be seen in Figure 
5. 

3.3.7 The levels of noise peaked at 0:35 to 0:40 hours when Figure 2 shows a bulge in sound in the 250Hz 
to 8kHz range, which is associated with speech, which is up to 40dB above the ambient levels at 
500Hz and 1kHz with no speech.  This is a very significant impact level. Even with windows closed it 
was 15dB above the ambient without it (with window closed).  

3.3.8  Considering the overall levels in Table 2 this can be summarised in terms of levels as an impact on 
the level raised above 28dB, with windows open, which was the ambient with no activity inside the 
bedroom: 

Music 
 by some 19dB to 47dB at 22:00 hours for one track where the doors to courtyard were likely to 

be open, 
 11dB to 39dB at midnight, with a strong bass element and doors expected to be closed 
 These are highly significant adverse impact levels inside the bedroom. 

People in the venue and courtyard and music 
  By some 14dB to 42dB at just before 23:00 hours as an average of three measurements 
 These are highly significant adverse impact levels inside the bedroom. 

People dispersing from the venue 
 By some 35dB to 63dB 0:35 to 0:40 hours as an average of two measurements 
 Maximums were as high as 80dB when without operation it falls to between 50dB with the 

window open.   

Page 183



 

 
Report of               :     Peter Rogers 
Specialist Field      :     Acoustics 
On behalf of          :     Mrs Cunningham 
Prepared for          :     Trethowans LLP  
Reference               :     EXHIBIT PR/1 

 

PROTECT   ENHANCE   CONNECT    13 Sustainable Acoustics © 2018

  

   

 With windows closed it was 18dB above the levels when the venue was closed. 
 These are highly significant adverse impact levels inside the bedroom. 

3.4   OBSERVATIONS 
3.4.1  I made contemporaneous notes during my observations from within the bedroom of 5 Mustons Lane, 

which were not always associated with acoustic measurements, and so are summarised more fully 
in Table 3 below, with references to photos presented in Appendix 3:  

Time Contemporaneous observation 
20:32 Blast of music – amplified voice shouted “evening tiger”. Heavy bass audible from the 

venue, with window open 
20:34 Two women whooping and looking up at the windows of the house as they passed and 

then entered the premises.   
20:37 Music mainly dominant with voices inside audible. People down at end of street 

shouted obscenity, and then went into the venue. 
20:44 Scraping sound as gate closed to courtyard  
21:00 Heard person say from other side of courtyard gates to doorman “got any speed on you 

? … the good stuff”. No response was heard.  
21:02  4 men went in as a group, quietly. The music seemed to get louder, with a noticeable 

bass beat and voices from the courtyard area 
21:14  Party of 7 go into the venue. Man and woman smoking outside talking quietly. Photo 2 

shows as they go in.   
21:17 Group of 4 go in plus 1 single man – not overly noisy.  
21:21 Heavy bass clearly audible from premises and people noise from the garden with hardly 

any noise from the street. 
21:28 Music seems to have increased. Three people outside, including one door staff.  
21:49 Two door staff now visible outside – effectively greeting people and chatting 
22:00 Mr Pitt-Kerby arrived, and stood in bedroom for some 2 minutes. Then talked in hall for 

around 10 minutes before returning to again witness music and voices from courtyard 
of venue. He left at 22:20  

22:58 Resumed observations – 5 women go in, and were followed by both door staff 
23:00 2 people left – not noisy but music  and people noise from courtyard both still very 

audible and similar to that witnessed when Mr Pitt-Kerby was present. 
23:04 6 left . One was heard saying “She complains about noise” and a girl saying “Dan .. don’t 

do it”. 
23:05 Entry of one male allowed.  

Page 184



 

 
Report of               :     Peter Rogers 
Specialist Field      :     Acoustics 
On behalf of          :     Mrs Cunningham 
Prepared for          :     Trethowans LLP  
Reference               :     EXHIBIT PR/1 

 

PROTECT   ENHANCE   CONNECT    14 Sustainable Acoustics © 2018

  

   

23:09 No one outside , music still very audible. John Morgan emerged with door staff, who 
were looking up to the bedroom window and were heard saying “the windows have 
been open most of the night” … “it’s a strange way to live your life” . This coincided 
with Mrs Cunningham going to her bedroom window to observe goings on. Music levels 
seemed to increase shortly afterwards 

23:16 Heavy bass music – able to recognise the track and hear the vocals. No one in the street, 
but people noise dominant 

23:34 String of individual people leaving and dispersing quietly 
23:37 Heavy bass continuing – noted the 31.5Hz levels to be noticeable and could feel in my 

chest inside the bedroom. Closing the window made no difference to this.  
23:46 Music continued – two women left quietly 
23:50 Tobacco smoke detectable in the bedroom  
23:50 4 young men left , one urinated by bins opposite the house. They were not noisy.  
23:54 Heavy bass music continued and was now very noticeable and more intrusive than 

earlier. Could smell smoke again.  
00:00  2 men left , with signs of intoxication and swearing loudly to each other. A rare car 

movement occurred down the street, and they walked the rest of the street without a 
sound.  

00:03 Heavy bass music again – door open to courtyard as could hear people singing inside 
clearly.  Could smell smoke again.  

00:07  4 women leaving “cackling” saying they were “heading up to Kings”. The doorman 
walked up the street with them with his arm around ones shoulder. See Photo 3. 

00:13 3 women leave venue and walk down the street chatting. 
00:17 Both doorman back outside and smoking – smoke very noticeable in bedroom.  

Heavy bass dance track audible from venue. No one is in the street.  
00:22 Group of 5 leave the premises – see photo 4. 
00:30 2 men passed down street not making any noise. Group of 8 left the venue  loudly 

shouting to each other. Doorman shouted in a deliberate way “Keep it down please – 
have a little consideration for the neighbours”.  

00:35 Music stopped 
00:38  Street filled by people exiting the premises loudly for about 2 minutes – see photo 6 
00:43 1 man on phone in street from the venue – Photo 8, otherwise empty & quiet. 

 Table 3 : Observations from bedroom window of 5 Mustons Lane on the 19th – 20th October 2019 

Page 185



 

 
Report of               :     Peter Rogers 
Specialist Field      :     Acoustics 
On behalf of          :     Mrs Cunningham 
Prepared for          :     Trethowans LLP  
Reference               :     EXHIBIT PR/1 

 

PROTECT   ENHANCE   CONNECT    15 Sustainable Acoustics © 2018

  

   

4 ANAYSIS OF OTHER EVIDENCE 

4.1 VENTA ACOUSTICS DATA (JULY 2019) 
4.1.1 The VA report in 2.2 of their report states that maximum levels of over 75dB within the same 

bedroom on the Saturday night, with LAeq values of 55 to 60dB until 23:00 hours before reducing to 
02:00 hours. Analysis of audio files indicated that this was a mixture of “music, people talking and 
noise from general revelry”.  The levels were monitored with the window open in the same way as 
during my survey. These results are not dissimilar to those report in 3.3.8. This means that this was 
not an exceptional level of impact, but typical of what is experienced on a regular basis.  

4.1.2 VA conclude the “Noise from entertainment was measured at levels considerably above the Internal 
background noise levels, by an order of 30dB”. I found this to be an underestimate of the case during 
dispersal, as stated at 3.3.8, as levels were 35dB above background. They concluded that Angola’76 
was “presenting a serious noise issue to the nearby neighbours”. 

4.1.3 The VAR supports that even during a festival that the presence of people in the street, and music 
from Angola ’76 is comparable with the regularly occurring level of impact caused by the premises 
operating with a DJ. This supports that recurrence of the very significant adverse impact has been 
established already by an independent acoustician.  

4.2 ISVR REPORT (OCT 2018) 
4.2.1   The acoustic report was based on a BS4142:2014 assessment, to support a planning application. This 

is not appropriate for assessment of entertainment noise or people noise, and this is expressly stated 
in the scope of the standard. The findings should therefore be disregarded and are unsafe to rely on 
in terms of that assessment. 

4.2.2 There are some elements worthy of mention however. The report identifies three sources of noise, 
which include breakout of amplified music and live bands and noise of customers in the courtyard, 
which are relevant.  

4.2.3 It reports the levels from music outside 5 Mustons Lane as 54 to 57 LAeq during their tests, where 
were approximately 20dB above background levels.  It concludes “this may be considered to be a 
very significant adverse impact and likely to result in complaints”.  Allowing for a reduction of 10 to 

Page 186



 

 
Report of               :     Peter Rogers 
Specialist Field      :     Acoustics 
On behalf of          :     Mrs Cunningham 
Prepared for          :     Trethowans LLP  
Reference               :     EXHIBIT PR/1 

 

PROTECT   ENHANCE   CONNECT    16 Sustainable Acoustics © 2018

  

   

15dBi for the open window this was very similar to what was measured inside the bedroom during 
my survey, and I would agree with this part of the assessment.  

4.2.4 In relation to customer noise it states the noise varied from 50 to 70dBA, some 20 to 40dB above 
background. It again concludes “this may be considered to be a very significant adverse impact and 
likely to result in complaints”.  

4.2.5  The mitigation proposed includes improvements to glazing, doors and the roof, and extensive works 
were proposed. If completed it anticipates that a level during live music outside the property would 
be reduce to 27dB(A) LAeq. This is certainly not what is happening in practice on the basis of my results 
and shows how the venues own appointed acoustic consultant has identified the problem that 
currently exist, and has not been improved. It also sets out how extensive the mitigation would need 
to be in order to address what is continuing to cause Mrs Cunningham as the occupant of 5 Muston 
Lane a very significant adverse impact and as a result justified complaints. 

4.2.6 The ISVR report supports that there is likely to be an ongoing problem without extensive mitigation, 
which has not been completed on the basis of the measurements taken during my survey.  

5   NUISANCE & STATUTORY NUISANCE 

5.1  NUISANCE  
5.1.1 When considering whether a noise is causing a nuisance, it is necessary to consider whether the 

disruption was severe enough to consider whether an average person would find it difficult to enjoy 
the external or internal areas of their property as they would expect to be able to reasonably do.  

5.1.2 If the noise would cause material interference, and when considering these other factors it may be 
possible to conclude that it is causing a nuisance:  
a) the level of the impact caused and how audible it  
b) tonal characteristics of the sound 
c) frequency of occurrence and any likely seasonal variation 
d) the motive of those making the noise, and any wider benefit to society 
e) the general background noise levels and character of the area  
f) is there a cummulative impact that might create a greater impact   
g) the context in which the noise is heard. 

 
i WHO 1999 and BS8233:2014 

Page 187



 

 
Report of               :     Peter Rogers 
Specialist Field      :     Acoustics 
On behalf of          :     Mrs Cunningham 
Prepared for          :     Trethowans LLP  
Reference               :     EXHIBIT PR/1 

 

PROTECT   ENHANCE   CONNECT    17 Sustainable Acoustics © 2018

  

   

5.2   STATUTORY NUISANCE  
5.2.1 S79(1)(g) of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 defines a statutory nuisance as “noise emitted 

from a premises so as to be prejudicial to health or a nuisance”.  The term “nuisance” is not defined 
in the statute , but it has the same meaning as nuisance in common law, as dealt with in 5.1. A duty 
is placed on the Local Authority to serve an abatement notice under S80 if it becomes satisfies that 
a statutory nuisance exists.  

5.2.2 Case law assists us to understand this in more detail. In the Court of Appeal case Barr and others v 
Biffa Waste Services Ltd [2012] EWCA Civ 312 a clear and concise resume of nuisance law is given:  

 Para 36 i: “There is no absolute standard; it is a question of degree whether the interference 
is sufficiently serious to constitute a nuisance. That is to be decided by reference to all 
circumstances of the case.” 

 Para 36 ii: “There must be a real interference with the comfort or convenience of living, 
according to the standards of the average man”. 

 Para 36 iii: “The character of the neighbourhood area must be taken into account”.  
 Para 36 iv “The duration of the interference is an element in assessing its actionability, but it 

is not a decisive factor; a temporary interference which is substantial will be an actionable 
nuisance”.  

5.2.3 In the words of Knight Bruce VC in the Walter v Selfe case of 1851 (4 De G&Sm 315, at p 322) “…not 
merely according to elegant or dainty modes and habits of living, but according to the plain and sober 
and simple notions among the English people”. 

5.2.4 A defence is available under S82(9) “ it shall be a defence to prove that the best practicable means 
were used to prevent, or to counteract the effects of, the nuisance” provided the defendant satisfies 
S82(10) condition under S79(1)(g) and the nuisance arises from on industrial, trade or business 
premises.  Angola ‘76 falls within this description as a business, but whether BPM has been achieved 
is a relevant matter for me to express my opinion on. The ISVR works suggests that the extensive 
mitigation works have not been completed, and so BPM could not be claimed.   

6 OPINIONS 
6.1.1 The matters under consideration include the listed points below:  

 Is the impact from noise from music and people using the premises of Angola ’76 attributable to that 
premises ?  

Page 188



 

 
Report of               :     Peter Rogers 
Specialist Field      :     Acoustics 
On behalf of          :     Mrs Cunningham 
Prepared for          :     Trethowans LLP  
Reference               :     EXHIBIT PR/1 

 

PROTECT   ENHANCE   CONNECT    18 Sustainable Acoustics © 2018

  

   

 Is the impact of noise from dispersal of people linked to people leaving Angola ’76 ?  
 Is the impact on the occupant of 5 Mustons Lane sufficient to be causing a nuisance and potentially 

a Statutory Nuisance ?  
 Does the evidence from VA and ISVR support that this matter is likely to recur ?    

 
6.1.2 It is my opinion that the noise I witnessed, which included music and people noise, was without doubt 

associated with the operation of Angola ’76. This included the dispersal of people from the premises, 
which I witnessed and was able to confirm was entirely associated with the premises and not passers-
by from other premises.  

6.1.3 It is my strong opinion that based on the evidence I have collected, and what I witnessed during my 
survey that Angola ’76 is causing a nuisance to Mrs Cunningham of 5 Mustons Lane for the following 
reasons: 
 The level of noise within her bedrooms with windows open or closed as a result of music, and 

people associated with the premises either in the Courtyard or as they are entering or leaving is 
sufficient to be highly likely to cause material interference, including the inability to be able to 
sleep until past 0:45 hours. This is an unreasonable time to expect a person to wait to then be 
able to sleep.  

 The tonal characteristics of the sound generated is heavy in bass and so penetrating and varied 
over time to make it particularly annoying. Also the sound of people in the courtyard is distinct 
and very audible within the bedroom, with periodic shouts and raised voices causing high 
maximums of sound that make it particularly disturbing.  The sound of people in the street 
during dispersal is very disturbing indeed as a result of the level and character and content of 
the language being used as people that have been inside the premises disperse along the street. 
It was particularly noted that compared with noise generated by other people passing, which 
was negligible the premises can be considered to be entirely responsible for the sustained noise 
impact witnessed.  

 The example experienced was with a DJ on a Saturday night that did not appear to be particularly 
busy, but is likely to be typical of what happens on a Saturday night, and therefore every week. 
As the venue operates also with Live music on other days (See Appendix 2) it is clear that this 
level of impact and greater is likely to occur and recur. Monitoring by VA in July 2019 also show 

Page 189



 

 
Report of               :     Peter Rogers 
Specialist Field      :     Acoustics 
On behalf of          :     Mrs Cunningham 
Prepared for          :     Trethowans LLP  
Reference               :     EXHIBIT PR/1 

 

PROTECT   ENHANCE   CONNECT    19 Sustainable Acoustics © 2018

  

   

that the level of impact is likely to be similar to that encountered during the festival, although 
perhaps not as sustained and consistently intrusive as that was over a whole weekend.  

 The motive of those making the noise is simply commercial and although there is a wider social 
benefit to those using the club, this benefit should not out weight the right for Mrs Cunningham 
to be not unreasonably interfered with in her home to the point where sleep is not possible until 
after 0:40 hours.  

 The character of the area, and so the context, is that the town does have other late night 
premises, and if Angola’76 was not operating then the street would be largely quiet, with some 
people passing along it, who might occasionally make some noise. This is entirely a different 
level of impact that is being suffered by Mrs Cunningham. This was illustrated after 0:40 when 
the street was completely deserted and quiet once the premises had vacated. 

 A cumulative impact is created by the blend of music from the venue and people noise from the 
courtyard, which create a level of noise that covers most of the audible spectrum within the 
facing bedrooms of 5 Mustons Lane that is very much higher than the natural ambient noise 
climate would be. The impact is then punctuated by the dispersal noise which caused maximums 
of up to 80dB in the bedroom for a short period of time, which combined to make the impact 
intolerable.       
 

6.1.3 It is my view that the evidence of VA and ISVR supports that the nuisance has and will recur.  
 

6.1.4 It is my opinion as a previously authorised officer under the Act, and with a further 20 years 
experience as an Acoustics expert that the level of impact witnessed was highly significantly adverse 
and as such was sufficient to cause a nuisance to the occupant of 5 Mustons Lane, which is likely to 
recur on a number of times a week. It is my opinion that the evidence proves beyond doubt that a 
nuisance exists, and as such could constitute a Statutory Nuisance.  

 

6.1.5 It is clear from the ISVR evidence that extensive mitigation measures were identified but it would 
appear that they have not been implemented. It is my strong opinion that such works may deal with 
some of the music noise break-out, but not the people noise from the courtyard or from the dispersal 
process, and that a nuisance would continue to exist.  As a result no clear remedy exists, beyond 
requiring the premises to cease operation.  

Page 190



 

 
Report of               :     Peter Rogers 
Specialist Field      :     Acoustics 
On behalf of          :     Mrs Cunningham 
Prepared for          :     Trethowans LLP  
Reference               :     EXHIBIT PR/1 

 

PROTECT   ENHANCE   CONNECT    20 Sustainable Acoustics © 2018

  

   

7 SUMMARY OF CONCLUSIONS 
 

7.1 Peter Rogers, a registered expert witness of Sustainable Acoustics (SA) has investigated the noise 
affecting 5 Mustons Lane, Shrewsbury and in particular within the guest bedroom of the property 
which is next to that of the occupant.    

7.2 Monitoring was conducted over the Saturday evening into Sunday morning on the 19th to 20th 
October 2019 by Mr Rogers, combined with the review of the evidence available.  

 

7.3 Mr Rogers was joined by Mr Pitt-Kerby, of Dorest Council Unitary Authority who witnessed the noise 
impact from music and people between 22:00 and 22:30 hours intermittently.    

 

7.4 It is concluded on the strength of the evidence that noise impact from music with a heavy bass beat, 
and people noise from within the venue and in the external courtyard of that venue and during 
dispersal of people form the venue did result cumulatively in a nuisance, which would have 
prevented the occupant from reasonably attempting to sleep within her bedrooms whether the 
windows were open or closed.  

7.5 The evidence available proves beyond doubt that a nuisance has occurred and is likely to recur at 5 
Mustons Lane as a result of the premises known as Angola ‘76.  

  

Page 191



 

 
Report of               :     Peter Rogers 
Specialist Field      :     Acoustics 
On behalf of          :     Mrs Cunningham 
Prepared for          :     Trethowans LLP  
Reference               :     EXHIBIT PR/1 

 

PROTECT   ENHANCE   CONNECT    21 Sustainable Acoustics © 2018

  

   

8 EXPERT’S DECLARATION  
I Peter James Rogers DECLARE THAT: 

 
8.1.1 I understand that my duty is to help the Court to achieve the overriding objective by giving 

independent assistance by way of objective, unbiased opinion on matters within my expertise, both 
in preparing reports and giving oral evidence. I understand that this duty overrides any obligation to 
the party by whom I am engaged or the person who has paid or is liable to pay me. I confirm that I 
have complied with and will continue to comply with that duty. 

8.1.2 I confirm that I have not entered into any arrangement where the amount or payment of my fees is 
in any way dependent on the outcome of the case. 

8.1.3 I know of no conflict of interest of any kind, other than any which I have disclosed in my report. 
8.1.4 I do not consider that any interest which I have disclosed affects my suitability as an expert witness 

on any issues on which I have given evidence. 
8.1.5 I will advise the party by whom I am instructed if, between the date of my report and the court case, 

there is any change in circumstances which affect my answers to points 8.1.3 and 8.1.4 above. 
8.1.6 I have shown the sources of all information I have used. 
8.1.7 I have exercised reasonable care and skill in order to be accurate and complete in preparing this 

report. 
8.1.8 I have endeavoured to include in my report those matters, of which I have knowledge or of which I 

have been made aware, that might adversely affect the validity of my opinion. I have clearly stated 
any qualifications to my opinion. 

8.1.9 I have not, without forming an independent view, included or excluded anything which has been 
suggested to me by others, including my instructing lawyers. 

8.1.10 I will notify those instructing me immediately and confirm in writing if, for any reason, my existing 
report requires any correction or qualification. 

8.1.11 I understand that; 

i. my report will form the evidence to be given under oath or affirmation; 
ii. the court may at any stage direct a discussion to take place between experts; 
iii. the court may direct that following a discussion between the experts that a statement should 

be prepared showing those issues which are agreed, and those issues which are not agreed, 
together with the reasons; 

Page 192



 

 
Report of               :     Peter Rogers 
Specialist Field      :     Acoustics 
On behalf of          :     Mrs Cunningham 
Prepared for          :     Trethowans LLP  
Reference               :     EXHIBIT PR/1 

 

PROTECT   ENHANCE   CONNECT    22 Sustainable Acoustics © 2018

  

   

iv. I may be required to attend court to be cross-examined on my report by a cross-examiner 
assisted by an expert; 

v. I am likely to be the subject of public adverse criticism by the judge/ magistrates if the Court 
concludes that I have not taken reasonable care in trying to meet the standards set out above. 

8.1.12 I have read Part 19 of the Civil Procedure Rules and the accompanying practice direction and I have 
complied with their requirements. 

8.1.13 I confirm that I have acted in accordance with the Code of Practice for Experts. 
8.1.14 I confirm that I am aware of the continuing nature of my responsibilities of disclosure and I confirm 

that I have complied with my duties to record retain and reveal material in line with my 
responsibilities. 
 
STATEMENT OF TRUTH I confirm that the contents of this report are true to the best of my knowledge 
and belief and that I make this report knowing that, if it is tendered in evidence, I would be liable to 
prosecution if I have wilfully stated anything which I know to be false or that I do not believe to be 
true.   
 

 
 
               22nd October 2019     

Signature………………………………………………………… Date…………………………………………………. 
 

  

Page 193



 

 
Report of               :     Peter Rogers 
Specialist Field      :     Acoustics 
On behalf of          :     Mrs Cunningham 
Prepared for          :     Trethowans LLP  
Reference               :     EXHIBIT PR/1 

 

PROTECT   ENHANCE   CONNECT    23 Sustainable Acoustics © 2018

  

   

 
 

  

GLOSSARY

Acoustic Terminology

Page 194



 

 
Report of               :     Peter Rogers 
Specialist Field      :     Acoustics 
On behalf of          :     Mrs Cunningham 
Prepared for          :     Trethowans LLP  
Reference               :     EXHIBIT PR/1 

 

PROTECT   ENHANCE   CONNECT    24 Sustainable Acoustics © 2018

  

   

 

ACOUSTIC TERMINOLOGY 
 
Ambient noise (sound);  the totality of noise (sound) arising from all of the sources that are normally 
present in an environment such as road traffic and mechanical services.  Noise is generally described 
as the unwanted aspects of sound. 

The decibel (dB): the decibel is a logarithmic unit used to describe the sound pressure level of sound 
(or noise). The usual range is 0 (threshold of hearing) up to 140dB (threshold of pain), with the 
reference used as Po as 2x10-5 Pascals.   

Herts(Hz) : frequency is measured in cycles per second (or hertz). Larger frequencies can be also 
noted as kilo-hertz (kHz), so 1000Hz = 1kHz. The normal range of hearing is 20Hz to 20kHz. The range 
of speech is 500Hz to 8kHz. The area of interest for bass music is the 63Hz to 125Hz region. 

Bass: Low frequency sound typically generated by loudspeakers that create sound in the frequency 
range between 125Hz and 63Hz or below.   

LAeq : the A-weighted sound pressure level relative to a reference of 2x10-5 Pascals that is the 
equivalent continuous level, which is energy average over a period T.   The descriptor is often ‘A-
weighted’ to take account of the typical response of the human ear to different frequencies (denoted 
LAeq).   

LAmax :the maximum A-weighted sound level that was recorded during the measurement time period. 

LA90 : the A-weighted sound pressure level relative to a reference of 2x10-5 Pascals that is exceeded 
for 90% of the time period (T). LA90 is used as a measure of background noise, and is included within 
BS4142: 2014.  

Background : The sound that is present for 90% of the time (LA90,T) when the noise source in question 
is not operating.  

Noise or sound:  acoustic energy in an indoor space or an external environment is perceived as 
sound.  ‘Noise’ is often defined as unwanted sound.  In the absence of a more specific description, 
‘sound’ is therefore implicitly benign or wanted. 

  

Page 195



 

 
Report of               :     Peter Rogers 
Specialist Field      :     Acoustics 
On behalf of          :     Mrs Cunningham 
Prepared for          :     Trethowans LLP  
Reference               :     EXHIBIT PR/1 

 

PROTECT   ENHANCE   CONNECT    25 Sustainable Acoustics © 2018

  

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

APPENDIX 1

RAW NOISE DATA

Page 196



 

 
Re

po
rt 

of 
    

    
    

  : 
    

Pe
ter

 Ro
ge

rs 
Sp

ec
ial

ist
 Fi

eld
    

  : 
    

Ac
ou

sti
cs 

On
 be

ha
lf o

f   
    

   :
    

 M
rs 

Cu
nn

ing
ha

m 
Pre

pa
red

 fo
r   

    
   :

    
 Tr

eth
ow

an
s L

LP
  

Re
fer

en
ce

    
    

    
   :

    
 EX

HIB
IT 

PR
/1

 
  

 


PR

OT
EC

T 
  


EN

HA
NC

E 
  


CO

NN
EC

T
 

  2
6 

Su
st

ain
ab

le
 A

co
us

tic
s ©

 2
01

9


 

 
 

 

Measurement Comments Time Duration LAeq LAFmax LAF,90% Lfeq 31.5 Hz Lfeq 63 Hz Lfeq 125 Hz Lfeq 250 Hz Lfeq 500 Hz Lfeq 1 kHz Lfeq 2 kHz Lfeq 4 kHz Lfeq 8 kHz
1 Music plus some voices (outside) + laughing (courtyard) 20:54 03:01 45.3 63.6 34.2 50.0 52.1 42.5 38.2 42.2 41.7 36.7 30.2 26.4
2 Music with strong bass 21:03 01:11 44.7 55.1 38.3 52.6 57.4 48.9 42.8 44.4 38.6 33.6 27.6 24.4
3 Music only - window open 21:11 00:31 37.4 49.1 32.7 48.1 57.2 45.0 32.3 32.1 30.3 28.0 25.1 24.6
4 Music only - window closed (single pane) 21:12 00:24 31.6 39.3 27.7 41.6 52.6 39.0 24.9 25.7 22.8 19.3 19.5 22.7
5 Heavy bass and people noise from courtyard - no street action 21:21 01:09 44.8 57.7 36.4 50.0 56.8 46.4 38.7 43.7 39.6 35.3 29.5 25.5
6 Music, doorstaff and people in courtyard - window open 21:51 00:38 43.3 59.0 36.6 47.5 56.2 45.9 39.0 41.6 37.1 35.9 29.9 26.3
7 Voices only - break in bass- window open 21:53 00:42 40.6 49.7 34.0 47.5 47.7 44.7 37.9 39.7 35.6 29.7 24.6 24.6
8 Voices and music - window open 21:54 00:11 43.8 50.6 38.0 53.0 58.5 48.3 37.4 41.9 39.4 33.3 28.2 24.9
9 music from the venue and noise of door staff talking 21:56 00:41 42.6 53.1 37.9 57.6 57.7 46.8 36.4 39.8 37.2 35.0 28.9 25.4

10 Bass heavy music - Robin Flack "Blured Lines" 21:59 00:49 45.9 62.3 38.5 53.3 59.7 52.9 39.9 43.3 40.9 36.5 32.6 27.3
11 People and music audible - window open 22:52 01:57 40.5 54.8 31.7 62.9 52.0 43.3 38.5 38.1 35.4 31.7 26.9 25.2
12 People and music audible - window open 22:54 00:29 43.2 53.9 33.9 48.7 49.8 42.4 40.6 42.4 38.8 30.3 23.1 21.4
13 People and music audible - window open 23:00 01:13 40.6 50.5 34.2 50.6 55.2 51.3 38.2 37.7 34.6 30.2 23.0 23.1
14 People noise on street from those leaving - window open 23:03 02:09 47.1 63.4 37.1 51.9 60.1 50.3 40.7 44.9 42.5 38.9 30.8 26.4
15 Bass still dominant with window internal glazing closed 23:06 00:36 33.0 42.2 27.3 53.7 49.5 37.8 26.4 29.4 26.2 24.1 22.7 22.6
16 Music noise dominant - window open 23:15 01:48 40.5 49.0 36.9 48.7 58.2 48.8 38.6 38.1 34.4 29.2 24.8 24.4
17 Break in the bass , people noise from inside- window open 23:20 01:35 42.2 51.5 37.3 48.9 58.4 50.5 41.6 40.0 36.4 30.2 24.8 23.8
19 Bass with window open 23:37 01:28 38.2 48.9 33.1 61.5 55.7 46.8 40.2 33.9 31.1 26.0 20.6 21.8
20 Internal glazing closed - Bass still very noticable 23:39 01:56 32.1 45.4 26.5 49.2 47.7 38.5 27.7 28.6 25.5 22.8 21.4 22.3
21 Music and two women leaving quietly 23:48 00:49 43.4 52.8 36.5 58.8 58.7 52.2 41.8 39.6 38.9 33.8 25.3 21.6
22 Heavy bass track - noticable and intrusive 23:54 01:48 39.2 48.5 34.1 55.3 53.6 47.7 40.7 35.1 33.8 27.1 20.3 21.8
23 Heavy Bass track with door open 00:03 00:51 38.4 50.7 32.1 54.8 55.5 45.5 36.3 34.4 32.0 29.0 26.2 24.9
24 Music only - "You've got the love" 00:09 02:52 38.9 50.5 32.4 54.0 55.5 49.9 38.1 33.9 32.1 28.2 21.6 21.3
25 Group 5 left - window open 00:23 00:59 46.8 65.0 37.0 46.9 53.8 50.3 42.4 46.5 40.1 38.2 32.7 26.5
26 Dispersal :People only - window open 00:35 01:09 57.6 78.5 41.2 40.3 38.5 43.4 48.1 57.6 51.7 47.0 38.0 29.3
27 Dispersal: People only - window open 00:39 00:55 65.6 79.5 52.6 45.7 44.1 46.0 55.4 61.9 61.2 59.9 50.1 36.2
28 Dispersal : People only - window closed 00:40 00:43 38.2 51.3 25.2 42.6 37.5 35.4 32.8 36.1 32.9 30.7 26.0 23.8
29 Ambient - window open 00:43 01:01 28.7 50.2 23.0 32.9 32.4 31.7 22.7 21.4 19.3 21.0 23.2 21.4
30 Ambient - window open 00:45 02:19 22.8 35.4 21.1 32.9 28.7 27.6 18.5 16.1 13.7 14.5 12.9 19.6
31 1st Pane closed - no activity 00:48 01:11 20.7 27.4 20.3 28.1 23.3 19.4 10.3 8.9 8.7 10.2 11.3 20.2
32 Both windows closed - No activity on Street 00:51 02:00 21.6 31.3 20.1 31.1 25.1 21.8 14.3 12.0 11.1 12.4 12.9 19.8

P
age 197



 

 
Report of               :     Peter Rogers 
Specialist Field      :     Acoustics 
On behalf of          :     Mrs Cunningham 
Prepared for          :     Trethowans LLP  
Reference               :     EXHIBIT PR/1 

 

  

PROTECT   ENHANCE   CONNECT    27 Sustainable Acoustics © 2019

  

  

 

APPENDIX 2  

ANGOLA’76 ADVERTISING 

 

 

  

Page 198



 

 
Report of               :     Peter Rogers 
Specialist Field      :     Acoustics 
On behalf of          :     Mrs Cunningham 
Prepared for          :     Trethowans LLP  
Reference               :     EXHIBIT PR/1 

 

  

PROTECT   ENHANCE   CONNECT    28 Sustainable Acoustics © 2019

  

  

From website on the 22/10/19:  

 
Extracted from facebook on the 22/10/19:  

 

Page 199



 

 
Report of               :     Peter Rogers 
Specialist Field      :     Acoustics 
On behalf of          :     Mrs Cunningham 
Prepared for          :     Trethowans LLP  
Reference               :     EXHIBIT PR/1 

 

  

PROTECT   ENHANCE   CONNECT    29 Sustainable Acoustics © 2019

  

  

 

APPENDIX 3  

PHOTOGRAPHS 

  

Page 200



 

 
Report of               :     Peter Rogers 
Specialist Field      :     Acoustics 
On behalf of          :     Mrs Cunningham 
Prepared for          :     Trethowans LLP  
Reference               :     EXHIBIT PR/1 

 

  

PROTECT   ENHANCE   CONNECT    30 Sustainable Acoustics © 2019

  

  

 
Photo 1 : 20:48 – Window open and internal secondary glazing open  

  
Photo 2 – 21:25 people going into the venue    

Page 201



 

 

Report of               :     Peter Rogers 
Specialist Field      :     Acoustics 
On behalf of          :     Mrs Cunningham 
Prepared for          :     Trethowans LLP  
Reference               :     EXHIBIT PR/1 

 

  

PROTECT   ENHANCE   CONNECT    31 Sustainable Acoustics © 2019

  

  

 
Photo 3 – 00:07 People dispersing from the venue 

 
Photo 4 – 00:21 People lingering outside venue  

Page 202



 

 
Report of               :     Peter Rogers 
Specialist Field      :     Acoustics 
On behalf of          :     Mrs Cunningham 
Prepared for          :     Trethowans LLP  
Reference               :     EXHIBIT PR/1 

 

  

PROTECT   ENHANCE   CONNECT    32 Sustainable Acoustics © 2019

  

  

 
Photo 5 – 00:38 People dispersing from the venue noisily  

 
Photo 6 – 00:42 People dispersing with male on shoulders 

Page 203



 

 
Report of               :     Peter Rogers 
Specialist Field      :     Acoustics 
On behalf of          :     Mrs Cunningham 
Prepared for          :     Trethowans LLP  
Reference               :     EXHIBIT PR/1 

 

  

PROTECT   ENHANCE   CONNECT    33 Sustainable Acoustics © 2019

  

  

  
Photo 7 – 00:43 Deserted and quiet street  Photo 8 – 00:43, last dispersing person from venue 
 

 
Photo 9 – 00:58 Staff leaving area by car 

Page 204



Please accept the following as our formal comments on the current license review for 
Angola 76. 
 
As of today senior management have given authority for planning enforcement 
notices to be served on the property. I will be endeavouring to draft notices in the 
coming days/weeks these will have to be checked by legal services prior to service a 
process which can take a few weeks. 
 
Our notices will be two fold and in broad terms be served for the reasons given in the 
last planning refusal :- 

1. Will tackle the unauthorised change of use of the left hand side building(when 
looking from the road) and yard to a bar/night club without planning 
permission. Due to the harm being caused to the amenity of the area. 

2. Will tackle unauthorised building works including the container in the yard 
used as a wc, partition screen wall erected in the yard and the gates clad in 
metal across the front of the yard. Due to unacceptable visual impact on the 
conservation area. 

 
I note in appendix 1 the original license application indicates that patrons will be 
directed to area B the rear yard after 10.00pm. Part of this area has now been built 
on a wooden extension to the back of the building in unauthorised use having been 
constructed there on. 
 

Page 205



This page is intentionally left blank



It seems that the meeting last week was very useful and I thank you all for the efforts 
made. I believe that the obsessive actions and misinformation generated by our 
neighbour will be counterproductive. Nonetheless we at Angola '76 will continue to 
demonstrate our commitment to following central & local government protocols 
concerning the nightime economy in every respect.  
 
There are no other community venues ( grassroots music bars & artistic hubs with 
relevance to under 30s while being cross-generational ) in the area, let alone in 
Shaftesbury. To label Angola '76 as a 'nightclub' is a clever move by those who will 
never be happy whatever business exists on Muston's Lane, a street on which 70% 
of the real estate is commercial.  
 
The reality is that we wouldn't be much of a club when being prohibited from allowing 
entry after 2300 and ceasing serving at 0030!  
 
Over three years the business has bent itself out of shape and risked financial ruin to 
meet the demands of regulations notwithstanding the owners' investments of their 
lifes' savings to create the very model of a 21st century global community hub.  
 
The planning permission issue has been frustrating as we provided a solution to the 
EH issues ( again at great expense ) only for the conservation officer to object by 
using blatantly flawed observations in their process.  
 
We were overtly the town's only highly visible equal opportunities employers from the 
very start, proudly having black & gay staff as brand ambassadors. This certainly did 
not sit well in a staid north Dorset market town and much of the resistance we still 
receive stems from our philosophy of tolerance & equality.  
 
All but one of our local staff walk to work, are paid a good wage and looked after in a 
way national chains would consider a waste of money & resources. The same goes 
for our artistes who are mostly from the area and gig with us on Thursdays and 
Sundays. Our weekend DJ nights enable the loss we make on live performance not 
to be catastrophic. One of our young DJs started with us at 16 and now plays very 
well established venues.  
 
In essence the point of this message is to highlight what we are doing so well and to 
implore those that are in authority to help us do the right thing while not killing a very 
fragile business model. 
 
Towns similar to Shaftesbury throughout the kingdom struggle to keep their young 
from deserting and unless places like Angola '76 exist then these places become 
culturally desolate and sterile wastelands mostly for the retired.  
 
But luckily the attached photograph demonstrates, not all elderly residents in Town 
are unenlightened... 
 
 
As one of our excellent local police officers recently asked " Mr. Morgan why do you 
bother with all the stress, all the hassle; why not just sell up and enjoy your life? " 
 

Page 207



There are two types on this lovely planet, those that understand why we do what we 
do and those that don't. Angola '76 welcomes all but our client base is from the 
former category and those are the ones we serve.  
 
Yours sincerely,  
 
John  
 
JDH Morgan TD 
Owner 
Angola '76 
Jungle//Cafe//Music//Bar  
Shaftesbury SP7 8AD  
  
Dear Jane & Aileen, 
Apologies for the secondary e-mail but over the weekend we have had many 
discussions regarding our premises license review and it has occurred to me that not 
once has anyone from EHO or licensing visited Andy or I whilst we have been open 
and operating since the 7th February 2019 and seen for themselves what 
procedures we have in place and how we deal with issues. This in itself seems very 
one sided if you are only looking at the recordings reported from one persons point 
of view and no one has ever witnessed or seen for themselves what really happens 
on a Friday or Saturday night. I am requesting that someone from either EHO or 
licensing come along in actual person over the weekend  to gain a more candid view 
of the situation. Please can you let me know if this is possible before the date of the 
review as I feel we should be given the chance to represent ourselves in a more 
realistic and truthful light. I have also attached the latest letter that Mrs Cunningham 
has put through everyone's letter box claiming that we are a nightclub, operating until 
2am, and requesting that everyone oppose us. I know you have said that she does 
this out of desperation but I am becoming increasingly worried it is more than that, 
her behaviour over the weekend has been more than obsessive and I have had to 
put out many fires with customers and staff being upset being constantly filmed. 
I look forward to hearing back from you 
Many thanks and Best wishes 
Sally 
Operations Manager 
The Team @ Angola 76 
Mustons Lane 
Shaftesbury 
SP7 8AD 
01747 228080 
www.angola76.co.uk 
 
Points that Angola 76 would like to raise and propose at the premises license review 
on the 19th December  
 

 Personal and previous experience as operators in the area with flawless track 
record and no incidences 

 Introduction of professional SIA security – all events logged and dated with 
evidence available 

Page 208



 Sound levels constantly monitored and evidence presented 
 Support from licensing and EHO in physically attending the venue during 

operating hours 
 Sound technicians and recent training given 
 Planning application for sound proofing amended and resubmitted 
 Opening hours and current restrictions discussed with financial records during 

these timings presented  
 Location of premises and feedback from neighbours, visitors and community 

petition 
 Arts venue and opportunities for local performers, revenue brought into the 

town from yearly Fringe 
 New dispersal policy presented and discussed  

 
 

Page 209



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 Election of Chairman and Statement for the Procedure of the Meeting
	4 Application for the review of a premises licence - Angola '76, Mustons Lane, Shaftesbury, Dorset
	Appendix1
	Review Application Form
	Schedule of Appendices
	Appendix 1 Premises Licence
	Appendix 2 North Dorset District Council Licensing Sub Committee on Thursday, 18th August, 2016l
	Appendix 3 Licensing Act 2003 - Reviews
	Appendix 4 Chapter From Guidance - Reviews
	Appendix 5 Chapter From Guidance - Licensing Objectives
	Appendix 6.1 Email from Complainant 1 - 3 June 2017
	Appendix 6.2 Email from Complainant 1 - 9 June 2017
	Appendix 6.3 Email from Complainant 1 -12 June 2017
	Appendix 6.4 Email from Complainant 2 - 17 June 2017
	Appendix 6.5 Email from Complainant 2 - 18 June 2017
	Appendix 6.6 Email From Complainant 1 - 21 June 2017
	Appendix 6.7 Email from Complainant 1 - 1 July 2017
	Appendix 6.8 Email to Complainant 1 - 13 July 2017
	Appendix 6.9 Email from Complainant 1 - 23 July 2017
	Appendix 6.10 Email from Complainant 1 - 26 July 2017
	Appendix 6.11 Email from Complainant 1 - 21 August 2017
	Appendix 6.12 Email from Complainant 1 - 29 August 2017
	Appendix 6.13 Email from Complainant 1 - 4 September 2017
	Appendix 6.14 Email from Complainant 1 - 30 August 2019
	Appendix 6.15 Email from Complainant 1 -  4 September 2019
	Appendix 6.16 Email from Complainant 1 - 18 September 2019
	Appendix 7.1 Letter LO to PLH 8 June 2017
	Appendix 7.2 Email from PLH 24 July 2017
	Appendix 7.3 Email to PLH 25 July 2017
	Appendix 7.4 Email from PLH 5 August 2017
	Appendix 7.5 Email from LO 5 September 2017
	Appendix 7.6 Email from PLH
	Appendix 7.7 Email to PLH 18 September 2017
	Appendix 7.8 Letter LO to PLH 20 Sep 17
	Appendix 7.9  visit notes 2019 by KM
	Appendix 8.1 CPN Warning EH
	Appendix 8.2  CPN Warning 2 EH
	Appendix 8.3 Statement to KPK from MH
	Appendix 9.1  Planning Refusal Notice
	Appendix 9.2 Planning Officer Report
	Appendix 10 Schedule of Videos 19 April - 18 July 2019

	Appendix 2
	A Cunningham 01
	Appendix 2
	A Cunningham
	A Cunningham_Acoustic Report
	A Hollingshead
	A Monaghan
	C & C Walsh
	E Kirk
	J Cunningham
	R & J Johnson
	Casey
	Dooley
	Petition
	Royle


	Appendix 3
	RA_Env_Hlth
	RA_Env_Hlth_Acoustic Report
	RA_Planning

	Appendix 4




